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MCGUIREWOODS LLP 
Michael D. Mandel, Esq. (SBN 216934) 
 Email: mmandel@mcguirewoods.com 
Amy E. Beverlin, Esq. (SBN 284745) 
 Email: abeverlin@mcguirewoods.com 
1800 Century Park East, 8th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90067 
Tel: (310) 315-8200 
Fax: (310) 315-8210 

Attorneys for Defendant 
MILLERCOORS LLC 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

HENRY CARDIEL, an individual, on 
behalf of himself and all others similarly 
situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

MILLERCOORS LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; and DOES 1 
through 50, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

CASE NO. 2:19-cv-01727

[Los Angeles County Superior Court 
Case No. 19STCV02979] 

DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF 
REMOVAL OF CIVIL ACTION 
FROM STATE COURT 

Filed Under Separate Cover: 

DECLARATION OF JAMES 
GRAHAM 

Complaint Filed:        January 29, 2019 
Complaint Served:     February 7, 2019 
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TO THE CLERK OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA: 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant MILLERCOORS LLC 

(“Defendant”), by and through its counsel of record, hereby removes the above-

entitled action from the Superior Court of the State of California in and for the 

County of Los Angeles (the “State Court”), in which the action is currently pending, 

to the United States District Court for the Central District of California, on the 

grounds that this Court has original jurisdiction over this civil action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 and § 1446 and all other applicable bases for removal.  In support of 

this Notice of Removal, Defendant avers as follows: 

PLEADING AND PROCEDURES 

1. On January 29, 2019, Plaintiff HENRY CARDIEL (“Plaintiff”) filed a 

Complaint for Representative Action Penalties Under Private Attorneys General Act, 

Labor Code § 2698 et seq. (the “Complaint”), against Defendant in the State Court, 

styled as Henry Cardiel, an individual, on behalf of himself and others similarly 

situated v. MillerCoors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and DOES 1 

through 50, inclusive, Case No. 19STCV02979 (the “State Court Action”).  A true 

and correct copy of the Complaint is attached hereto as Exhibit A.   

2. On February 7, 2019, Defendant’s registered agent for service of process 

was personally served with a copy of the Summons and Complaint.  True and correct 

copies of the Summons, Complaint, and every other process, pleading, and order 

served on Defendant in this action to date are attached hereto as the Exhibits 

identified below: 

Exhibit Document 

A Complaint 

B Summons on Complaint 

C Civil Case Cover Sheet  
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D Civil Cover Sheet Addendum and Statement of Location 

E Notice of Case Assignment   

3. Defendant is informed and believes that the following additional 

documents are also on file in the State Court Action, true and correct copies of which 

are attached hereto as the Exhibits identified below: 

Exhibit Document 

F Notice of Case Management Conference 

G Order to Show Cause Re: Failure to File Proof of Service 

H Proof of Service of Summons 

I Plaintiff’s Notice of Case Management Conference  

4. Defendant is informed and believes that the aforementioned documents 

and exhibits constitute all of the process, pleadings, and orders on file in the State 

Court Action. 

5. Defendant is informed and believes that it is the only defendant which 

has been properly served with process in the State Court Action.  Defendants Does 1 

through 50 have yet to be identified and are therefore disregarded for the purposes of 

this removal.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1441(b)(1).  As such, Defendant is the only defendant 

needed to consent to this removal.  

REMOVAL JURISDICTION – FEDERAL QUESTION 

6. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 and § 1446, and all other applicable bases for removal, and it is one 

that may be removed to this Court because it involves claims and/or issues arising in 

whole or in part under the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States. 

Federal Question Jurisdiction 

7. A cause of action under federal law exists for purposes of original 

jurisdiction and removal if the plaintiff’s “well-pleaded complaint” presents a federal 

issue.  See, e.g., Franchise Tax Bd. v. Constr. Laborers Vacation Trust, 463 U.S. 1, 

9-10 (1983).  Although the “well-pleaded complaint rule” generally allows a plaintiff 

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1   Filed 03/08/19   Page 3 of 13   Page ID #:3



 

 3 
DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF REMOVAL OF CIVIL ACTION FROM STATE COURT 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

to avoid federal jurisdiction by relying exclusively on state law, there is a well-

recognized corollary to that rule: the complete preemption doctrine.  See Caterpillar, 

Inc. v. Williams, 482 U.S. 386, 386-87 (1987).  “Under the complete preemption 

doctrine, the preemptive force of a federal statute converts an ordinary state common-

law complaint into one stating a federal claim for purposes of the well-pleaded 

complaint.”  Ayala v. Destination Shuttle Servs. LLC, 2013 WL 12092284, at *2 

(C.D. Cal., Nov. 1, 2013) (Feess, J.).   

8. Section 301 of the Labor Management Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. § 185 

(the “LMRA”), is a federal statute that can have complete preemptive force.  See 

Avco v. Aero Lodge No. 735, 390 U.S. 557, 558-62 (1968).  It provides that “[s]uits 

for violation of contracts between an employer and a labor organization representing 

employees … may be brought in any district court of the United States having 

jurisdiction of the parties, without respect to the amount in controversy or without 

regard to the citizenship of the parties.”  29 U.S.C. § 185(a); see, e.g., Newberry v. 

Pacific Racing Ass’n, 854 F.2d 1142, 1149-50 (9th Cir. 1988); Scott v. Machinists 

Automotive Trades Dist., 827 F.2d 589, 594 (9th Cir. 1987).   

9. Accordingly, even where, as here, a plaintiff alleges only state law 

claims, a federal question exists—and removal is proper—where the defendant raises 

a preemption defense based on a federal statute that is so “complete” as to provide 

the only available remedy.  In such cases, “complete preemption” overrides the 

“well-pleaded complaint rule” and the state law claims are treated as claims “arising 

under” federal law for jurisdictional purposes.  See Holman v. Laulo–Rowe Agency, 

994 F. 2d 666, 668 (9th Cir. 1993); see also Valles v. Ivy Hill Corp., 410 F.3d 1071, 

1075 (“In such circumstances, federal law displaces a plaintiff’s state-law claim, no 

matter how carefully pleaded.”); Burnside v. Kiewit Pac. Corp., 491 F.3d 1053, 1059 

(9th Cir. 2007) (“As a result of this broad federal mandate, the Supreme Court has 

explained, the ‘preemptive force of section 301 is so powerful as to displace entirely 
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any state cause of action for violation of contracts between an employer and a labor 

organization.’”). 

10.   Here, Plaintiff’s Complaint involves a federal question because it 

involves claims and/or issues that arise under, are intertwined with, derive in whole 

or in part from, and/or require application and/or interpretation of the LMRA.  To 

that end, resolution of Plaintiff’s wage and hour claims will require the court to 

construe several provisions of the collective-bargaining agreement (the “CBA”) that 

governed Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant—not to mention the four distinct 

collective-bargaining agreements that governed the employment of other purportedly 

“aggrieved employees” who held positions with Defendant different from that held 

by Plaintiff during his employment.  See Declaration of James Graham (“Graham 

Decl.”), ¶¶ 9-12, Exh. 1, 3, 5 & 7.  Accordingly, Section 301 of the LMRA preempts 

Plaintiff’s claims here.  See, e.g., Lingle v. Norg Div. of Magic Chef, Inc., 486 U.S. 

399, 413 (1988) (application of state law is preempted by Section 301 where such 

application requires the interpretation of a collective bargaining agreement).   

11. For purposes of complete preemption, and thus federal question 

jurisdiction, it does not matter that Plaintiff’s claims purportedly arise out of state 

law.  Even if a right exists independently of a CBA, when resolution of a state law 

claim is “substantially dependent on analysis of a collective-bargaining agreement,” 

the claim is preempted by Section 301 of the LMRA.  See Paige v. Henry J. Kaiser, 

Co., 826 F.2d 857, 861 (9th Cir. 2001) (“Section 301 preempts claims founded 

directly on rights created by collective bargaining agreements, and also claims which 

are substantially dependent on analysis of a collective bargaining agreement.”); see 

also Hyles v. Mensing, 849 F.2d 1213, 1215-16 (9th Cir. 1988) (same).  Nor is it 

relevant that Plaintiff has pled his claims to omit any reference to federal law and/or 

the CBA applicable to his employment because “[m]ere omission of reference to 

Section 301 in the complaint does not preclude federal subject matter 

jurisdiction.”  Fristoe v. Reynolds Afetals, Co., 615 F.2d 1209, 1212 (9th Cir. 1990) 
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(emph. added).  

12. At all times relevant herein, Defendant has been and is now a Delaware 

limited liability company, with its headquarters and principal place of business in 

Chicago, Illinois, operating in commerce and in an industry affecting commerce 

within the meaning of Sections 2(2), (6), (7) and 301(a) of the LMRA.  See 29 U.S.C. 

§ 152(2), (6), (7) & § 185(a); Graham Decl., ¶ 5.  Plaintiff, on the other hand, is a 

former employee of Defendant who, at all times relevant, has resided in and 

continues to reside in California.  See Graham Decl., ¶ 8; Exh. A (Complaint), ¶ 2.  

Throughout his employment with Defendant, Plaintiff was represented by a labor 

organization known as the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace 

Workers, District 947, Local 311 (the “IAM”).  Graham Decl., ¶¶ 8-9.   

13. From at least September 28, 2015 through September 30, 2018, the IAM 

and Defendant were parties to a CBA that sets forth the collectively-bargained terms 

and conditions governing the employment of certain fulltime and regular part-time 

employees employed by Defendant at its Irwindale, California facility.  See Graham 

Decl., ¶ 9, Exh. 1 (hereinafter, the “IAM CBA”).  The IAM CBA covers all 

machinists, helpers, and apprentices employed by Defendant in its Irwindale, 

California facility for purposes of collective bargaining with respect to wages, rates 

of pay, hours of employment, or other conditions of employment for employees in 

the Union.  See IAM CBA, Article 1, subsection (a).   

14. During his employment with Defendant, Plaintiff worked as a machinist 

at Defendant’s Irwindale, California facility, and he was at all times relevant a 

covered employee under the terms of the IAM CBA.  See Graham Decl., ¶ 9; see also 

id., ¶ 9, Exh. 2 (Side Letter 10, Page 2).  The IAM CBA contains provisions 

regarding, inter alia, dispute resolution for employee grievances regarding terms and 

conditions of employment set forth in the IAM CBA, which include terms related to, 

among other things, workweeks, workdays, daily work schedules, special shifts, days 

off, meal and rest periods, wages, overtime wages and scheduling, holidays, and 
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binding grievance procedures, including arbitration.  See IAM CBA, Articles II, III, 

VI, XXII, XXIII; see also Graham Decl., ¶ 8, Exh. 2 (IAM CBA Side Letters).   

15. Plaintiff’s First through Seventh Causes of Action “for penalties” under 

California’s Private Attorneys General Act, Cal. Lab. Code § 2698, et seq. 

(“PAGA”), alleges that Defendant violated numerous provisions of the California 

Labor Code as to him and the allegedly aggrieved employees he seeks to represent by 

failing to pay overtime wages and minimum wages, to provide meal and rest periods 

or to pay premium pay when no meal and rest periods were provided, pay minimum 

wages, to timely pay all wages due at termination, to provide compliant wage 

statements, and to provide reimbursement for business-related travel expenses.  See 

Exh. A (Complaint), ¶¶ 36-176.   

16. While Plaintiff purports to assert these claims under California law 

without reference to the IAM (or any) CBA, his overtime, rest and meal period, 

minimum wage, and reimbursement claims alleged in the Complaint cannot be 

adjudicated without interpreting and/or applying the terms of the IAM CBA 

applicable to his employment with Defendant, the CBAs applicable to other 

employees’ employment with Defendant, and related CBA side letters—and, 

therefore, his claims are completely preempted by the LMRA.  For example, with 

respect to the IAM CBA applicable to Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant, 

overtime compensation is specifically addressed in Article II, subsection (k) and (r)—

not by Cal. Lab. Code § 510—and wages are specifically addressed in Article XV—

not by Cal. Lab. Code § 558.  See Graham Decl., ¶ 9, Exh. 1.1  Separate Side Letters 

provided additional requirements with respect to overtime scheduling and pay and 

                                           
1 Indeed, Plaintiff’s Complaint alleges that he and allegedly aggrieved 

employees in California were “denied … full, duty-free ten-minute rest periods.” See 
Exh. A (Complaint), ¶ 15, at 7:19-21.  However, pursuant to the Teamsters CBA, 
bottlers were entitled to “two twenty (20) minute breaks on Company time.”  Graham 
Decl., ¶ 11, Exh. 5, Section 33(a).  In other words, with respect to bottlers, rest 
periods are specifically addressed in the Teamsters CBA—and not by Cal. Lab. Code 
§ 226.7 or the applicable Wage Order.  Cf. Exh. A (Complaint), ¶ 15. 
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business expense reimbursement that applied to Plaintiff and other IAM-represented 

employees working at Defendant’s Irwindale, California facility.  See id., ¶ 9, Exh. 2 

(e.g., Side Letters 1, 2, 7, and 14). 

17. Plaintiff’s allegations regarding Defendant’s failure to pay overtime, 

provide rest and meal periods, pay minimum wages, and provide business expense 

reimbursement directly implicate the above-referenced sections of the IAM CBA 

and/or related Side Letters.  Consequently, interpretation of the IAM CBA and its 

related Side Letters is essential to the resolution of Plaintiff’s claims—not to mention 

the CBAs applicable to other union-represented employees working at Defendant’s 

Irwindale, California facility and the numerous Side Letters related to those CBAs.  

See Graham Decl., ¶¶ 10-11, Exhs. 3-6.  That is, the Court will necessarily be 

required to interpret and apply the above-referenced sections of the IAM CBA and 

related Side Letters and determine whether any party violated the IAM CBA and/or 

acted in accordance with the IAM CBA in order to adjudicate Plaintiff’s claims.   

18. Furthermore, the resolution procedure for addressing any grievance 

raised by Plaintiff during his employment was at all times set forth in and governed 

by the IAM CBA’s Article VI (Grievance Procedure), which Plaintiff failed to utilize 

at any point prior to bringing the State Court Action.  Article VI requires union 

members like Plaintiff to proceed through a four-step grievance process – with “each 

negotiation … being a necessary procedure prior to the negotiation next set forth” – 

and if that process fails to address the grievance, Article VI requires that any 

grievances not resolved through the procedures set forth in that Article “shall be 

submitted to final and binding arbitration.”  See Graham Decl., ¶ 9, Exh. 1 (IAM 

CBA), Article VI, at p. 17; see also, e.g., id., ¶ 10, Exh. 3 (IBEW CBA), Section 4, at 

pp. 7-10.  

19. Importantly, Plaintiff seeks to represent all “aggrieved non-exempt 

employees … who current work or formerly worked for” Defendant in California 

(and not just at the Irwindale, California facility at which Plaintiff was employed).  
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See Exh. A (Complaint), ¶¶ 1, 9.  In doing so, Plaintiff is necessarily asking the Court 

to interpret the applicable provisions of the CBA applicable to each allegedly 

aggrieved employee’s employment to determine whether each employee suffered a 

Labor Code violation as alleged in his Complaint.  For example, this would 

necessitate interpretation of the Teamsters CBA’s meal and rest period provision 

applicable to bottlers to determine whether each allegedly aggrieved bottler was not 

paid a meal period premium for allegedly missed meal periods in light of the 

Teamster CBA’s provision that “[b]ottlers may be scheduled to work an eight (8) 

hour shift, of which one-half hour will [automatically] be paid at a rate of time-and-

one-half.”  Graham Decl., ¶ 11, Exh. 5, Section 33(a).  Similar interpretation would 

be required to determine whether allegedly aggrieved employees covered by the IAM 

CBA worked overtime as that term is defined in Article II(k).  See id., ¶ 10, Exh. 1 

(“Time and one half for the first three (3) hours worked over seven and one half (7 ½) 

straight hours in one (1) day, and double time thereafter until quitting time.”); see 

also id., ¶ 10, Exh. 2 (Side Letter 1).   

20. Therefore, because the determination of Defendant’s alleged liability in 

this action will require an interpretation and/or application of the terms and 

provisions of the CBAs that governed Plaintiff’s and other allegedly aggrieved 

employees’ employment with Defendant, Plaintiff’s Complaint falls within the 

preemptive scope of Section 301 of the LMRA.  See 29 U.S.C. § 185; see also Allis-

Chalmers Corp. v. Lueck, 471 U.S. 202, 220-21 (1985) (holding complaint “should 

have been dismissed for failure to make use of the grievance procedure established in 

the collective-bargaining agreement … or dismissed as preempted by § 301”); 

Cramer v. Consolidated Freightways, Inc., 255 F.3d 683, 691 (9th Cir. 2001) (a suit 

that involves an employer’s alleged failure to comport with its contractually 

established duties pursuant to a CBA is preempted). 

21. Accordingly, because the LMRA completely preempts Plaintiff’s state 

law claims based on alleged violations of the California Labor Code, removal is 
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proper on the basis of federal question jurisdiction.  See 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1441.   

Supplemental Jurisdiction 

22. To the extent that there are remaining claims for relief that do not arise 

under Section 301 or that Section 301 does not completely preempt, these claims are 

within the supplemental jurisdiction of the Court under 29 U.S.C. § 1367(a) in that 

they are “derived from a common nucleus of operative fact and of the nature which 

“a plaintiff would ordinarily be expected to try them in one judicial proceeding.”  

Kuba v. 1-Aagric. Ass’n, 387 F.3d 850, 955 (9th Cir. 2004).   

23. Plaintiff’s Sixth and Seventh Causes of Action are derivative claims for 

PAGA penalties premised upon Defendant’s alleged provision of inaccurate wage 

statements and Plaintiff’s claim for waiting time penalties—which are derived from 

Plaintiff’s underlying claims for violations of the Labor Code.   See Exh. A 

(Complaint), ¶¶ 139-176.  For this reason, and to the extent these purported claims 

involve associated and related state law causes of action, this Court has supplemental 

jurisdiction over the claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).  Thus, this action is 

removable in its entirety.  

VENUE 

24. Defendant is informed and believes that the events allegedly giving rise 

to this action occurred within this judicial district.  Venue lies in this Court because 

Plaintiff’s action was filed in the Superior Court of Los Angeles County, California 

and is pending in this district and division.  Accordingly, Defendant is entitled to 

remove this action to the United States District Court for the Central District of 

California.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a).   

TIMELINESS OF REMOVAL 

25. This Notice of Removal is timely pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b) as 

Defendant has filed this Notice of Removal within thirty days of the date Defendant 

was served with Plaintiff’s Complaint, which is the first date upon which any 

defendant in this action was served with any pleading, amended or otherwise, first 
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giving it knowledge that the action was indeed removable.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b).  

This action has not previously been removed to federal court. 

NOTICE TO PLAINTIFF AND STATE COURT 

26. Contemporaneously with the filing of this Notice of Removal in this 

Court, written notice of such filing will be served on Plaintiff’s counsel of record as 

reflected in the attached Certificate of Service.  In addition, a copy of this Notice of 

Removal will be filed with the Clerk of the Superior Court of the State of California 

in and for the County of Los Angeles. 

27. WHEREFORE, Defendant respectfully requests that the above-

captioned action now pending in the State Court be removed to this United States 

District Court.   

 
 
DATED: March 8, 2019 

 
MCGUIREWOODS LLP 

 By:    /s/Michael D. Mandel 
 Michael D. Mandel, Esq. 

Amy E. Beverlin, Esq. 
 
Attorneys for Defendant 
MILLERCOORS LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

I am employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California.  I am over 
the age of eighteen years and not a party to the within action; my business address is 
1800 Century Park East, 8th Floor, Los Angeles, CA 90067. 

On March 8, 2019, I served the following document described as 
DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF REMOVAL OF CIVIL ACTION FROM STATE 
COURT on the interested parties in this action by placing true copies thereof 
enclosed in sealed envelopes addressed as follows: 

SEE ATTACHED SERVICE LIST 

 BY MAIL:  I am “readily familiar” with the firm’s practice of collection and
processing correspondence for mailing with the United States Postal Service.
Under that practice, it would be deposited with the United States Postal Service
that same day in the ordinary course of business.  Such envelope(s) were
placed for collection and mailing with postage thereon fully prepaid at Los
Angeles, CA, on that same day following ordinary business practices.  (C.C.P.
§ 1013 (a) and 1013a(3))

 BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY:  I deposited such document(s) in a box or 
other facility regularly maintained by the overnight service carrier, or delivered 
such document(s) to a courier or driver authorized by the overnight service 
carrier to receive documents, in an envelope or package designated by the 
overnight service carrier with delivery fees paid or provided for, addressed to 
the person(s) served hereunder.  (C.C.P. § 1013(d)(e)) 

 BY PERSONAL SERVICE:  I caused such envelope(s) to be delivered the 
addressee(s).  (C.C.P. § 1011) 

I declare that I am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this Court 
at whose direction the service was made. 

Executed on March 8, 2019, at Los Angeles, CA. 

_____________________________________ 
Vaneta D. Birtha 
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SERVICE LIST 

DAVID YEREMIAN & ASSOCIATES, 
INC.  
David Yeremian, Esq. 
Alvin B. Lindsay, Esq. 
535 N. Brand Blvd., Suite 705  
Glendale, California 91203  

Email: david@yeremianlaw.com 
alvin@yeremianlaw.com 

Telephone:  (818) 230-8380  
Facsimile:   (818) 230-0308 

Attorneys for Plaintiff HENRY 
CARDIEL on behalf of himself 
and other similarly aggrieved 
employees 

LAW OFFICES OF SAHAG 
   MAJARIAN II  
Sahag Majarian, II, Esq. 
18250 Ventura Blvd.   
Tarzana, CA 91356  

Email: sahagii@aol.com 
Telephone:   (818) 609-0807 
Facsimile:    (818) 609-0892 

Attorneys for Plaintiff HENRY 
CARDIEL on behalf of himself 
and other similarly aggrieved 
employees 
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Attorneys for Plaintiff HENRY CARDIEL, 
on behalf of himself and other similarly aggrieved employees 
 
 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
 

HENRY CARDIEL, an individual, on behalf 
of himself and others similarly situated, 
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
 vs. 
 
MILLERCOORS LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company; and DOES 1 through 50, 
inclusive, 
 
   Defendants. 

 

Case No.:  
 
Assigned for All Purposes To:  
Hon. 
Dept.:   
 
COMPLAINT FOR REPRESENTATIVE 
ACTION FOR PENALTIES UNDER 
PRIVATE ATTORNEYS GENERAL ACT, 
LABOR CODE § 2698 et seq. FOR: 

1. Failure to Pay Minimum Wages; 
2. Failure to Pay Wages and Overtime Under 

Labor Code § 510; 
3. Meal Period Liability Under Labor Code § 

226.7; 
4. Rest-Break Liability Under Labor Code 

§ 226.7; 
5. Failure to Reimburse Necessary Business 

Expenditures Under Labor Code § 2802 
6. Violation of Labor Code §§ 226(a), 1174; 

and 
7.   Violation of Labor Code §§ 203, 204 
 
 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL  
 

Electronically FILED by Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles on 01/29/2019 10:53 AM Sherri R. Carter, Executive Officer/Clerk of Court, by R. Perez,Deputy ClerkAssigned for all purposes to: Stanley Mosk Courthouse, Judicial Officer: Elizabeth Feffer
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Plaintiff HENRY CARDIEL (hereinafter “Plaintiff”) on behalf of himself and all other 

similarly Aggrieved Employees complains of Defendants, and each of them, as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a Representative Action, pursuant to the Private Attorneys General Act of 

2004 (“PAGA”), Labor Code § 2698 et seq., on behalf of Plaintiff and similarly situated aggrieved 

non-exempt employees (“Aggrieved Employees” or “Employees”) who currently work or 

formerly worked for Defendants MILLERCOORS LLC and DOES 1 through 50 (all defendants 

being collectively referred to herein as “Defendants”) during the liability period. From at least one 

(1) year prior to the filing of this action and at least one (1) year prior to the date Plaintiff began 

the process of exhausting the administrative requirements pursuant to Labor Code § 2698 et seq. 

on November 20, 2018, and continuing to the present (the “liability period”), Defendants have 

had a consistent policy of failing to pay all wages due to its California Employees during the 

course of employment and timely upon separation from employment, failing to provide 

Employees with meal and rest periods, failing to reimburse necessary business expenses, and 

failing to issue accurately itemized wage statements to its California employees. Plaintiff alleges 

that Defendants, and each of them, violated various provisions of the California Labor Code and 

relevant orders of the Industrial Welfare Commission, and seeks redress for these violations.  

2. Plaintiff is a resident of California and Los Angeles County, and during the time 

period relevant to this Complaint, was employed by Defendants as a non-exempt hourly employee 

at Defendants’ brewing facility in Irwindale, California and within the County of Los Angeles.  

3. Plaintiff and the other similarly situated brewery Employees of Defendants 

consistently worked at Defendants’ behest without being paid all wages due. More specifically, 

Defendants employed Plaintiff and the other similarly situated brewery Employees to perform 

assigned job duties utilizing company established processes, policies, and procedures. Upon 

information and belief, Plaintiff was employed by Defendants and (1) shared similar job duties 

and responsibilities; (2) was subjected to the same policies and practices; and (3) endured similar 

violations at the hands of Defendants as the other Aggrieved Employees who served in similar and 

related positions. 
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4. Defendants required Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees to work off the clock 

and failed to record accurate time worked by these Employees, including by rounding hours 

worked to the nearest quarter-hour or half-hour to their detriment, failed to pay them at the 

appropriate rates for all hours worked, and provided Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees with 

inaccurate wage statements that prevented them from learning of these unlawful pay practices. 

Defendants also failed to provide Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees with lawful meal and rest 

periods, as Employees were not provided with the opportunity to take full uninterrupted and duty-

free rest periods and meal breaks as required by the Labor Code.   

5. Defendant MILLERCOORS LLC is a Delaware limited liability company and lists 

its Principal Offices with the California Secretary of State in Chicago, Illinois, and its mailing 

address in Denver, Colorado. It lists its type of business as “Manufacturing of malt beverage 

products.” Upon information and belief, Defendants employ Plaintiff and the Aggrieved 

Employees at the Irwindale brewing facility and at any other similar breweries in California. 

Defendant MILLERCOORS LLC was listed as the employer on wage statements Defendants 

issued to Plaintiff, along with the payroll company “Ceridian,” and MILLERCOORS LLC is listed 

as having an address in Chicago, Illinois.     

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this Action pursuant to California Code of Civil 

Procedure § 410.10 and California Business & Professions Code § 17203. This Action is brought 

as a PAGA representative action on behalf of similarly situated Aggrieved Employees of 

Defendants pursuant to California Labor Code § 2698 et seq. Venue as to Defendants is also 

proper in this judicial district pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure § 395 et seq. Upon 

information and belief, the obligations and liabilities giving rise to this lawsuit occurred in the 

County of Los Angeles and Defendant MILLERCOORS LLC maintains and operates facilities in 

Irwindale, California, thus employing Plaintiff and other Aggrieved Employees in Los Angeles 

County and in California.  

7. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate, or 

whatever else, of the Defendants sued herein as Does 1 through 50, inclusive, are currently 

unknown to Plaintiff, who therefore sues these Defendants by such fictitious names under Code of 
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Civil Procedure § 474. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendants 

designated herein as Does 1 through 50, inclusive, and each of them, are legally responsible in 

some manner for the unlawful acts referred to herein. Plaintiff will seek leave of court to amend 

this Complaint to reflect the true names and capacities of the Defendants designated herein as 

Does 1 through 50 when their identities become known. 

8. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that each Defendant acted in 

all respects pertinent to this action as the agent of the other Defendants, that Defendants carried 

out a joint scheme, business plan, or policy in all respects pertinent hereto, and that the acts of 

each Defendant are legally attributable to the other Defendants. Furthermore, Defendants acted in 

all respects as the employers or joint employers of Employees. Defendants, and each of them, 

exercised control over the wages, hours or working conditions of Employees, or suffered or 

permitted Employees to work, or engaged, thereby creating a common law employment 

relationship, with Employees. Therefore, Defendants, and each of them, employed or jointly 

employed the Employee Aggrieved Employees. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

9. The Aggrieved Employees, including Plaintiff, are non-exempt employees 

pursuant to the applicable Wage Order of the IWC. Defendants hire Employees who work in non-

exempt positions at the direction of Defendants in the State of California. Plaintiff and the 

Aggrieved Employees were either not paid by Defendants for all hours worked or were not paid 

at the appropriate minimum, regular and overtime rates. Plaintiff also contends that Defendants 

failed to pay Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees all wages due and owing, including by 

unlawful rounding to their detriment, failed to pay wages at their required rates of pay, made 

unlawful deductions from their pay, failed to provide meal and rest breaks, and failed to furnish 

accurate wage statements, all in violation of various provisions of the California Labor Code and 

applicable Wage Orders. 

10. During the course of Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees’ employment with 

Defendants, they were not paid all wages they were owed, including for all work performed 

(resulting in “off the clock” work) and for all overtime hours worked, and were forced to work 

Exhibit A

Exhibit A

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-1   Filed 03/08/19   Page 4 of 65   Page ID #:17



 

 - 5 -  
REPRESENTATIVE ACTION COMPLAINT UNDER THE PAGA  

 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

off-the-clock in part due to difficult to attain production requirements and demands Defendants’ 

managers placed upon them. Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees generally worked at least 

five days per work week and often more, with shifts generally ranging from eight and one-half 

hours to twelve hours for full time employees. Plaintiff’s assigned brewery in Irwindale operated 

through multiple shifts, and Plaintiff was often assigned to work the second or third shifts, for 

which he and other similarly situated Employees received a shift differential in addition to their 

regular hourly rate. Upon information and belief, Defendants also automatically deducted thirty-

minute meal periods from Plaintiff and the similarly situated Aggrieved Employees despite the 

fact meal periods provided were shortened or were otherwise interrupted or provided untimely 

after five hours of shift work. Defendants also failed to maintain records of meal period times, as 

Aggrieved Employees were required to swipe their badges to input shift start and end times but 

were not required to do the same for meal periods.  

11. Defendants’ timekeeping policies and practices, which upon information and 

belief applied to all brewery facility employees uniformly, did not record actual time punches in 

and out for work shifts and meal periods, or if they did, these entries were rounded down to the 

Employees’ detriment. If Plaintiff and the other Aggrieved Employees inputted their actual and 

real times worked, they were rounded down to their substantial detriment to the nearest 30 minute 

or 15-minute increments, perhaps to conform the timekeeping records to their work schedules 

rather than reflecting the hours they actually worked. Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees 

were therefore systematically underpaid for their hours worked by virtue of the above detailed 

uncompensated time and Defendant’s willful failure to comply with the Labor Code’s record 

keeping requirements. These unlawfully rounded time entries were inputted into Defendants’ 

payroll system from which wage statements and payroll checks were created. By implementing 

policies, programs, practices, procedures and protocols which rounded the hours worked by 

Aggrieved Employees down to their detriment and systematically failed to pay for all hours 

worked, Defendants’ willful actions resulted in the systematic underpayment of wages to 

Aggrieved Employees, including underpayment of overtime pay to Aggrieved Employees over 

the relevant time period. For example, the unlawful rounding addressed above and the off the 
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clock work caused Plaintiff to begin receiving overtime pay later than he should have.    

12. Defendants also paid shift differentials to Plaintiff and the similarly situated 

Employees working the second or third shift, but failed to correctly calculate the regular rate of 

pay Defendants used to calculate and pay overtime to the Employees, including by failing to 

factor the shift differential into the regular rate used to calculate and pay overtime and double-

time. Defendants also required Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees to work performing job 

duties while off the clock and without pay, including by unlawful rounding, or provided 

shortened or untimely breaks. Defendants have also either failed to maintain timekeeping records 

for Plaintiff that would permit discovery into the nature and extent of Defendants’ unlawful 

rounding and meal period violations, or have refused to produce them to Plaintiff in response to a 

timely request to be provided with them.  

13. As a result of the above described unlawful rounding and requirements to work off 

the clock, the failure to calculate and pay wages at the correct rates, and the other wage violations 

they endured at Defendants’ hands, Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were not properly 

paid all wages earned and all wages owed to them by Defendants, including when working more 

than eight (8) hours in any given day and/or more than forty (40) hours in any given week. As a 

result of Defendants’ unlawful policies and practices, Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees 

incurred overtime hours worked for which they were not adequately and completely 

compensated, in addition to the hours they were required to work off the clock. To the extent 

applicable, Defendants also failed to pay Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees at an overtime 

rate of 1.5 times the regular rate for the first eight hours of the seventh consecutive work day in a 

week and overtime payments at the rate of 2 times the regular rate for hours worked over eight 

(8) on the seventh consecutive work day, as required under the Labor Code and applicable IWC 

Wage Orders. Defendants also failed to correctly calculate the regular rate used to calculate and 

pay overtime by failing to correctly factor in the shift differentials Defendants paid to Plaintiff 

and other similarly situated Employees. 

14. Therefore, from at least four (4) years prior to the filing of this lawsuit and 

continuing to the present, Defendants had a consistent policy or practice of failing to pay 
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Employees for all hours worked, and failing to pay minimum wages for all time worked, as 

required by California law. Also, from at least four (4) years prior to the filing of this lawsuit and 

continuing to the present, Defendants had a consistent policy or practice of failing to pay 

Employees overtime compensation at correctly calculated premium overtime rates for all hours 

worked in excess of eight (8) hours a day and/or forty (40) hours a week, and double-time rates for 

all hours worked in excess of twelve (12) hours a day, in violation of Labor Code § 510 and the 

corresponding sections of IWC Wage Orders. 

15. Additionally, Defendants failed to provide all the legally required unpaid, off-duty 

meal periods and all the legally required paid, off-duty rest periods to Plaintiff and the other 

Aggrieved Employees, as required by the applicable Wage Order and Labor Code. Plaintiff was 

often unable to take a meal period and was not provided with the opportunity to do so as a result 

of Defendants’ policy and practice of placing job demands and management requirements above 

scheduled breaks. If and when he was able to take a first meal period, it was also often provided 

untimely and after the fifth hour of work or was again interrupted by work demands and manager 

requirements. Defendants did not schedule a second meal period on shifts over ten hours, and 

Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were not provided with the opportunity to take any second 

meal periods on shifts worked over ten hours and up to twelve hours and beyond. Plaintiff and the 

Aggrieved Employees were similarly denied the ability to take net-ten minute rest breaks for every 

four hours worked, or major fraction thereof. Defendants’ policies and practices have thus 

systematically denied Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees full, duty-free ten-minute rest 

periods and thirty-minute, duty-free meal periods. The California Supreme Court has instructed 

that the rest period requirement “obligates employers to permit-and authorizes employees to take-

off-duty rest periods. That is, during rest periods employers must relieve employees of all duties 

and relinquish control over how employees spend their time.” Plaintiff and the Aggrieved 

Employees were and are under Defendants’ control when they remained working during breaks, 

and an employer cannot impose any restraints on employees not inherent in the rest period 

requirement itself. Defendants have provided either impermissibly shortened or untimely meal and 

rest breaks to Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees.  
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16. Additionally, Defendants enforced a uniform policy that prevented Plaintiff and the 

Aggrieved Employees from leaving the brewery premises during their rest breaks. As for meal 

periods, to the extent Employees were permitted leave the premises for meal periods, they were 

still impermissibly shortened, as addressed above. Upon information and belief, there was no bell 

system or other alert to let Employees know when a break was supposed to begin. Given the above 

described off the clock work, these breaks were also frequently untimely, with meal periods being 

provided after the fifth hour of work on a shift or rest break being authorized and permitted after 

four hours of work, or major fraction thereof.  

17. Defendants also did not have a policy or practice which provided or recorded all the 

legally required unpaid, off-duty meal periods and all the legally required paid, off-duty rest 

periods to Plaintiff and the other Aggrieved Employees. Plaintiff and other Aggrieved Employees 

were required to perform work as ordered by Defendants for more than five (5) hours during a 

shift, but were often required to do so without receiving a compliant meal break. Plaintiff was also 

required to meet difficult to attain productivity standards throughout the liability period. When 

combined with instructions from Defendants to conform timekeeping records to shift schedules 

and the pressure to work through breaks, this productivity pressure further compelled Plaintiff, and 

upon information and belief the Aggrieved Employees, to incur substantial hours worked “off the 

clock” for which they were not compensated and to perform work duties or remain under 

Defendants’ control during breaks. This off the clock work combined with Defendants’ scheduling 

practices in turn led to meal periods being provided after the fifth hour of work and rest periods 

not being authorized and permitted for every four hours or major fraction thereof. 

18. On the occasions when Aggrieved Employees worked over 10 hours in a shift, 

Defendants also failed to provide them with a second meal period. As a result, Defendants’ failure 

to provide Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees with all legally required off-duty, unpaid meal 

periods and all the legally required off-duty, paid rest periods is and will be evidenced by 

Defendants’ business records, or lack thereof. Defendants have either failed to maintain required 

records of when meal periods were actually provided or failed to produce them in response to 

Plaintiff’s timely and lawful requests. Defendants’ management also required that Employees’ 
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timekeeping entries reflect rounded down times, including to conform to shift schedules, rather 

than to reflect actual times worked.  Defendants also failed to pay Employees “premium pay,” i.e. 

one hour of wages at each Employee’s effective hourly rate of pay, for each meal period or rest 

break that Defendants failed to provide or deficiently provided. While Defendant may contend that 

it paid Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees for on-duty meal periods for thirty (30) minutes in a 

shift, the fact that the opportunity to take meal periods timely or for their full duration was not 

provided to Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees, including by requiring them to walk for 

generally five (5) to ten (10) minutes during their meal periods, requires Defendant to pay 

premium wages of one full hour of regular wages for each unprovided or untimely or 

impermissibly shortened meal period.  

19. Therefore, for at least four years prior to the filing of this action and through to the 

present, Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were unable to take off-duty breaks or were 

otherwise not provided with the opportunity to take required breaks due to Defendants’ policies 

and practices. On the occasions when Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were provided with a 

meal period, it was often untimely or interrupted, or was impermissibly shortened, and Employees 

were not provided with one (1) hour’s wages in lieu thereof. Meal period violations thus occurred 

in one or more of the following manners: 

(a) Aggrieved Employees were not provided full thirty-minute duty free meal 

periods for work days in excess of five (5) hours and were not 

compensated one (1) hour’s wages in lieu thereof, all in violation of, 

among others, Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, and the applicable Industrial 

Welfare Commission Wage Order(s); 

(b) Aggrieved Employees were not provided second full thirty-minute duty 

free meal periods for work days in excess of ten (10) hours;   

(c) Aggrieved Employees were required to work through at least part of their 

daily meal period(s);  

(d) Meal periods were provided after five (5) hours of continuous work during 

a shift; and 
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(e) Aggrieved Employees were restricted in their ability to take a full thirty-

minute meal period.   

20. Plaintiff and the Defendants’ Aggrieved Employees were also not authorized and 

permitted to take lawful rest periods, were systematically required by Defendants to work through 

or during breaks, and were not provided with one (1) hour’s wages in lieu thereof. They were 

required to remain on-duty during breaks or portions of their breaks, thus making them either 

untimely or shortened and on-duty, and they were also prevented from leaving the premises 

during rest breaks under Defendants’ policies. Rest period violations therefore arose in one or 

more of the following manners: 

(a) Aggrieved Employees were required to work without being provided a 

minimum ten (10) minute rest period for every four (4) hours or major 

fraction thereof worked and were not compensated one (1) hour of pay at 

their regular rate of compensation for each workday that a rest period was 

not provided;  

(b) Aggrieved Employees were not authorized and permitted to take timely 

rest periods for every four hours worked, or major fraction thereof; and 

(c) Aggrieved Employees were required to remain on-duty during rest periods 

or otherwise had their rest periods interrupted by work demands.     

21. Additionally, from at least four (4) years prior to the filing of this lawsuit and 

continuing to the present, Defendants required Plaintiff, and upon information and belief other 

similarly situated Employees, to incur business expenses in the course of performing their required 

job duties for Defendants, including expenses for tools they used in performing their job duties. 

These expenses incurred by Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were necessary and required 

of them in performing their assigned job duties, but Defendants failed to reimburse Plaintiff and 

the Aggrieved Employees for all such necessary expenditures, thus entitling them to 

reimbursement according to proof as required under Labor Code § 2802 and the applicable 

provisions of the IWC Wage Orders.    

/// 
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22. From at least four (4) years prior to the filing of this lawsuit and continuing to the 

present, Defendants have consistently violated Labor Code § 221 by unlawfully collecting or 

deducting the Employees’ earned wages, including by the above described off the clock work and 

rounding. By not compensating Employees for all hours worked, Defendant unlawfully deducted 

wages earned by and owed to Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees, in violation of Labor Code § 

221.   

23. As a result of these illegal policies and practices, Defendants engaged in and 

enforced the following additional unlawful practices and policies against Plaintiff and the 

Aggrieved Employees he seeks to represent: 

a. failing to pay all wages owed to Aggrieved Employees who either were 

discharged, laid off, or resigned in accordance with the requirements of Labor 

Code §§ 201, 202, 203;  

b. failing to pay all wages owed to the Aggrieved Employees twice monthly in 

accordance with the requirements of Labor Code § 204; 

c. failing to pay Aggrieved Employees all wages owed, including all meal and rest 

period premium wages;  

d. failing to maintain accurate records of Aggrieved Employees’ earned wages and 

meal periods in violation of Labor Code §§ 226 and 1174(d) and Section 7 of the 

applicable IWC Wage Orders; and 

e. failing to produce timekeeping records in response to Plaintiff’s timely and lawful 

request to receive them under these authorities.   

24. From at least four (4) years prior to the filing of this lawsuit, and continuing to the 

present, Defendants have also consistently failed to provide Employees with timely, accurate, and 

itemized wage statements, in writing, as required by California wage-and-hour laws, including by 

the above-described requirement of off the clock work, unlawful rounding to the detriment of 

Employees, and incorrect calculation of the regular rate used to calculate and pay overtime. 

Defendants also inaccurately listed the hours worked by Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees, 
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and failed to list accurate and correctly calculated rates of pay. Defendants have also made it 

difficult to account with precision for the unlawfully withheld meal and rest period compensation 

owed to Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees, during the liability period, because they did not 

implement and preserve a record-keeping method as required for non-exempt employees by 

California Labor Code §§ 226, 1174(d), and Section 7 of the applicable California Wage Orders. 

Upon information and belief, time clock punches were not maintained, or were not accurately 

maintained, for work shifts and meal periods, which were automatically presumed by Defendants 

to have been lawfully provided when they were not. Defendants also failed to accurately record 

and pay for all regular and overtime hours worked and submitted by Plaintiff and the Aggrieved 

Employees, as Defendants’ policy of unlawfully rounding time entries to the detriment of 

Employees and compelling Employees to input time entries corresponding to their shift schedules 

rather than their actual hours worked, resulted in changed timekeeping records and corresponding 

payroll records reflecting that Employees worked less hours than they actually worked.  

25. In addition, the wage statements are inaccurate and in violation of Labor Code § 

226(a) because they do not reflect the proper overtime rate for overtime hours worked which 

should have been based on the Aggrieved Employees’ regular rate of pay. This regular rate of pay 

should have factored in the shift differentials earned by Aggrieved Employees depending on the 

shift they worked. It did not. In addition, the rate of pay for each specific shift differential is not 

reflected on the wage statements (nor are their corresponding hours worked reflected). It only 

reflects the overtime and double time rates for these differentials. This violates Labor Code § 

226(a)(9). Moreover, the total hours worked listed on the wage statement, which is required on the 

wage statement by Labor Code § 226(a)(2), is incorrect. It seems to factor in the shift differential 

hours into the total hours which overstates the total hours worked making the wage statement 

inaccurate and impossible to understand. Defendants have thus also failed to comply with Labor 

Code § 226(a) by inaccurately reporting total hours worked and total wages earned by Plaintiff 

and the Aggrieved Employees, along with the appropriate applicable rates, among others 

requirements. Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees are therefore entitled to penalties not to exceed 

$4,000.00 for each employee pursuant to Labor Code § 226(b). Defendants have also failed to 
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comply with Section 7 of the applicable California IWC Wage Orders by failing to maintain time 

records showing when the employee begins and ends each work period, meal periods, wages 

earned pursuant to Labor Code § 226.7, and total daily hours worked by itemizing in wage 

statements all deductions from payment of wages and accurately reporting total hours worked by 

the Aggrieved Employees. 

26. From at least four (4) years prior to filing this lawsuit and continuing to the present, 

Defendants have thus also had a consistent policy of failing to pay all wages owed to Plaintiff and 

other similarly situated Employees at the time of their termination of within seventy-two (72) 

hours of their resignation, as required by California wage-and-hour laws.  

27. In light of the foregoing, Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees bring this action 

pursuant to, inter alia, Labor Code §§ 201, 202, 203, 204, 218, 218.5, 218.6, 221, 226, 226.7, 510, 

511, 512, 558, 1174, 1185, 1194, 1194.2, 1197, 2802, and 2698 et seq., and pursuant to the 

applicable IWC Wage Order provisions and California Code of Regulations, Title 8, section 11000 

et seq. 

PAGA NOTICE AND ALLEGATIONS 

28. Plaintiff brings this PAGA representative action on behalf of himself an all others 

similarly situated Aggrieved Employees employed by Defendants during the liability period 

pursuant to Labor Code § 2698 et seq. Plaintiff and Employees are aggrieved employees as 

defined under Labor Code § 2699(c) in that they suffered the violations alleged in this Complaint 

and either were or are employed by the alleged violators, Defendants. Upon information and 

belief, at all times during the liability period, Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were 

employees subject to the protections of the California Labor Code and the applicable Industrial 

Welfare Commission (“IWC”) Wage Orders, including IWC Wage Order No. 1-2001 regulating 

the wages, hours and working conditions in the Manufacturing Industry (“Wage Order No. 1”).   

29. In failing to pay Aggrieved Employees minimum wages and overtime, not 

providing proper meal and rest periods, failing to reimburse necessary business expenses, failing 

to provide accurate itemized wage statements, and failing to pay Employees wages upon 

termination or timely upon resignation, all addressed herein, Defendants failed to timely pay 
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Aggrieved Employees wages on a semimonthly basis as required under Labor Code § 204. 

Defendants also failed to maintain records showing accurate hours worked daily and the wages 

paid to Aggrieved Employees, as required by Labor Code § 1174 and the applicable IWC Wage 

Orders. 

30. As such, Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees seek wages and penalties under 

Labor Code §§ 2698 and 2699 for Defendants’ violation of Labor Code provisions included under 

Labor Code § 2699.5, which includes the penalty provisions, without limitation, based inter alia 

on the following California Labor Code sections: 201, 202, 203, 204, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 558, 

1174, 1174.5, 1185, 1194, 1194.1, 1194.2, 1197, 1197.1, 1199, 2802, and 2698 et seq. 

31. More specifically, after complying with the notice procedures of  Labor Code § 

2699.3, Plaintiff asserts as a representative action on behalf of the California Attorney General and 

the other similarly Aggrieved Employees a PAGA claim for violations of the underlying claims 

addressed herein and seeking penalties as specified by the applicable corresponding provisions, 

including as follows:   

(a)  Wage Claims: For failure to provide Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees all 

earned regular pay and minimum wages for regular hours worked and for failure to pay 

overtime premium wages for overtime hours worked under Labor Code §§ 510, 1194(a), 

1197, and 1198, and Sections 2(K), 3(A) and 4 of the applicable IWC Wage Order(s) 

seeking all civil and statutory penalties available and applicable, and wages, under Labor 

Code §§ 510, 558, 1194.2, 1197.1, 2699(f)(2), and 2699.5, and also for attorneys’ fees and 

costs pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(g)(1);   

(b)  Meal and Rest Period Claims: For failure to provide Plaintiff and the Aggrieved 

Employees off-duty, timely, and unpaid meal periods and failure to authorize and permit 

them to take off-duty, timely, and paid rest periods, or pay one hour of regular pay in lieu 

thereof, under Labor Code §§ 512, 1198, and 226.7, and Sections 11, 12(A) and 12(B) of 

the applicable IWC Wage Order(s) seeking all civil and statutory penalties available and 

applicable, and wages, under Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, 558, including sections 558(a)(1)-

(3), and 2699(f)(2), and also for attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to Labor Code § 

Exhibit A

Exhibit A

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-1   Filed 03/08/19   Page 14 of 65   Page ID #:27



 

 - 15 -  
REPRESENTATIVE ACTION COMPLAINT UNDER THE PAGA  

 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

2699(g)(1);   

(c)  Inaccurate Wage Statements and Failure to Maintain Records: For failure to 

provide Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees with accurate, itemized wage statements 

and failure to maintain employment records for Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees under 

Labor Code §§ 226, 1174, and 1198.5, and Sections 7(A), 7(B), and 7(C) of the applicable 

IWC Wage Order(s) seeking all civil and statutory penalties and wages available and 

applicable under Labor Code §§ 226(e), 226.3, 558, 1174.5, and 2699(f)(2), and also for 

attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(g)(1); 

(d)  Failure to Timely Pay Wages: For failure to timely pay all wages owed, including 

at least semi-monthly and upon separation or termination, under Labor Code §§ 201, 201, 

203, 204, 1197.5, 2926, and 2927 seeking all civil penalties available and applicable, and 

wages, under Labor Code §§ 201, 202, 203, 204, 210, 558, 1197, and 2699(f)(2), and 

Section 20 of the applicable IWC Wage Order(s), and also for attorneys’ fees and costs 

pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(g)(1); and  

(e)         All Alleged Violations of the IWC Wage Orders:  For any above addressed 

violation of the applicable provisions of the IWC Wage Orders constituting violations of 

Labor Code § 1198 and Labor Code § 2699.5, and seeking penalties available and 

applicable under Labor Code § 2699(f)(2) and for attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 

Labor Code § 2699(g)(1). 

32. The penalties shall be allocated under Labor Code § 2699(i) as follows: 75% to the 

Labor and Workforce Development Agency (LWDA) and 25% to the affected employees. 

33. As also addressed above, Plaintiffs on behalf of the Aggrieved Employees also 

seeks the penalties and remedies set forth in Labor Code § 558, which states: 

(a) Any employer or other person acting on behalf of an employer 

who violates, or causes to be violated, a section of this chapter or any 

provision regulating hours and days of work in any order of the Industrial 

Welfare Commission shall be subject to a civil penalty as follows: (1) For 

any initial violation, fifty dollars ($50) for each underpaid employee for 

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 

amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (2) For each subsequent 

violation, one hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for 

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 
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amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (3) Wages recovered 

pursuant to this section shall be paid to the affected employee. 

(b) If upon inspection or investigation the Labor Commissioner 

determines that a person had paid or caused to be paid a wage for 

overtime work in violation of any provision of this chapter, or any 

provision regulating hours and days of work in any order of the Industrial 

Welfare Commission, the Labor Commissioner may issue a citation. The 

procedures for issuing, contesting, and enforcing judgments for citations 

or civil penalties issued by the Labor Commissioner for a violation of this 

chapter shall be the same as those set out in Section 1197.1. 

(c) The civil penalties provided for in this section are in addition to 

any other civil or criminal penalty provided by law. 

 

34. Plaintiff has exhausted his administrative remedy by sending a certified letter to the 

LWDA and Defendants postmarked on November 20, 2018 addressing in detail the specific 

provisions of the Labor Code Defendants have violated and addressing the facts and legal theories 

to support the alleged violations. The LWDA has not provided notice of its intent to investigate 

the alleged violations within 65 calendar days of the postmark date of the letter. As a result, as a 

matter of law, Plaintiff is entitled to file this Complaint for full compliance and exhaustion of the 

notice requirements under the PAGA and seeks civil penalty assessments against Defendants as a 

Representative of the State of California as hereinafter alleged and in accordance with the law, in 

addition to costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees as provided by the PAGA statute. A true and 

correct copy of the November 20, 2018 Notice to the LWDA and the Defendants is attached 

hereto Exhibit A and is expressly incorporated into this Complaint as if set forth in full. Plaintiff 

alleges that the notice period provided by statute has expired and amendment is proper pursuant to 

Labor Code § 2699.3(a)(2)(C). 

35. This action has been brought and may properly be maintained as a representative 

action under the provisions of Labor Code § 2698 et seq. seeking civil and statutory penalties and 

wages based, inter alia, on the following claims addressed in detail herein: 

a. Defendants failed to pay Employees minimum wages and wages for all hours 

worked; 

b. Defendants failed to pay Employees overtime as required under Labor Code § 510; 
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c. Defendants violated Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512, and the applicable IWC Wage 

Orders, by failing to provide Employees with requisite meal periods or premium 

pay in lieu thereof; 

d. Defendants violated Labor Code §§ 226.7, and the applicable IWC Wage Orders, 

by failing to authorize and permit Employees to take requisite rest breaks or 

provide premium pay in lieu thereof; 

e.  Defendants violated Labor Code § 226(a) by providing Employees with inaccurate 

wage statements; 

f. Defendants violated Labor Code § 221 by making unauthorized deductions from 

wages; 

g. Defendants violated Labor Code §§ 201, 202, and 203 by failing to pay wages and 

compensation due and owing at the time of termination of employment; 

h.  Defendants violated Labor Code § 226 and § 1174 and the IWC Wage Orders by 

failing to maintain accurate records of Aggrieved Employees’ earned wages and 

work periods; 

i. Defendants violated Labor Code § 1194 by failing to compensate all Employees 

during the relevant time period for all hours worked, whether regular or overtime; 

j.  Defendants violated Labor Code § 204 by failing to pay Employees all wages 

earned at least twice monthly; and  

k.  Defendants failed to reimburse necessary business expenses incurred by Employees 

in connection with performing their job duties under Labor Code § 2802. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

PENALTIES UNDER THE PAGA FOR FAILURE TO PAY MINIMUM WAGES 

(Against All Defendants) 

36. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all preceding paragraphs, as though set forth in 

full herein. 

37. Defendants failed to pay Employees minimum wages for all hours worked. 

Defendants had a consistent policy of requiring Employees to work off the clock and without 
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compensation, including by Defendants’ uniform policy of rounding timekeeping entries down to 

the detriment of Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees. Employees would work hours and not 

receive wages, including as alleged above in connection with off the clock work and regarding 

rounding of timekeeping entries and requiring Aggrieved Employees to remain on duty and 

under Defendants’ control during breaks and due to the production and other demands placed 

upon them by Defendants’ management. Defendants, and each of them, have also intentionally 

and improperly rounded, changed, adjusted and/or modified Employee hours, or required 

Employees to do so, and imposed difficult to attain job and shift scheduling requirements on 

Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees, which resulted in off the clock work and underpayment 

of all wages owed to Employees over a period of time, while benefiting Defendants. During the 

liability period, Defendants thus regularly failed to pay minimum wages to Plaintiff and the 

Aggrieved Employees, including by unlawful rounding to their detriment any by requiring 

systematic off the clock work. Defendants’ uniform pattern of unlawful wage and hour practices 

manifested, without limitation, applicable to all Aggrieved Employees, as a result of 

implementing a uniform policy and practice that denied accurate compensation to Plaintiff and 

the other Aggrieved Employees as to minimum wage pay. 

38. Pursuant to Labor Code § 2699, Plaintiff seeks all applicable PAGA civil 

penalties and remedies for each Aggrieved Employee for each pay period in the applicable statute 

of limitations in which the Aggrieved Employee was not paid for all hours worked for each pay 

period, plus reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.  

39. The Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 (“PAGA”) provides that: 

... an aggrieved employee may recover the civil penalty described in subdivision 

(I) in a civil action pursuant to the procedures specified in Section 2699.3 filed on 

behalf of himself or herself and other current or former employees against whom 

one or more of the alleged violations was committed. Any employee who prevails 

in any action shall be entitled to an award of reasonable attorney’s fees and costs. 

Nothing in this part shall operate to limit an employee’s right to pursue or recover 

other remedies available under state or federal law, either separately or 

concurrently with an action taken under this part. 

 
California Labor Code § 2699(g)(1). 

40. Plaintiff is an “aggrieved employee” under the PAGA, as he was employed by 
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Defendants during the applicable statutory period and suffered one or more of the California 

Labor Code violations set forth herein. Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks to recover on behalf of 

himself and all other current and former aggrieved non-exempt employees, as defined above, the 

civil penalties provided by the PAGA, plus reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

41. Plaintiff, by virtue of the Notice correspondence dated November 20, 2018, 

attached hereto as Exhibit A, has satisfied all prerequisites to serve as a representative of the 

general public to enforce California’s labor laws, including without limitation, the penalty 

provisions identified in California Labor Code § 2699.5. Because the LWDA took no steps 

within the applicable time period required to intervene, and because Defendants took no 

corrective actions to remedy the allegations set forth above, Plaintiff, as a representative of the 

people of the State of California, will seek, and hereby does seek, any and all civil penalties 

otherwise capable of being collected by the Labor Commission and/or the Department of Labor 

Standards Enforcement (“DLSE”). 

42. Any civil penalties recovered herein will be distributed in accordance with the 

PAGA, with at least 75% of the penalties .recovered being reimbursed to the State of California 

and the LWDA, where applicable. See Labor Code § 2699(i). 

43. Specifically, Plaintiff seeks to recover civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA that 

arise from the policies, practices and business acts of Defendants to the extent provided by law as 

a Representative Action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and underpayment of 

wages as permitted by Labor Code § 558, as a separate penalty provided by the PAGA statute. 

Labor Code § 558 provides in pertinent part: 

(a) Any employer or other person acting on behalf of an employer 

who violates, or causes to be violated, a section of this chapter or any 

provision regulating hours and days of work in any order of the Industrial 

Welfare Commission shall be subject to a civil penalty as follows: (1) For 

any initial violation, fifty dollars ($50) for each underpaid employee for 

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 

amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (2) For each subsequent 

violation, one hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for 

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 

amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (3) Wages recovered 

pursuant to this section shall be paid to the affected employee…. 
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 (c) The civil penalties provided for in this section are in addition to 

any other civil or criminal penalty provided by law. 

 

44. Plaintiff seeks civil penalties against Defendants for failure to provide Plaintiff 

and other aggrieved non-exempt employees proper regular pay and minimum wages for regular 

hours worked and/or overtime premium pay for overtime hours worked during the applicable 

statutory period. 

45. Section 4 of IWC Wage Order No. 1 provides in pertinent part: “(A) Every 

employer shall pay to each employee wages not less than the following: (1) Any employer who 

employs 26 or more employees shall pay to each employee wages not less than the following: (a) 

Ten dollars and fifty cents ($10.50) per hour for all hours worked, effective January 1, 2017; (b) 

Eleven dollars ($11.00) per hour for all hours worked, effective January 1, 2018; (c) Twelve 

dollars ($12.00) per hour for all hours worked, effective January 1, 2019;.... (B) Every employer 

shall pay to each employee, on the established payday for the period involved, not less than the 

applicable minimum wage for all hours worked in the payroll period, whether the remuneration is 

measured by time, piece, commission, or otherwise.”  

46. Section 2(G) of IWC Wage Order No. 1 defines “Hours worked” as “the time 

during which an employee is subject to the control of an employer, and includes all the time the 

employee is suffered or permitted to work, whether or not required to do so.”  

47. In California, employees must be paid at least the then applicable state minimum 

wage for all hours worked.  (IWC Wage Order MW-2014). Additionally, pursuant to California 

Labor Code § 204, other applicable laws and regulations, and public policy, an employer must 

timely pay its employees for all hours worked. Defendants failed to do so.   

48. California Labor Code § 1197, entitled “Pay of Less Than Minimum Wage” 

states: “The minimum wage for employees fixed by the commission is the minimum wage to be 

paid to employees, and the payment of a less wage than the minimum so fixed is unlawful.” 

49. The minimum wage provisions of California Labor Code are enforceable by private 

civil action pursuant to Labor Code § 1194(a) which states: “Notwithstanding any agreement to 

work for a lesser wage, any employee receiving less than the legal minimum wage or the legal 
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overtime compensation applicable to the employee is entitled to recover in a civil action the 

unpaid balance of the full amount of this minimum wage or overtime compensation, including 

interest thereon, reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of suit.” 

50. As described in California Labor Code §§ 1185 and 1194.2, any action for wages 

incorporates the applicable Wage Order of the California Industrial Welfare Commission. Also, 

California Labor Code §§ 1194, 1197, 1197.1 and those Industrial Welfare Commission Wage 

Orders, entitle non-exempt employees to an amount equal to or greater than the minimum wage 

for all hours worked. All hours must be paid at the statutory or agreed rate and no part of this rate 

may be used as a credit against a minimum wage obligation.   

51. In committing these violations of the California Labor Code, Defendants 

inaccurately recorded, or required Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees to input times that did 

not reflect their actual hours worked, or calculated the correct time worked and consequently 

underpaid the actual time worked by Plaintiff and other Aggrieved Employees.  Defendants acted 

in an illegal attempt to avoid the payment of all earned wages, and other benefits in violation of 

the California Labor Code, the Industrial Welfare Commission requirements and other applicable 

laws and regulations. As a result of these violations, Defendant also failed to timely pay all wages 

earned in accordance with California Labor Code § 1194. 

52. California Labor Code § 1194.2 also provides for the following remedies: “In any 

action under Section 1194 . . . to recover wages because of the payment of a wage less than the 

minimum wages fixed by an order of the commission, an employee shall be entitled to recover 

liquidated damages in an amount equal to the wages unlawfully unpaid and interest thereon.” 

53. In addition to restitution for all unpaid wages, pursuant to California Labor Code § 

1197.1, Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees are entitled to recover a penalty of $100.00 for the 

initial failure to timely pay each employee minimum wages, and $250.00 for each subsequent 

failure to pay each employee minimum wages. 

54. Pursuant to California Labor Code § 1194.2, Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees 

are further entitled to recover liquidated damages in an amount equal to wages unlawfully unpaid 

and interest thereon. 
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55. Labor Code § 1198 also requires that:  “The maximum hours of work and the 

standard conditions of labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the 

standard conditions of labor for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours 

than those fixed by the order or under conditions of labor prohibited by the order is unlawful.” 

Labor Code § 1198 therefore provides a basis in the Labor Code to recover for violations of the 

IWC Wage Order provisions, and Labor Code § 2699.5 list Section 1198 as one of the provisions 

for which a representative PAGA action may be commenced under Labor Code § 2699.3.  

56. Additionally, Labor Code § 1199 provides that: “Every employer or other person 

acting either individually or as an officer, agent, or employee of another person is guilty of a 

misdemeanor and is punishable by a fine of not less than one hundred dollars ($100)…, who does 

any of the following: (a) Requires or causes any employee to work for longer hours than those 

fixed, or under conditions of labor prohibited by an order of the commission. (b) Pays or causes to 

be paid to any employee a wage less than the minimum fixed by an order of the commission….”  

57. Similarly, Section 20 of IWC Wage Order No. 1 addresses further penalties as 

follows: “(A) In addition to any other civil penalties provided by law, any employer or any other 

person acting on behalf of the employer who violates, or causes to be violated, the provisions of 

this order, shall be subject to the civil penalty of: (1) Initial Violation — $50.00 for each 

underpaid employee for each pay period during which the employee was underpaid in addition to 

the amount which is sufficient to recover unpaid wages. (2) Subsequent Violations — $100.00 for 

each underpaid employee for each pay period during which the employee was underpaid in 

addition to an amount which is sufficient to recover unpaid wages. (3) The affected employee shall 

receive payment of all wages recovered.”  

58. Additionally, Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were required to endure 

unlawful deductions from their wages, as set forth above in connection with off the clock work 

and unlawful rounding. Labor Code § 221 instructs that: “It shall be unlawful for any employer to 

collect or receive from an employee any part of wages theretofore paid by said employer to said 

employee.” These unlawful deductions equate to additional unpaid wage violations giving rise to 

PAGA penalties, and Labor Code § 221is an enumerated provision under Labor Code § 2699.5. 
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59. Defendants have the ability to pay minimum wages for all time worked and have 

willfully refused to pay such wages with the intent to secure for Defendants a discount upon this 

indebtedness with the intent to annoy, harass, oppress, hinder, delay, or defraud Employees. 

60. Labor Code § 2699(f)(2) states: “For all provisions of this code except those 

for which a civil penalty is specifically provided, there is established a civil penalty for a violation 

of these provisions, as follows ... (2) If, at the time of the alleged violation, the person employs 

one or more employees, the civil penalty is one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved 

employee per pay period for the initial violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation.” 

61. Labor Code § 2699.3 allows “(a) A civil action by an aggrieved employee pursuant 

to subdivision (a) or (f) of Section 2699 alleging a violation of any provision listed in Section 

2699.5” to commence upon satisfaction of its written notice requirements. Additionally, Labor 

Code § 2699.5 provides, in pertinent part that “[t]he provisions of subdivision (a) of Section 

2699.3 apply to any alleged violation of the following provisions: [Labor Code §§] 204,… 221, 

…510, 512,… 1194, 1197, 1197.1 and 1198…1199”, and these provisions of the Code allow for 

recovery of civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA in this action. 

62. Defendants’ conduct, as alleged herein, violates the aforementioned regulations 

because Defendants failed to properly compensate Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt 

employees applicable minimum wages and contractually agreed upon wages for all hours they 

were required to work and remain under Defendants’ control.  

63. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ unlawful acts, as alleged in 

detail herein, Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt employees have been deprived, and 

continue to be deprived, of minimum wages and all wages owed for all hours they worked.  

64. As such, Defendants are liable for PAGA penalties resulting from their failure to 

provide Plaintiff and the other Aggrieved Employees minimum wages and all wages owed for all 

hours worked. Accordingly, Plaintiff entitled to recover, and hereby seeks through this 

representative action, all civil and statutory penalties authorized for violations of California Labor 

Code §§ 510, 1194, 1197, 1197.1, 1198, 221 and 204 and Sections 2(K), 4, and 20 of the 

Exhibit A

Exhibit A

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-1   Filed 03/08/19   Page 23 of 65   Page ID #:36



 

 - 24 -  
REPRESENTATIVE ACTION COMPLAINT UNDER THE PAGA  

 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

applicable IWC Wage Order(s), and Plaintiff seeks all civil and statutory penalties available and 

applicable, and wages, under Labor Code §§ 510, 558, 1194.2, 1197.1, 1199, 2699(f)(2), and 

2699.5, and also attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(g)(1).  

65. Plaintiff has fully complied with procedures specified in Labor Code § 2699.3. For 

the purposes of this cause of action, recovery of civil penalties will include the recovery of 

underpaid wages pursuant to Labor Code §§ 558(a)(1)-(3), in an amount according to proof and 

subject to Court approval.  

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER THE PAGA FOR FAILURE TO PAY WAGES AND 

OVERTIME UNDER LABOR CODE § 510 

(Against All Defendants) 

66. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all preceding paragraphs, as though set forth in 

full herein. 

67. California Labor Code § 1194 provides that “any employee receiving less than the 

legal minimum wage or the legal overtime compensation applicable to the employee is entitled to 

recover in a civil action the unpaid balance of the full amount of this minimum wage or overtime 

compensation, including interest thereon, reasonable attorney’s fees, and costs of suit.” The action 

may be maintained directly against the employer in an employee’s name without first filing a 

claim with the Division of Labor Standards and Enforcement. 

68. By their conduct, as set forth herein, Defendants violated California Labor Code § 

510 (and the relevant orders of the Industrial Welfare Commission) by failing to pay Employees: 

(a) time and one-half their regular hourly rates for hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in a 

workday or in excess of forty (40) hours in any workweek or for the first eight (8) hours worked 

on the seventh day of work in any one workweek; or (b) twice their regular rate of pay for hours 

worked in excess of twelve (12) hours in any one (1) day or for hours worked in excess of eight 

(8) hours on any seventh day of work in a workweek.  

69. Similar to Labor Code § 510, Section 3(A) of IWC Wage Order No. 1 also 

provides: “(A) Daily Overtime-General Provisions (1) The following overtime provisions are 
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applicable to employees 18 years of age or over... Such employees shall not be employed more 

than eight (8) hours in any workday or more than 40 in a workweek unless the employee receives 

one and one half (1 1/2) times such employee’s regular rate of pay for all hours worked over 40 

hours in the workweek. Eight (8) hours of labor constitutes a day’s work. Employment beyond 

eight (8) hours in any workday or more than six (6) days in any workweek is permissible provided 

the employee is compensated for such overtime at not less than: (a) One and one-half (11/2) times 

the employee’s regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours up to and 

including twelve (12) hours in any workday, and for the first eight (8) hours worked on the 

seventh (7th) consecutive day of work in a workweek; and (b) Double the employee’s regular rate 

of pay for all hours worked in excess of 12 hours in any workday and for all hours worked in 

excess of eight (8) hours on the seventh (7th) consecutive day of work in a workweek…”  

70. Defendants had a consistent policy of violating these provisions by not paying 

Employees wages for all hours worked, including by requiring off the clock work as addressed 

above and by unlawfully rounding down and under-reporting actual hours worked. Defendants 

also paid certain shift differentials to Plaintiff and other similarly situated Aggrieved Employees 

working the second or third shifts, but failed to correctly calculate the regular rate of pay to based 

on these shift differentials that Defendants used to calculate and pay overtime wages to Plaintiff 

and the Aggrieved Employees.  

71. Defendants had a consistent policy of not paying Employees wages for all hours 

worked. Defendants, and each of them, have intentionally and improperly rounded, changed, 

adjusted and/or modified certain employees’ hours, including Plaintiff’s, or required Plaintiff and 

the Aggrieved Employees to do so, or otherwise caused them to work off the clock to avoid 

paying Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees all earned and owed straight time and overtime and 

double time wages and other benefits, in violation of the California Labor Code, the California 

Code of Regulations and the IWC Wage Orders and guidelines set forth by the Division of Labor 

Standards and Enforcement. Defendants have also violated these provisions by requiring Plaintiff 

and other similarly situated non-exempt employees to work through meal periods when they were 

required to be clocked out or to otherwise work off the clock to complete their daily job duties or 
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to attend and participate in company required activities. Therefore, Employees were not properly 

compensated, nor were they paid overtime rates for hours worked in excess of eight hours in a 

given day, and/or forty hours in a given week. Based on information and belief, Defendants did 

not make available to Employees a reasonable protocol for correcting time records when 

Employees worked overtime hours or to fix incorrect time entries or those that Defendants 

unlawfully rounded to the Employee’s detriment. Defendants have also violated these provisions 

by requiring Plaintiff and other similarly situated Aggrieved Employees to work through meal 

periods when they were required to be clocked out or to otherwise work off the clock to complete 

their daily job duties, and by failing to incorporate shift differentials or other non-hourly 

compensation into the regular rate used by Defendants to calculate and pay overtime 

compensation.   

72. Defendants’ failure to pay Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees the unpaid 

balance of regular wages owed and overtime compensation, as required by California law, 

violates the provisions of Labor Code §§ 510 and 1198, and is therefore unlawful.   

73. Pursuant to Labor Code § 2699, Plaintiff seeks all applicable PAGA civil 

penalties and remedies for each Aggrieved Employee for each pay period in the applicable statute 

of limitations in which the Aggrieved Employee was not paid at the correct overtime rate for all 

hours worked for each pay period, plus reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.  

74. The Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 (“PAGA”) provides that: 

... an aggrieved employee may recover the civil penalty described in subdivision 

(I) in a civil action pursuant to the procedures specified in Section 2699.3 filed on 

behalf of himself or herself and other current or former employees against whom 

one or more of the alleged violations was committed. Any employee who prevails 

in any action shall be entitled to an award of reasonable attorney’s fees and costs. 

Nothing in this part shall operate to limit an employee’s right to pursue or recover 

other remedies available under state or federal law, either separately or 

concurrently with an action taken under this part. 

 
California Labor Code § 2699(g)(1). 

75. Plaintiff is an “aggrieved employee” under the PAGA, as he was employed by 

Defendants during the applicable statutory period and suffered one or more of the California 

Labor Code violations set forth herein. Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks to recover on behalf of 
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himself and all other current and former aggrieved non-exempt employees, as defined above, the 

civil penalties provided by the PAGA, plus reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

76. Plaintiff, by virtue of the Notice correspondence dated November 20, 2018, 

attached hereto as Exhibit A, has satisfied all prerequisites to serve as a representative of the 

general public to enforce California’s labor laws, including without limitation, the penalty 

provisions identified in California Labor Code § 2699.5. Because the LWDA took no steps 

within the applicable time period required to intervene, and because Defendants took no 

corrective actions to remedy the allegations set forth above, Plaintiff, as a representative of the 

people of the State of California, will seek, and hereby does seek, any and all civil penalties 

otherwise capable of being collected by the Labor Commission and/or the Department of Labor 

Standards Enforcement (“DLSE”). 

77. Any civil penalties recovered herein will be distributed in accordance with the 

PAGA, with at least 75% of the penalties .recovered being reimbursed to the State of California 

and the LWDA, where applicable. See Labor Code § 2699(i). 

78. Specifically, Plaintiff seeks to recover civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA that 

arise from the policies, practices and business acts of Defendants to the extent provided by law as 

a Representative Action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and underpayment of 

wages as permitted by Labor Code § 558, as a separate penalty provided by the PAGA statute. 

Labor Code § 558 provides in pertinent part: 

(a) Any employer or other person acting on behalf of an employer 

who violates, or causes to be violated, a section of this chapter or any 

provision regulating hours and days of work in any order of the Industrial 

Welfare Commission shall be subject to a civil penalty as follows: (1) For 

any initial violation, fifty dollars ($50) for each underpaid employee for 

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 

amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (2) For each subsequent 

violation, one hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for 

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 

amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (3) Wages recovered 

pursuant to this section shall be paid to the affected employee…. 

 (c) The civil penalties provided for in this section are in addition to 

any other civil or criminal penalty provided by law. 
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79. Section 2(G) of IWC Wage Order No. 1 defines “Hours worked” as “the time 

during which an employee is subject to the control of an employer, and includes all the time the 

employee is suffered or permitted to work, whether or not required to do so.”  

80. In California, employees must be paid at least the then applicable state minimum 

wage for all hours worked.  (IWC Wage Order MW-2014). Additionally, pursuant to California 

Labor Code § 204, other applicable laws and regulations, and public policy, an employer must 

timely pay its employees for all hours worked. Defendants failed to do so. Defendants’ failure to 

pay compensation in a timely fashion also constituted a violation of California Labor Code § 204, 

which requires that all wages shall be paid semimonthly. During the liability period, Defendants 

have failed to pay all wages and overtime compensation earned by Aggrieved Employees, and 

each such failure to make a timely payment of compensation to Employees constitutes a separate 

violation of California Labor Code § 204.  

81. California Labor Code § 1197, entitled “Pay of Less Than Minimum Wage” 

states: “The minimum wage for employees fixed by the commission is the minimum wage to be 

paid to employees, and the payment of a less wage than the minimum so fixed is unlawful.” 

82. The minimum wage provisions of California Labor Code are enforceable by private 

civil action pursuant to Labor Code § 1194(a) which states: “Notwithstanding any agreement to 

work for a lesser wage, any employee receiving less than the legal minimum wage or the legal 

overtime compensation applicable to the employee is entitled to recover in a civil action the 

unpaid balance of the full amount of this minimum wage or overtime compensation, including 

interest thereon, reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of suit.” 

83. As described in California Labor Code §§ 1185 and 1194.2, any action for wages 

incorporates the applicable Wage Order of the California Industrial Welfare Commission. Also, 

California Labor Code §§ 1194, 1197, 1197.1 and those Industrial Welfare Commission Wage 

Orders entitle non-exempt employees to an amount equal to or greater than the minimum wage for 

all hours worked. All hours must be paid at the statutory or agreed rate and no part of this rate may 

be used as a credit against a minimum wage obligation.   

/// 
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84. In committing the above addressed violations of the California Labor Code, 

Defendants inaccurately recorded, or required Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees to input 

times that did not reflect their actual hours worked, or calculated the incorrect time worked and 

consequently underpaid the actual time worked by Plaintiff and other Aggrieved Employees.  

Defendants acted in an illegal attempt to avoid the payment of all earned wages, and other benefits 

in violation of the California Labor Code, the Industrial Welfare Commission requirements and 

other applicable laws and regulations. As a result of these violations, Defendant also failed to 

timely pay all wages earned in accordance with California Labor Code § 1194. 

85. California Labor Code § 1194.2 also provides for the following remedies: “In any 

action under Section 1194 . . . to recover wages because of the payment of a wage less than the 

minimum wages fixed by an order of the commission, an employee shall be entitled to recover 

liquidated damages in an amount equal to the wages unlawfully unpaid and interest thereon.” 

86. In addition to restitution for all unpaid wages, pursuant to California Labor Code § 

1197.1, Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees are entitled to recover a penalty of $100.00 for the 

initial failure to timely pay each employee minimum wages, and $250.00 for each subsequent 

failure to pay each employee minimum wages. 

87. Pursuant to California Labor Code § 1194.2, Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees 

are further entitled to recover liquidated damages in an amount equal to wages unlawfully unpaid 

and interest thereon. 

88. Labor Code § 1198 also requires that: “The maximum hours of work and the 

standard conditions of labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the 

standard conditions of labor for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours 

than those fixed by the order or under conditions of labor prohibited by the order is unlawful.” 

Labor Code § 1198 therefore provides a basis in the Labor Code to recover for violations of the 

IWC Wage Order provisions, and Labor Code § 2699.5 list Section 1198 as one of the provisions 

for which a representative PAGA action may be commenced under Labor Code § 2699.3.  

89. Additionally, Labor Code § 1199 provides that: “Every employer or other person 

acting either individually or as an officer, agent, or employee of another person is guilty of a 

Exhibit A

Exhibit A

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-1   Filed 03/08/19   Page 29 of 65   Page ID #:42



 

 - 30 -  
REPRESENTATIVE ACTION COMPLAINT UNDER THE PAGA  

 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

misdemeanor and is punishable by a fine of not less than one hundred dollars ($100)…, who does 

any of the following: (a) Requires or causes any employee to work for longer hours than those 

fixed, or under conditions of labor prohibited by an order of the commission. (b) Pays or causes to 

be paid to any employee a wage less than the minimum fixed by an order of the commission….”  

90. Similarly, Section 20 of IWC Wage Order No. 1 addresses further penalties as 

follows: “(A) In addition to any other civil penalties provided by law, any employer or any other 

person acting on behalf of the employer who violates, or causes to be violated, the provisions of 

this order, shall be subject to the civil penalty of: (1) Initial Violation — $50.00 for each 

underpaid employee for each pay period during which the employee was underpaid in addition to 

the amount which is sufficient to recover unpaid wages. (2) Subsequent Violations — $100.00 for 

each underpaid employee for each pay period during which the employee was underpaid in 

addition to an amount which is sufficient to recover unpaid wages. (3) The affected employee shall 

receive payment of all wages recovered.”  

91. Defendants have the ability to pay overtime wages for all time worked and have 

willfully refused to pay such wages with the intent to secure for Defendants a discount upon this 

indebtedness with the intent to annoy, harass, oppress, hinder, delay, or defraud Employees. 

92. Labor Code § 2699(f)(2) states: “For all provisions of this code except those 

for which a civil penalty is specifically provided, there is established a civil penalty for a violation 

of these provisions, as follows ... (2) If, at the time of the alleged violation, the person employs 

one or more employees, the civil penalty is one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved 

employee per pay period for the initial violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation.” 

93. Labor Code § 2699.3 allows “(a) A civil action by an aggrieved employee pursuant 

to subdivision (a) or (f) of Section 2699 alleging a violation of any provision listed in Section 

2699.5” to commence upon satisfaction of its written notice requirements. Additionally, Labor 

Code § 2699.5 provides, in pertinent part that “[t]he provisions of subdivision (a) of Section 

2699.3 apply to any alleged violation of the following provisions: [Labor Code §§] 204, …510, 

512,… 1194, 1197, 1197.1 and 1198…1199” among the provisions of the Code that allow for 
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recovery of civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA. 

94. Defendants’ conduct, as alleged herein, violates the aforementioned regulations 

because Defendants failed to properly compensate Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt 

employees applicable minimum wages and contractually agreed upon wages for all hours they 

were required to work and remain under Defendants’ control.  

95. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ unlawful acts, as alleged in 

detail herein, Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt employees have been deprived, and 

continue to be deprived, of overtime wages owed for all hours they worked.  

96. As such, Defendants are liable for PAGA penalties resulting from their failure to 

timely provide Plaintiff and the other Aggrieved Employees overtime and premium wages for all 

hours worked. Accordingly, Plaintiff entitled to recover, and hereby seeks through this 

representative action, all civil and statutory penalties authorized for violations of California Labor 

Code §§ 510, 1194, 1197, 1197.1, 1198, and 204 and Sections 2(K), 4, and 20 of the applicable 

IWC Wage Order(s), and Plaintiff seeks all civil and statutory penalties available and applicable, 

and wages, under Labor Code §§ 510, 558, 1194.2, 1197.1, 1199, 2699(f)(2), and 2699.5, and also 

attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(g)(1).  

97. Plaintiff has fully complied with procedures specified in Labor Code § 2699.3. For 

the purposes of this cause of action, recovery of civil penalties will include the recovery of 

underpaid wages pursuant to Labor Code §§ 558(a)(1)-(3), in an amount according to proof and 

subject to Court approval.  

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER THE PAGA FOR MEAL-PERIOD LIABILITY  

UNDER LABOR CODE §§ 512, 226.7 

(Against All Defendants) 

98. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all preceding paragraphs, as though set forth in 

full herein. 

99. Employees regularly worked shifts greater than five (5) hours and in some 

instances, greater than ten (10) hours. Pursuant to Labor Code § 512, an employer may not employ 
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someone for a shift of more than five (5) hours without providing him or her with a meal period of 

not less than thirty (30) minutes or for a shift of more than ten (10) hours without providing him or 

her with a second meal period of not less than thirty (30) minutes. 

100. Similar to Labor Code § 512, Section 11(A)-(E) of Wage Order No. 1 provides 

that:  “(A) No employer shall employ any person for a work period of more than five (5) hours 

without a meal period of not less than 30 minutes, except that when a work period of not more 

than six (6) hours will complete the day’s work the meal period may be waived by mutual consent 

of the employer and employee…. (B) An employer may not employ an employee for a work 

period of more than ten (10) hours per day without providing the employee with a second meal 

period of not less than 30 minutes, except that if the total hours worked is no more than 12 hours, 

the second meal period may be waived by mutual consent of the employer and the employee only 

if the first meal period was not waived. (C) Unless the employee is relieved of all duty during a 30 

minute meal period, the meal period shall be considered an “on duty” meal period and counted as 

time worked…. (D) If an employer fails to provide an employee a meal period in accordance with 

the applicable provisions of this order, the employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at 

the employee’s regular rate of compensation for each work day that the meal period is not 

provided….”  

101. Defendants failed to provide Employees with meal periods as required under the 

Labor Code. Employees were often required to work or to otherwise remain under Defendants’ 

control during meal periods, or Defendants provided them after Employees worked beyond the 

fifth hour of their shifts or Employees otherwise had them shortened and interrupted by work 

demands and requirements. Furthermore, upon information and belief, on the occasions when 

Employees worked more than ten (10) hours in a given shift, they did so without receiving a 

second uninterrupted thirty (30) minute meal period, as required by law. 

102. Defendants thus failed to provide Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees with meal 

periods as required by the Labor Code, including by not providing them with the opportunity to 

take meal breaks, by providing them late or for less than thirty (30) minutes, or by requiring them 

to perform work during breaks.   
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103. Moreover, Defendants failed to compensate Employees for each meal period not 

provided or inadequately provided, as required under Labor Code § 226.7 and paragraph 11 of the 

applicable IWC Wage Orders, which provide that, if an employer fails to provide an employee a 

meal period in accordance with this section, the employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of 

pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation for each workday that the meal period is not 

provided. Defendants failed to compensate Employees for each meal period not provided or 

inadequately provided, as required under Labor Code § 226.7. 

104. Plaintiff seeks civil penalties against Defendants for failure to provide Plaintiff and 

other aggrieved non-exempt employees lawful off-duty unpaid meal periods, as well as 

corresponding premium pay for denied meal periods, during the applicable statutory period. 

105. Plaintiff seeks to recover civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA that arise from the 

policies, practices and business acts of Defendants to the extent provided by law as a 

Representative Action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and underpayment of 

wages as permitted by Labor Code § 558, as a separate penalty provided by the PAGA statute. 

Labor Code § 558 provides in pertinent part: 

(a) Any employer or other person acting on behalf of an employer 

who violates, or causes to be violated, a section of this chapter or any 

provision regulating hours and days of work in any order of the Industrial 

Welfare Commission shall be subject to a civil penalty as follows: (1) For 

any initial violation, fifty dollars ($50) for each underpaid employee for 

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 

amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (2) For each subsequent 

violation, one hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for 

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 

amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (3) Wages recovered 

pursuant to this section shall be paid to the affected employee…. 

 (c) The civil penalties provided for in this section are in addition to 

any other civil or criminal penalty provided by law. 

 

106. Section 2(G) of IWC Wage Order No. 1 defines “Hours worked” as “the time 

during which an employee is subject to the control of an employer, and includes all the time the 

employee is suffered or permitted to work, whether or not required to do so.” 

/// 
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107. Labor Code § 1198 also requires that: “The maximum hours of work and the 

standard conditions of labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the 

standard conditions of labor for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours 

than those fixed by the order or under conditions of labor prohibited by the order is unlawful.” 

Labor Code § 1198 therefore provides a basis in the Labor Code to recover for violations of the 

IWC Wage Order provisions, and Labor Code § 2699.5 list Section 1198 as one of the provisions 

for which a representative PAGA action may be commenced under Labor Code § 2699.3.  

108. Premium pay for denied lawful meal and rest periods is considered a “wage” rather 

than a penalty. See Murphy v. Kennefh Cole Prods., Inc. (2007) 40 Cal. 4th 1094, 1114. 

109. Specifically, Plaintiff seeks to recover civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA that 

arise from the policies, practices, and business acts of Defendants to the extent provided by law as 

a Representative Action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and underpayment of 

wages as permitted by Labor Code § 558, as a separate penalty provided by the PAGA statute. 

110. Upon information and belief, Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt employees 

did not enter into legally binding written agreements with Defendants agreeing to “on-duty” meal 

periods, or waiving “off duty” meal periods. Nor does the nature of their work prevent the 

Aggrieved Employees from being relieved of all duties during meal periods. To the contrary. Any 

inability to take uninterrupted off-duty meal periods was, and is, attributable solely to Defendants’ 

own insufficient staffing models, rather than the general nature of the work performed by Plaintiff 

and other Aggrieved Employees. 

111. Labor Code § 2699(f)(2) states: “For all provisions of this code except those 

for which a civil penalty is specifically provided, there is established a civil penalty for a violation 

of these provisions, as follows ... (2) If, at the time of the alleged violation, the person employs 

one or more employees, the civil penalty is one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved 

employee per pay period for the initial violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation.” 

112. Labor Code § 2699.3 allows “(a) A civil action by an aggrieved employee pursuant 

to subdivision (a) or (f) of Section 2699 alleging a violation of any provision listed in Section 
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2699.5” to commence upon satisfaction of its written notice requirements. Additionally, Labor 

Code § 2699.5 provides, in pertinent part that “[t]he provisions of subdivision (a) of Section 

2699.3 apply to any alleged violation of the following provisions: “[Labor Code §§] 226.7, 

…512,…558,… and 1198” among the provisions of the Code that allow for recovery of civil 

penalties pursuant to the PAGA. 

113. Defendants’ conduct, as alleged herein, violates the aforementioned regulations 

because Defendants failed to properly provide Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt 

employees with lawful uninterrupted off-duty meal periods throughout the applicable statutory 

period. Defendants also systematically denied Plaintiff and other Aggrieved Employees proper 

premium pay at the rate of one hour of pay at their regular pay rates for each work shift they were 

denied an unpaid, off-duty 30-minute meal period.  

114. As such, Defendants are liable for PAGA penalties resulting from their failure to 

provide Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt employees lawful meal periods and the 

corresponding meal period premium pay. Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to recover, and hereby 

seeks through this Representative Action, all civil and statutory penalties authorized for violations 

of California Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, 558, and 1198, and Section 11(A)-(E) of the applicable 

IWC Wage Orders, and Plaintiff seeks all civil and statutory penalties available and applicable 

under Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, 558, including sections 558(a)(1)-(3), and 2699(f)(2), and also 

for attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(g)(1).  

115. Aggrieved employees may recover penalties for denied meal periods under the 

PAGA, as the civil penalty under California Labor Code 558 applies to any provision regulating 

hours and days of work in any Order, and Plaintiff has fully complied with procedures specified in 

Labor Code § 2699.3. For the purposes of this cause of action, recovery of civil penalties will 

therefore also include the recovery of underpaid wages pursuant to Labor Code §§ 558(a)(1)-(3), 

in an amount according to proof and subject to Court approval.  

/// 

/// 

/// 
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

PENALTIES UNDER THE PAGA FOR REST-BREAK LIABILITY UNDER  

LABOR CODE §§ 226.7, 512 

(Against All Defendants) 

116. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all preceding paragraphs, as though set forth in 

full herein. 

117. Section 12(A)-(B) of IWC Wage Order No. 1 instructs that:  “(A) Every employer 

shall authorize and permit all employees to take rest periods, which insofar as practicable shall be 

in the middle of each work period. The authorized rest period time shall be based on the total 

hours worked daily at the rate of ten (10) minutes net rest time per four (4) hours or major fraction 

thereof. However, a rest period need not be authorized for employees whose total daily work time 

is less than three and one-half (31/2) hours. Authorized rest period time shall be counted as hours 

worked for which there shall be no deduction from wages. (B) If an employer fails to provide an 

employee a rest period in accordance with the applicable provisions of this order, the employer 

shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation for 

each work day that the rest period is not provided.”   

118. Labor Code § 226.7 further instructs that:  “(b) An employer shall not require an 

employee to work during a meal or rest or recovery period mandated pursuant to an applicable 

statute, or applicable regulation, standard, or order of the Industrial Welfare Commission,… (c) If 

an employer fails to provide an employee a meal or rest or recovery period in accordance with a 

state law,… the employer shall pay the employee one additional hour of pay at the employee’s 

regular rate of compensation for each workday that the meal or rest or recovery period is not 

provided. (d) A rest or recovery period mandated pursuant to a state law,… shall be counted as 

hours worked, for which there shall be no deduction from wages….”  

119. Labor Code § 226.7 and paragraph 12 of the applicable IWC Wage Orders thus 

provide that employers must authorize and permit all employees to take rest periods at the rate of 

ten (10) minutes net rest time per four (4) work hours. 

120. Employees consistently worked consecutive four (4) hour shifts and were generally 
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scheduled for shifts of greater than 3.5 hours total, thus requiring Defendants to authorize and 

permit them to take rest periods. Pursuant to the Labor Code and the applicable IWC Wage Order, 

Employees were entitled to paid rest breaks of not less than ten (10) minutes for each consecutive 

four (4) hour shift, and Defendants failed to provide Employees with timely rest breaks of not less 

than ten (10) minutes for each consecutive four (4) hour shift. Employees were often required to 

work or to otherwise remain under Defendants’ control during rest periods, and had breaks 

provided untimely as a result of the above described off the clock work. Defendants, and each of 

them, have therefore intentionally and improperly denied rest periods to Plaintiff and the 

Aggrieved Employees in violation of Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512 and paragraph 12 of the 

applicable IWC Wage Orders.   

121. Plaintiff seeks to recover civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA that arise from the 

policies, practices and business acts of Defendants to the extent provided by law as a 

Representative Action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and underpayment of 

wages as permitted by Labor Code § 558, as a separate penalty provided by the PAGA statute. 

Labor Code § 558 provides in pertinent part: 

(a) Any employer or other person acting on behalf of an employer 

who violates, or causes to be violated, a section of this chapter or any 

provision regulating hours and days of work in any order of the Industrial 

Welfare Commission shall be subject to a civil penalty as follows: (1) For 

any initial violation, fifty dollars ($50) for each underpaid employee for 

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 

amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (2) For each subsequent 

violation, one hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for 

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 

amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (3) Wages recovered 

pursuant to this section shall be paid to the affected employee…. 

 (c) The civil penalties provided for in this section are in addition to 

any other civil or criminal penalty provided by law. 

 

122. Section 2(G) of IWC Wage Order No. 1 defines “Hours worked” as “the time 

during which an employee is subject to the control of an employer, and includes all the time the 

employee is suffered or permitted to work, whether or not required to do so.” 

/// 
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123. Labor Code § 1198 also requires that: “The maximum hours of work and the 

standard conditions of labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the 

standard conditions of labor for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours 

than those fixed by the order or under conditions of labor prohibited by the order is unlawful.” 

Labor Code § 1198 therefore provides a basis in the Labor Code to recover for violations of the 

IWC Wage Order provisions, and Labor Code § 2699.5 list Section 1198 as one of the provisions 

for which a representative PAGA action may be commenced under Labor Code § 2699.3.  

124. Premium pay for denied lawful meal and rest periods is considered a “wage” rather 

than a penalty. See Murphy v. Kennefh Cole Prods., Inc. (2007) 40 Cal. 4th 1094, 1114. 

125. Plaintiff seeks to recover civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA that arise from the 

policies, practices, and business acts of Defendants to the extent provided by law as a 

Representative Action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and underpayment of wages 

as permitted by Labor Code § 558, as a separate penalty provided by the PAGA statute. 

126. Labor Code § 2699(f)(2) states: “For all provisions of this code except those 

for which a civil penalty is specifically provided, there is established a civil penalty for a violation 

of these provisions, as follows ... (2) If, at the time of the alleged violation, the person employs 

one or more employees, the civil penalty is one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved 

employee per pay period for the initial violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation.” 

127. Labor Code § 2699.3 allows “(a) A civil action by an aggrieved employee pursuant 

to subdivision (a) or (f) of Section 2699 alleging a violation of any provision listed in Section 

2699.5” to commence upon satisfaction of its written notice requirements. Additionally, Labor 

Code § 2699.5 provides, in pertinent part that “[t]he provisions of subdivision (a) of Section 

2699.3 apply to any alleged violation of the following provisions: “[Labor Code §§] 226.7, 

…512,…558,… and 1198” among the provisions of the Code that allow for recovery of civil 

penalties pursuant to the PAGA. 

128. Defendants’ conduct, as alleged herein, violates the aforementioned regulations 

because Defendants failed to properly provide Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt 
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employees with lawful uninterrupted off-duty, net ten-minute rest periods throughout the 

applicable statutory period. Defendants also systematically denied Plaintiff and other Aggrieved 

Employees proper premium pay at the rate of one hour of pay at their regular pay rates for each 

work shift they were denied one of their lawfully entitled rest periods.  

129. As such, Defendants are liable for PAGA penalties resulting from their failure to 

provide Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt employees lawful rest periods and the 

corresponding rest period premium pay. Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to recover, and hereby 

seeks through this Representative Action, all civil and statutory penalties authorized for violations 

of California Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, 558, and 1198, and Section 12(A)-(B) of the applicable 

IWC Wage Orders, and Plaintiff seeks all civil and statutory penalties available and applicable 

under Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, 558, including sections 558(a)(1)-(3), and 2699(f)(2), and also 

attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(g)(1).  

130. Aggrieved employees may recover penalties for denied rest periods under the 

PAGA, as the civil penalty under California Labor Code 558 applies to any provision regulating 

hours and days of work in any Order, and Plaintiff has fully complied with procedures specified in 

Labor Code § 2699.3. For the purposes of this cause of action, recovery of civil penalties will 

therefore also include the recovery of underpaid wages pursuant to Labor Code §§ 558(a)(1)-(3), 

in an amount according to proof and subject to Court approval.  

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

PENALTIES UNDER THE PAGA FOR FAILURE TO REIMBURSE NECESSARY 

BUSINESS EXPENSES UNDER LABOR CODE § 2802 

(Against All Defendants) 

131. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all preceding paragraphs, as though set forth in 

full herein. 

132. Plaintiff is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that throughout the 

period applicable, Defendants required Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees to pay for 

necessary work related expenses they incurred, including expenses for tools as addressed above. 

Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were not reimbursed for those lawful and necessary work 
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related expenses or losses incurred in direct discharge of their job duties during employment with 

Defendants and at the direction of the Defendants pursuant to Labor Code § 2802(a) and the 

applicable IWC Wage Orders, paragraph 9.  

133. Labor Code § 2802 provides that:  “(a) An employer shall indemnify his or her 

employee for all necessary expenditures or losses incurred by the employee in direct consequence 

of the discharge of his or her duties, or of his or her obedience to the directions of the employer,… 

(b) All awards made by a court or by the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement for 

reimbursement of necessary expenditures under this section shall carry interest at the same rate as 

judgments in civil actions. Interest shall accrue from the date on which the employee incurred the 

necessary expenditure or loss. (c) For purposes of this section, the term “necessary expenditures or 

losses” shall include all reasonable costs, including, but not limited to, attorney’s fees incurred by 

the employee enforcing the rights granted by this section….”  

134. Section 9(B) of IWC Wage Order No. 1 instructs that:  “When tools or equipment 

are required by the employer or are necessary to the performance of a job, such tools and 

equipment shall be provided and maintained by the employer, except that an employee whose 

wages are at least two (2) times the minimum wage provided herein may be required to provide 

and maintain hand tools and equipment customarily required by the trade or craft….”  

135. Defendants’ knowing and willful failure to reimburse lawful necessary work related 

expenses and losses to Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees resulted in damages and loses 

because, among other things, Defendants did not inform employees of their right to be reimbursed 

for those work related expenses. As Defendants failed to inform and misled Plaintiff and the 

Aggrieved Employees with regard to their rights, Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were led 

to believe that incurring those lawful and necessary expenses was an expected and essential 

function of their employment with Defendants and that failure to incur those expenses would have 

adverse consequences on their employment. 

136. Labor Code § 2699(f)(2) states that: “For all provisions of this code except those 

for which a civil penalty is specifically provided, there is established a civil penalty for a violation 

of these provisions, as follows ... (2) If, at the time of the alleged violation, the person employs 
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one or more employees, the civil penalty is one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved 

employee per pay period for the initial violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation.” 

137. Labor Code § 2699.3 allows “(a) A civil action by an aggrieved employee pursuant 

to subdivision (a) or (f) of Section 2699 alleging a violation of any provision listed in Section 

2699.5” to commence upon satisfaction of its written notice requirements. Additionally, Labor 

Code § 2699.5 provides, in pertinent part that “[t]he provisions of subdivision (a) of Section 

2699.3 apply to any alleged violation of the following provisions: [Labor Code §§] 2802…” 

among the provisions of the Code that allow for recovery of civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA. 

138. As such, Defendants are liable for PAGA penalties resulting from their failure to 

reimburse necessary business expenses incurred by the Aggrieved Employees. Accordingly, 

Plaintiff is entitled to recover, and hereby seeks through this Representative Action, all civil and 

statutory penalties authorized for violations of California Labor Code §§ 1198 and 2802, and 

Section 9(B) of the applicable IWC Wage Orders, and Plaintiff seeks all civil and statutory 

penalties available and applicable under Labor Code §§ 2802 and 2699(f)(2), and also attorneys’ 

fees and costs pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(g)(1).  

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

PENALTIES UNDER THE PAGA FOR FAILURE TO PROVIDE ACCURATE 

ITEMIZED WAGE STATEMENTS UNDER LABOR CODE § 226(a) AND KEEP 

ACCURATE PAYROLL RECORDS UNDER LABOR CODE § 1174 

(Against All Defendants) 

139. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all preceding paragraphs, as though set forth in 

full herein. 

140. Plaintiff seeks civil penalties against Defendants for failure to provide Plaintiff and 

the other Aggrieved Employees accurate itemized wage statements during the applicable statutory 

period. 

141. California Labor Code § 226(a) requires an employer to furnish each of his or her 

employees with an accurate, itemized statement in writing showing the gross and net earnings, 
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total hours worked, and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate; these 

statements must be appended to the detachable part of the check, draft, voucher, or whatever else 

serves to pay the employee’s wages; or, if wages are paid by cash or personal check, these 

statements may be given to the employee separately from the payment of wages; in either case the 

employer must give the employee these statements twice a month or each time wages are paid.  

142. Similarly, Sections 7(A)-(B) of IWC Wage Order No. 1 provide: “ (A) Every 

employer shall keep accurate information with respect to each employee including the following: 

(1) Full name, home address, occupation and social security number. (2) Birth date, if under 18 

years, and designation as a minor. (3) Time records showing when the employee begins and ends 

each work period. Meal periods, split shift intervals and total daily hours worked shall also be 

recorded. Meal periods during which operations cease and authorized rest periods need not be 

recorded. (4) Total wages paid each payroll period, including value of board, lodging, or other 

compensation actually furnished to the employee. (5) Total hours worked in the payroll period and 

applicable rates of pay. This information shall be made readily available to the employee upon 

reasonable request. (6) When a piece rate or incentive plan is in operation, piece rates or an 

explanation of the incentive plan formula shall be provided to employees. An accurate production 

record shall be maintained by the employer. (B) Every employer shall semimonthly or at the time 

of each payment of wages furnish each employee, either as a detachable part of the check, draft, or 

voucher paying the employee’s wages, or separately, an itemized statement in writing showing: 

(1) all deductions; (2) the inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is paid; (3) the 

name of the employee or the employee’s social security number; and (4) the name of the 

employer, provided all deductions made on written orders of the employee may be aggregated and 

shown as one item.”   

143. Sections 7(C) of IWC Wage Order No. 1 further requires that: “All required records 

shall be in the English language and in ink or other indelible form, properly dated, showing month, 

day, and year and shall be kept on file by the employer for at least three (3) years at the place of 

employment or at a central location within the State of California. An employee’s records shall be 

available for inspection by the employee upon reasonable request.” 

Exhibit A

Exhibit A

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-1   Filed 03/08/19   Page 42 of 65   Page ID #:55



 

 - 43 -  
REPRESENTATIVE ACTION COMPLAINT UNDER THE PAGA  

 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

144. Labor Code § 226.3 also instructs that:  “Any employer who violates subdivision 

(a) of Section 226 shall be subject to a civil penalty in the amount of two hundred fifty dollars 

($250) per employee per violation in an initial citation and one thousand dollars ($1,000) per 

employee for each violation in a subsequent citation, for which the employer fails to provide the 

employee a wage deduction statement or fails to keep the records required in subdivision (a) of 

Section 226. The civil penalties provided for in this section are in addition to any other penalty 

provided by law.” 

145. Defendants failed to provide Employees with accurate itemized wage statements in 

writing, as required by the Labor Code. Specifically, the wage statements given to Employees by 

Defendants failed to accurately account for wages, overtime, and premium pay for deficient meal 

periods and rest breaks, and rounded timekeeping entries to the detriment of the Aggrieved 

Employees, all of which Defendants knew or reasonably should have known were owed to 

Employees, as alleged above. 

146. Throughout the liability period, Defendants intentionally failed to furnish to 

Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees, upon each payment of wages, itemized statements 

accurately showing: (1) gross wages earned, (2) total hours worked by the employee, (3) the 

number of piece-rate units earned and any applicable piece rate paid on a piece-rate basis, (4) all 

deductions, (5) net wages earned, (6) the inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is 

paid, (7) the name of the employee and only the last four digits of his or her social security 

number or an employee identification number other than a social security number, (8) the name 

and address of the legal entity that is the employer and (9) all applicable hourly rates in effect 

during the pay period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the 

employee pursuant to Labor Code § 226, amongst other statutory requirements. Defendants 

knowingly and intentionally failed to provide Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees with such 

timely and accurate wage and hour statements. 

147. Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees suffered injury as a result of Defendants’ 

knowing and intentional failure to provide them with the wage and hour statements as required by 

law and are presumed to have suffered injury and entitled to penalties under Labor Code § 
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226(e), as the Defendants have failed to provide a wage statement, failed to provide accurate and 

complete information as required by any one or more of items Labor Code § 226 (a)(1) to (9), 

inclusive, and the Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees cannot promptly and easily determine from 

the wage statement alone one or more of the following: (i) The amount of the gross wages or net 

wages paid to the employee during the pay period or any of the other information required to be 

provided on the itemized wage statement pursuant to items (2) to (4), inclusive, (6), and (9) of 

subdivision (a), (ii) Which deductions the employer made from gross wages to determine the net 

wages paid to the employee during the pay period, (iii) The name and address of the employer 

and, (iv) The name of the employee and only the last four digits of his or her social security 

number or an employee identification number other than a social security number. For purposes 

of Labor Code § 226(e) “promptly and easily determine” means a reasonable person [i.e. an 

objective standard] would be able to readily ascertain the information without reference to other 

documents or information. 

148. Therefore, as a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ violations of Labor Code 

§ 226(a), Employees suffered injuries, including among other things confusion over whether they 

received all wages owed them and the total numbers of hours they worked in a pay period, the 

difficulty and expense involved in reconstructing pay records, and forcing them to make 

mathematical computations to analyze whether the wages paid in fact compensated them correctly 

for all hours worked. Labor Code § 226(e)(1) further instructs that: ”An employee suffering injury 

as a result of a knowing and intentional failure by an employer to comply with subdivision (a) is 

entitled to recover the greater of all actual damages or fifty dollars ($50) for the initial pay period 

in which a violation occurs and one hundred dollars ($100) per employee for each violation in a 

subsequent pay period, not to exceed an aggregate penalty of four thousand dollars ($4,000), and 

is entitled to an award of costs and reasonable attorney’s fees.” 

149. In addition to these statutory penalties under Section 226(e), Plaintiff also seeks 

civil penalties under the PAGA against Defendants for providing inaccurate wage statements and 

also for failure to maintain accurate Employee records during the applicable statutory period. 

150. To this end, Labor Code § 1174 provides that:  “Every person employing labor in 
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this state shall:….(c) Keep a record showing the names and addresses of all employees employed 

and the ages of all minors. (d) Keep, at a central location in the state or at the plants or 

establishments at which employees are employed, payroll records showing the hours worked daily 

by and the wages paid to, and the number of piece-rate units earned by and any applicable piece 

rate paid to, employees employed at the respective plants or establishments. These records shall be 

kept in accordance with rules established for this purpose by the commission, but in any case shall 

be kept on file for not less than three years…”   

151. Labor Code § 1174.5 further provides that:  “Any person employing labor who 

willfully fails to maintain the records required by subdivision (c) of Section 1174 or accurate and 

complete records required by subdivision (d) of Section 1174, or to allow any member of the 

commission or employees of the division to inspect records pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 

1174, shall be subject to a civil penalty of five hundred dollars ($500).”  

152. Plaintiff seeks to recover civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA that arise from the 

policies, practices and business acts of Defendants to the extent provided by law as a 

Representative Action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and underpayment of wages 

as permitted by Labor Code § 558, as a separate penalty provided by the PAGA statute.  

153. As alleged in more detail above, Defendants violated the above statutes by failing 

to maintain accurate payroll records showing the hours worked daily by, and the wages paid to, 

Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt employees. Defendants’ payroll records pertaining to 

Plaintiff and other aggrieved non-exempt employees fail to accurately reflect all regular and 

overtime hours worked, overtime hourly rates, actual gross wages and net wages earned, meal 

periods, and premium wages owed for denied lawful meal and rest periods. 

154. Labor Code § 2699(f)(2) states that: “For all provisions of this code except those 

for which a civil penalty is specifically provided, there is established a civil penalty for a violation 

of these provisions, as follows ... (2) If, at the time of the alleged violation, the person employs 

one or more employees, the civil penalty is one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved 

employee per pay period for the initial violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation.” 
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155. Labor Code § 2699.3 allows “(a) A civil action by an aggrieved employee pursuant 

to subdivision (a) or (f) of Section 2699 alleging a violation of any provision listed in Section 

2699.5” to commence upon satisfaction of its written notice requirements. Additionally, Labor 

Code § 2699.5 provides, in pertinent part that “[t]he provisions of subdivision (a) of Section 

2699.3 apply to any alleged violation of the following provisions: [Labor Code §§] 226,… 

subdivisions (c) and (d) of Section 1174,… 1198,…1199,…” among the provisions of the Code 

that allow for recovery of civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA. 

156. Labor Code § 1198 also requires that: “The maximum hours of work and the 

standard conditions of labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the 

standard conditions of labor for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours 

than those fixed by the order or under conditions of labor prohibited by the order is unlawful.” 

Labor Code § 1198 therefore provides a basis in the Labor Code to recover for violations of the 

IWC Wage Order provisions, and Labor Code § 2699.5 list Section 1198 as one of the provisions 

for which a representative PAGA action may be commenced under Labor Code § 2699.3. 

157. As such, Defendants are liable for PAGA penalties resulting from their failure to 

provide accurate itemized wage statements to Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees and failure 

to maintain employment records for Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees under Labor Code §§ 226, 

1174, 1198, and 1198.5, and Sections 7(A), 7(B), and 7(C) of the applicable IWC Wage Order(s), 

and Plaintiff seeks all civil and statutory penalties and wages available and applicable under Labor 

Code §§ 226(e), 226.3, 558, 1174.5, and 2699(f)(2), and also for attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant 

to Labor Code § 2699(g)(1).  

158. Plaintiff has fully complied with procedures specified in Labor Code § 2699.3. For 

the purposes of this cause of action, recovery of civil penalties will therefore also include the 

recovery of underpaid wages pursuant to Labor Code §§ 558(a)(1)-(3).  

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

PENALTIES UNDER THE PAGA FOR FAILURE TO TIMELY PAY ALL WAGES 

OWED IN VIOLATION OF LABOR CODE §§ 203, 204 

(Against All Defendants) 

159. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all preceding paragraphs, as though set forth in 

full herein.  

160. Plaintiff and numerous Aggrieved Employees are no longer employed by 

Defendants; they either quit Defendants’ employ or were fired therefrom. Plaintiff seeks civil 

penalties against Defendants for their failure to timely pay Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employee 

all wages owed during the applicable statutory period. Defendants failed to pay these Employees 

all wages due and certain at the time of termination or within seventy-two (72) hours of 

resignation. The wages withheld from these Employees by Defendants remained due and owing 

for more than thirty (30) days from the date of separation from employment.  

161. Under Labor Code § 201, “(a) If an employer discharges an employee, the wages 

earned and unpaid at the time of discharge are due and payable immediately….”  Under Labor 

Code § 202, “(a) If an employee not having a written contract for a definite period quits his or her 

employment, his or her wages shall become due and payable not later than 72 hours thereafter, 

unless the employee has given 72 hours previous notice of his or her intention to quit, in which 

case the employee is entitled to his or her wages at the time of quitting.” 

162. Labor Code § 203 further provides:  “(a) If an employer willfully fails to pay, 

without abatement or reduction, in accordance with Sections 201, 201.3, 201.5, 201.9, 202, and 

205.5, any wages of an employee who is discharged or who quits, the wages of the employee shall 

continue as a penalty from the due date thereof at the same rate until paid or until an action 

therefor is commenced; but the wages shall not continue for more than 30 days….”   

163. Under Labor Code § 2926, “[a]n employee who is not employed for a specified 

term and who is dismissed by his employer is entitled to compensation for services rendered up to 

the time of such dismissal.” Also, under Labor Code § 2927, “[a]n employee who is not employed 

for a specified term and who quits the service of his employer is entitled to compensation for 
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services rendered up to the time of such quitting.” 

164. Labor Code § 204(a) also instructs that:  “All wages, …earned by any person in 

any employment are due and payable twice during each calendar month, on days designated in 

advance by the employer as the regular paydays. Labor performed between the 1st and 15th days, 

inclusive, of any calendar month shall be paid for between the 16th and the 26th day of the month 

during which the labor was performed, and labor performed between the 16th and the last day, 

inclusive, of any calendar month, shall be paid for between the 1st and 10th day of the following 

month.”  Under Labor Code § 204(d), “[t]he requirements of this section shall be deemed satisfied 

by the payment of wages for weekly, biweekly, or semimonthly payroll if the wages are paid not 

more than seven calendar days following the close of the payroll period.”  As detailed above, 

Defendants maintained a consistently applied policy and practice of not paying all wages earned 

between the 1st and 15th days of a month between the 16th and 26th day and failed to pay all 

wages earned between the 16th and the last day of the month between the 1st and 10th day of the 

following month. Defendants similarly failed to pay all wages earned by not more than seven 

calendar days following the close of the payroll period.  

165. Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees without abatement, 

all wages as defined by applicable California law. Among other things, these Employees were not 

paid all regular and overtime wages, including by Defendants failing to pay for all hours worked 

or requiring off the clock work or by unlawful rounding of time entries to the detriment of 

Employees, and by failing to correctly calculate the regular rate used to calculate and pay overtime 

compensation, and Defendants failed to pay premium wages owed for unprovided meal periods 

and rest periods, as further detailed in this Complaint. Defendants’ failure to pay said wages 

within the required time was willful within the meaning of Labor Code § 203. 

166. All wages due and owing to Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees, including as 

required under Labor Code § 510, were therefore not timely paid by Defendants. Additionally, 

wages required by Labor Code § 1194 and other sections became due and payable to each 

employee in each pay period that he or she was not provided with a meal period or rest period or 

paid straight or overtime wages to which he or she was entitled.  
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167. Under Labor Code § 210, “(a) In addition to, and entirely independent and apart 

from, any other penalty provided in this article, every person who fails to pay the wages of each 

employee as provided in Sections 201.3, 204, 204b, 204.1, 204.2, 205, 205.5, and 1197.5, shall be 

subject to a civil penalty as follows: (1) For any initial violation, one hundred dollars ($100) for 

each failure to pay each employee. (2) For each subsequent violation, or any willful or intentional 

violation, two hundred dollars ($200) for each failure to pay each employee, plus 25 percent of the 

amount unlawfully withheld.” 

168. Similarly, Section 20 of IWC Wage Order No. 1 addresses further penalties as 

follows: “(A) In addition to any other civil penalties provided by law, any employer or any other 

person acting on behalf of the employer who violates, or causes to be violated, the provisions of 

this order, shall be subject to the civil penalty of: (1) Initial Violation — $50.00 for each 

underpaid employee for each pay period during which the employee was underpaid in addition to 

the amount which is sufficient to recover unpaid wages. (2) Subsequent Violations — $100.00 for 

each underpaid employee for each pay period during which the employee was underpaid in 

addition to an amount which is sufficient to recover unpaid wages. (3) The affected employee shall 

receive payment of all wages recovered.”  

169. Plaintiff seeks to recover civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA that arise from the 

policies, practices and business acts of Defendants to the extent provided by law as a 

Representative Action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and underpayment of wages 

as permitted by Labor Code § 558, as a separate civil penalty provided by the PAGA statute. 

170. Defendants violated the above statutes by failing to promptly pay Plaintiff and 

other aggrieved non-exempt employees all earned wages due each and every pay period, as well as 

immediately upon termination and/or within 72 hours upon resignation. 

171. During the applicable statutory period, Defendants violated, and continue to 

violate, California Labor Code § 204 and Section 20 of IWC Wage Order No. 1 by failing to 

compensate Plaintiff and other aggrieved hourly employee overtime premium wages for overtime 

hours worked, premium pay for denied off-duty meal and rest periods (wages), and other wages 

due to Plaintiff and other Aggrieved Employees each pay period, as alleged in more detail herein. 
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172. Further, Defendants violated, and continue to violate, California Labor Code §§ 

201-204, 2926, and 2927 by failing to compensate employees, including Plaintiff and other 

Aggrieved Employees no longer working for Defendants, for services rendered up to the time of 

dismissal or quitting. 

173. Labor Code § 2699(f)(2) states: “For all provisions of this code except those 

for which a civil penalty is specifically provided, there is established a civil penalty for a violation 

of these provisions, as follows ... (2) If, at the time of the alleged violation, the person employs 

one or more employees, the civil penalty is one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved 

employee per pay period for the initial violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation.” 

174. Labor Code § 2699.3 allows “(a) A civil action by an aggrieved employee pursuant 

to subdivision (a) or (f) of Section 2699 alleging a violation of any provision listed in Section 

2699.5” to commence upon satisfaction of its written notice requirements. Additionally, Labor 

Code § 2699.5 provides, in pertinent part that “[t]he provisions of subdivision (a) of Section 

2699.3 apply to any alleged violation of the following provisions: “[Labor Code §§] 201,… 202, 

203, …204,… 558,…1198,….” among the provisions of the Code that allow for recovery of civil 

or statutory penalties pursuant to the PAGA. 

175. Defendants are liable for PAGA penalties resulting from their failure to timely pay 

all wages owed to Plaintiff and other Aggrieved Employees at the time of their termination of 

separation from employment, and failure to timely pay all wages owed twice monthly. 

Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to recover, and hereby seeks through this Representative Action, 

all civil and statutory penalties authorized for violations under Labor Code §§ 201, 201, 203, 204, 

1197.5, 1198, 2926, and 2927, and Plaintiff seeks all civil penalties available and applicable, and 

wages, under Labor Code §§ 201, 202, 203, 210, 558, 1197, and 2699(f)(2), and Section 20 of the 

applicable IWC Wage Order(s), and also for attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to Labor Code § 

2699(g)(1). 

176. Aggrieved Employees may recover penalties for Defendants’ failure to timely pay 

all wages owed, as the civil penalty under California Labor Code 558 applies to any provision 
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regulating hours and days of work in any Order, and Plaintiff has fully complied with procedures 

specified in Labor Code § 2699.3. For the purposes of this cause of action, recovery of civil 

penalties will therefore also include the recovery of underpaid wages pursuant to Labor Code §§ 

558(a)(1)-(3), in an amount according to proof and subject to Court approval.  

RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for the following relief: 

1. On the First Cause of Action: For recovery of all civil penalties for unpaid 

minimum and regular wages for all hours worked during the applicable statutory period as 

permitted by California Labor Code §§ 510, 1194, 1197, 1197.1, 1198, 221 and 204 and Sections 

2(K), 4, and 20 of the applicable IWC Wage Order(s), including civil and statutory penalties 

available and applicable, and wages, under Labor Code §§ 510, 558, 1194.2, 1197.1, 1199, 

2699(f)(2), and 2699.5, to be distributed in the manner provided by Labor Code § 2699(i), with 

75% of recovery to the LWDA and 25% of the recovery to the Aggrieved Employees in an 

amount according to proof and subject to approval by the Court; 

2. On the Second Cause of Action: For recovery of all civil penalties for unpaid 

overtime and premium wages for all hours worked during the applicable statutory period as 

permitted by Labor Code §§ 510, 1194, 1197, 1197.1, 1198, and 204 and Sections 2(K), 4, and 20 

of the applicable IWC Wage Order(s), including all civil and statutory penalties available and 

applicable, and wages, under Labor Code §§ 510, 558, 1194.2, 1197.1, 1199, 2699(f)(2), and 

2699.5, with 75% of recovery to the LWDA and 25% of the recovery to the Aggrieved Employees 

in an amount according to proof and subject to approval by the Court;   

3. On the Third Cause of Action: For recovery of all civil penalties for non-compliant 

meal periods during the applicable statutory period and failure to pay one-hour of premium wages 

to Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees as permitted by Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, 558, and 

1198, and Section 11(A)-(E) of the applicable IWC Wage Orders, including all civil and statutory 

penalties available and applicable under Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, 558, including sections 

558(a)(1)-(3), 2699.3, and 2699(f)(2), to be distributed in the manner provided by Labor Code § 

2699(i), with 75% of recovery to the LWDA and 25% of the recovery to the Aggrieved 
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Employees in an amount according to proof and subject to approval by the Court.  

4. On the Fourth Cause of Action: For recovery of all civil penalties for non-

compliant rest periods during the applicable statutory period and failure to pay one-hour of 

premium wages to Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees as permitted by Labor Code §§ 226.7, 

512, 558, and 1198, and Section 11(A)-(E) of the applicable IWC Wage Orders, including all civil 

and statutory penalties available and applicable under Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, 558, including 

sections 558(a)(1)-(3), 2699.3, and 2699(f)(2), to be distributed in the manner provided by Labor 

Code § 2699(i), with 75% of recovery to the LWDA and 25% of the recovery to the Aggrieved 

Employees in an amount according to proof and subject to approval by the Court. 

5. On the Fifth Cause of Action: For recovery of all civil penalties for Defendants’ 

failure to reimburse all necessary business expenses incurred by Plaintiff and the Aggrieved 

Employees as permitted by Labor Code §§ 1198 and 2802, and Section 9(B) of the applicable 

IWC Wage Orders, including all civil and statutory penalties available and applicable under Labor 

Code §§ 2802 and 2699(f)(2), to be distributed in the manner provided by Labor Code § 2699(i), 

with 75% of recovery to the LWDA and 25% of the recovery to the Aggrieved Employees in an 

amount according to proof and subject to approval by the Court.  

6. On the Sixth Cause of Action: For recovery of all civil penalties for inaccurate 

wage statements Defendants provided to Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees and failure to 

maintain employment records as permitted by Labor Code §§ 226, 1174, 1198, and 1198.5, and 

Sections 7(A), 7(B), and 7(C) of the applicable IWC Wage Order(s), including all civil and 

statutory penalties available and applicable under Labor Code §§ 226(e), 226.3, 558, 1174.5, and 

2699(f)(2), to be distributed in the manner provided by Labor Code § 2699(i), with 75% of 

recovery to the LWDA and 25% of the recovery to the Aggrieved Employees in an amount 

according to proof and subject to approval by the Court;   

7. On the Seventh Cause of Action: For recovery of all civil penalties pursuant to 

Labor Code § 2699(f)(2) where a statutory civil penalty is not provided, for failing to timely pay 

all wages owed and to timely pay them to Aggrieved Employees upon termination or separation 

from employment as permitted under Labor Code §§ 201, 201, 203, 204, 1197.5, 1198, 2926, and 
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2927, including all civil and statutory penalties, and wages, available and applicable under Labor 

Code §§ 201, 202, 203, 210, 558, 1197, and 2699(f)(2), and Section 20 of the applicable IWC 

Wage Order(s), to be distributed in the manner provided by Labor Code § 2699(i), with 75% of 

recovery to the LWDA and 25% of the recovery to the Aggrieved Employees in an amount 

according to proof and subject to approval by the Court; 

8. For reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit to the extent permitted under the 

PAGA and applicable Labor Code sections, including Labor Code § 2699(g)(1), in an amount 

according to proof and subject to Court approval.  

9. For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the legal rate of 10% in the State of 

California on readily calculable monies due to the extent provided by California law and 

authorized under the PAGA, in an amount according to proof; 

10. For the Court to otherwise determine the appropriate remedy to compensate 

Plaintiff and each Aggrieved Employee as required to promote fairness and justice; and  

11. For such other and further relief as this Court may deem necessary, proper and/or 

just. 

 

DATED:  January 23, 2019 DAVID YEREMIAN & ASSOCIATES, INC.  
 
 

 

By _____________________________ 

     David Yeremian 
     Alvin B. Lindsay 
     Attorneys for Plaintiff HENRY CARDIEL 
     and all similarly aggrieved employees 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff hereby demands trial of his claims by jury to the extent authorized by law. 

 

DATED: January 23, 2019 DAVID YEREMIAN & ASSOCIATES, INC.  
 

 

By _____________________________ 

     David Yeremian 

     Alvin B. Lindsay 
     Attorneys for Plaintiff HENRY CARDIEL 
     and all similarly aggrieved employees 
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THE LAW OFFICES OF 

DAVID YEREMIAN 
& ASSOCIATES INC 

535 N BRAND BLVD STE 705 

GLENDALE CA 91203 

818 230 8380 

818 230 0308 FAX 

DAVID@YEREMIANLAW.COM; ALVIN@YEREMIANLAW.COM 
 

November 20, 2018 

 

VIA ON-LINE SUBMISSION ONLY TO: 
https://dir.tfaforms.net/128  (copy by certified mail to MillerCoors LLC) 

 

Private Attorneys General Act  

Attn. PAGA Administrator 

455 Golden Gate Avenue, 9th Floor 

San Francisco, CA 94102 

 

MillerCoors LLC 

250 South Wacker Drive, Suite 800 

Chicago, Illinois 60606 
Certified Mail Tracking Number: 7017 0660 0001 0786 5361 

 

MillerCoors LLC 

Incorporating Services, LTD., Agent for Service of Process 

7801 Folsom Boulevard, Suite 202 

Sacramento, CA 95826 
Certified Mail Tracking Number: 7017 0660 0001 0786 5354 

 

Re: Labor Code § 2698, et seq. Penalties – PAGA Notice Letter 

Henry Cardiel, et al. v. MillerCoors LLC 

 

Gentlepersons: 

 

This office represents Plaintiff Henry Cardiel (“Plaintiff”) and other aggrieved employees 

(collectively “Aggrieved Employees”) for, inter alia, violations of California Labor Code 

§§ 201, 202, 203, 204, 210, 221, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 558, 558.1, 1174, 1174.5, 1182.12, 

1185, 1194, 1194.2, 1197, 1198, 1199, 2802, 2698, and 2699, et seq.; provisions of the 

Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) Wage Order(s); and California Business & 

Professions Code § 17200 et seq.  

 

The purpose of this letter is to comply with the Private Attorneys General Act of 2004, 

pursuant to California Labor Code § 2698 et. seq. (“the Act”). Plaintiff wishes to bring a 

representative action, pursuant to the Act, on behalf of himself and all other similarly 

situated Aggrieved Employees, and the State of California, against Defendant, 

MillerCoors LLC and DOES 1 through 50 inclusive (defendants being referred to herein 

collectively as “Defendants”). 

 

Additionally, this correspondence will serve to satisfy the notice requirements under the 

Act. 

 

We also herein set forth the facts and theories and the California Labor Code violations 

which Defendants engaged in with respect to Plaintiff and all of their Aggrieved 

Employees in California. The attached Class Action Complaint provides the details of 
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Plaintiff’s class-wide claims and the applicable California law governing them. It, along 

with this Notice Letter, address in detail numerous violations that subject Defendant to 

civil and statutory penalties under the Act.    

 

Relevant Facts 

Plaintiff and the other similarly aggrieved brewery Employees of Defendants consistently 

worked at Defendants’ behest without being paid all wages due. More specifically, 

Defendants employed Plaintiff and the other similarly aggrieved brewery employees to 

perform assigned job duties utilizing company established processes, policies, and 

procedures. Upon information and belief, Plaintiff was employed by Defendants and (1) 

shared similar job duties and responsibilities; (2) was subjected to the same policies and 

practices; and (3) endured similar violations at the hands of Defendants as the other 

aggrieved employees who served in similar and related positions. 

 

Defendants required Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees to work off the clock and 

failed to record accurate time worked by these Employees, including by rounding hours 

worked to the nearest quarter-hour or half-hour to their detriment, failed to pay them at 

the appropriate rates for all hours worked, and provided Plaintiff and the Aggrieved 

Employees with inaccurate wage statements that prevented them from learning of these 

unlawful pay practices. Defendants also failed to provide Plaintiff and the Aggrieved 

Employees with lawful meal and rest periods, as Employees were not provided with the 

opportunity to take full uninterrupted and duty-free rest periods and meal breaks as 

required by the Labor Code.   

 

During the course of Plaintiff’s employment with Defendants, he and the Aggrieved 

Employees were not paid all wages they were owed, including for all work performed 

(resulting in “off the clock” work) and for all overtime hours worked, and were forced to 

work off-the-clock in part due to difficult to attain production requirements and demands 

Defendants’ managers placed upon them. Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees 

generally worked at least five days per work week and often more, with shifts generally 

ranging from eight and one-half hours to twelve hours for full time employees. Plaintiff’s 

assigned brewery in Irwindale operated through multiple shifts, and Plaintiff was often 

assigned to work the second or third shifts, for which he and other similarly situated 

Employees received a shift differential in addition to their regular hourly rate. Upon 

information and belief, Defendants also automatically deducted thirty-minute meal 

periods from Plaintiff and the similarly Aggrieved Employees despite the fact meal 

periods provided were shortened or were otherwise interrupted or provided untimely after 

five hours of shift work. Defendants also failed to maintain records of meal period times, 

as Aggrieved Employees were required to swipe their badges to input shift start and end 

times but were not required to do the same for meal periods.  

Defendants’ timekeeping policies and practices, which upon information and belief 

applied to all brewery facility employees uniformly, did not record actual time punches in 

and out for work shifts and meal periods, or if they did, these entries were rounded down 

to the Employees’ detriment. If Plaintiff and the other Aggrieved Employees inputted 

their actual and real times worked, they were rounded down to their substantial detriment 

to the nearest 30 minute or 15-minute increments, perhaps to conform the timekeeping 

records to their work schedules rather than reflecting the hours they actually worked. 

Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were therefore systematically underpaid for their 

hours worked by virtue of the above detailed uncompensated time and Defendants’ 

willful failure to comply with the Labor Code’s record keeping requirements. These 
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unlawfully rounded time entries were inputted into Defendants’ payroll system from 

which wage statements and payroll checks were created. By implementing policies, 

programs, practices, procedures and protocols which rounded the hours worked by 

Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees down to their detriment and systematically failed 

to pay for all hours worked, Defendants’ willful actions resulted in the systematic 

underpayment of wages to Employees, including underpayment of overtime pay over the 

relevant time period. For example, the unlawful rounding addressed above and the off the 

clock work caused Plaintiff to begin receiving overtime pay later than he should have.   

Rather than paying Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees for all hours and minutes they 

actually worked, Defendants followed a uniform policy and practice of rounding all time 

entries to the nearest quarter-hour or half-hour (i.e. to the nearest 15-minute or 30- minute 

time increment), and generally did so to the detriment of the Employees, and Plaintiff 

contends this policy is not neutral and resulted, over time, to the detriment of the 

Aggrieved Employees by systematically undercompensating them. These unlawfully 

rounded time entries were inputted into Defendants’ payroll system from which wage 

statements and payroll checks were created.  

 

Defendants paid shift differentials to Plaintiff and the similarly situated Employees 

working the later shifts, but failed to correctly calculate the regular rate of pay 

Defendants used to calculate and pay overtime to the Employees, including by failing to 

factor the shift differential into the regular rate for the regular work week hours. 

Defendants also required Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees to work performing job 

duties while off the clock and without pay, including by unlawful rounding, or provided 

shortened or untimely breaks. Defendants have also either failed to maintain timekeeping 

records for Plaintiff that would permit discovery into the nature and extent of 

Defendants’ unlawful rounding or have refused to produce them to Plaintiff in response 

to a timely request to be provided with them.  

 

As a result of the above described unlawful rounding and requirements to work off the 

clock, the failure to calculate and pay wages at the correct rates, and the other wage 

violations they endured at Defendants’ hands, Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees 

were not properly paid all wages earned and all wages owed to them by Defendants, 

including when working more than eight (8) hours in any given day and/or more than 

forty (40) hours in any given week. Moreover, the uncompensated time, discussed above, 

was worked by Aggrieved Employees in excess of 8 hours a day and/or 40 hours a week, 

further entitling Aggrieved Employees overtime wages which they were consistently 

denied, all in violation of Labor Code and applicable Wage Orders.  

 

Defendants thus had a consistent policy or practice of failing to pay Employees for all 

hours worked, and failing to pay minimum wages for all time worked, as required by 

California law. Also, from at least four (4) years prior to the filing of this lawsuit and 

continuing to the present, Defendants had a consistent policy or practice of failing to pay 

Employees overtime compensation at correctly calculated premium overtime rates for all 

hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours a day and/or forty (40) hours a week, and 

double-time rates for all hours worked in excess of twelve (12) hours a day, in violation 

of Labor Code § 510 and the corresponding sections of IWC Wage Orders. 

 

Additionally, Defendants failed to provide all the legally required unpaid, off-duty meal 

periods and all the legally required paid, off-duty rest periods to Plaintiff and the other 

Aggrieved Employees, as required by the applicable Wage Order and Labor Code. 
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Plaintiff was often unable to take a meal period and was not provided with the 

opportunity to do so as a result of Defendants’ policy and practice of placing job 

demands and management requirements above scheduled breaks. If and when he was 

able to take a first meal period, it was also often provided untimely and after the fifth 

hour of work or was again interrupted by work demands and manager requirements. 

Defendants did not schedule a second meal period on shifts over ten hours, and Plaintiff 

and the Aggrieved Employees were not provided with the opportunity to take any second 

meal periods on shifts worked over ten hours and up to twelve hours and beyond. 

Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were similarly denied the ability to take net-ten 

minute rest breaks for every four hours worked, or major fraction thereof. Defendants’ 

policies and practices have thus systematically denied them, duty-free ten-minute rest 

periods and thirty-minute, duty-free meal periods. The California Supreme Court has 

instructed that the rest period requirement “obligates employers to permit-and authorizes 

employees to take-off-duty rest periods. That is, during rest periods employers must 

relieve employees of all duties and relinquish control over how employees spend their 

time.” Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were and are under Defendants’ control 

when they remained working during breaks, and an employer cannot impose any 

restraints on employees not inherent in the rest period requirement itself. Defendants 

have provided either impermissibly shortened or untimely meal and rest breaks to 

Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees.  

 

Additionally, Defendants’ enforced a uniform policy that prevented Plaintiff and the 

Aggrieved Employees from leaving the brewery premises during their rest breaks. As for 

meal periods, to the extent Employees were permitted leave the premises for meal 

periods, they were still impermissibly shortened, as addressed above. Upon information 

and belief, there was no bell system or other alert to let Employees know when a break 

was supposed to begin. Given the above described off the clock work, these breaks were 

also frequently untimely, with meal periods being provided after the fifth hour of work on 

a shift or rest break being authorized and permitted after four hours of work, or major 

fraction thereof.  

 

Defendants thus also had a common policy and/or practice of denying Aggrieved 

Employees proper meal periods. Plaintiff and other Aggrieved Employees were required 

to perform work as ordered by Defendants for more than five (5) hours during a shift, but 

were often required to do so without receiving a compliant meal break. In fact, as 

addressed above, Defendants followed a practice of under-reporting or rounding down 

hours worked in a manner that would impact when Aggrieved Employees were to receive 

meal periods, and meal periods were therefore either provided late or were interrupted by 

work demands or shortened by the amount of walk time entailed in taking a break.  On 

occasions when Aggrieved Employees worked over 10 hours in a shift, Defendants also 

failed to provide them with a second meal period, all in violation of the Labor Code and 

applicable Wage Orders.  

 

Defendants have also consistently failed to provide Aggrieved Employees with paid rest 

breaks of not less than 10 minutes for every work period of 4 or more consecutive hours, 

as required by Labor Code and IWC Wage Orders. Specifically, Aggrieved Employees 

were required to remain on-duty during breaks or portions of their breaks, thus making 

them either untimely or shortened and on-duty, and they were also prevented from 

leaving the premises during rest breaks under Defendants’ policies.  
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Further, Defendants required Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees to incur business 

expenses in connection with performing their required job duties, including expenses for 

tool purchase and maintenance. However, Defendants failed to reimburse these necessary 

business expenses incurred by Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees, in violation of 

Labor Code § 2802.   

 

Defendants also had a common policy and/or practice of unlawfully collecting or 

deducting wages from Aggrieved Employees. As discussed above, Defendant unlawfully 

rounded their hours worked to their detriment and required off the clock work, and by not 

compensating Aggrieved Employees for all hours worked, Defendant unlawfully 

deducted wages earned by and owed to the Aggrieved Employees, in violation of Labor 

Code § 221. Defendants’ common policy and/or practice of understating the hours 

worked by Aggrieved Employees has given rise to further ongoing violations of Labor 

Code § 221.   

 

Defendants also consistently failed to issue accurate itemized wage statements as 

required by Labor Code § 226(a). These inaccuracies are based on the violations noted 

above such as failure to record all hours worked due to rounding, failure to record proper 

meal breaks and/or automatic deductions for meal breaks not properly taken. Failure to 

provide rest breaks and so forth as detailed extensively herein.  

 

In addition, the wage statements are inaccurate and in violation of Labor Code § 226(a) 

because they do not reflect the proper overtime rate for overtime hours worked which 

should have been based on the Aggrieved Employees’ regular rate of pay. This regular 

rate of pay should have factored in the shift differentials earned by Aggrieved Employees 

depending on the shift they worked. It did not. In addition, the rate of pay for each 

specific shift differential is not reflected on the wage statements (nor are their 

corresponding hours worked reflected). It only reflects the overtime and double-time 

rates for these differentials. This violates Labor Code § 226(a)(9). Moreover, the total 

hours worked listed on the wage statement, which is required on the wage statement by 

Labor Code § 226(a)(2), is incorrect. It seems to factor in the shift differential hours into 

the total hours which overstates the total hours worked making the wage statement 

inaccurate and impossible to understand. 

 

Defendants failed to pay Aggrieved Employees all wages owed, as detailed above, at the 

time of their termination or within seventy-two (72) hours of their resignation, as required 

under Labor Code § 203. Defendants also consistently failed to pay Aggrieved 

Employees all wages due on a semi-monthly basis, including for the reasons addressed 

above, thus giving rise to ongoing violations of Labor Code § 204. 

 

As addressed above and in further detail in the attached Class Action Complaint, Plaintiff 

and the Aggrieved Employees complain of the following violations committed by 

Defendants: 

 

Failure to Pay Minimum Wages 

Defendants violated the law by failing to pay Aggrieved Employees minimum wages for 

all hours worked. California Labor Code § 1197, entitled “Pay of Less Than Minimum 

Wage” states, “[t]he minimum wage for employees fixed by the commission is the 

minimum wage to be paid to employees, and the payment of a less wage than the 

minimum so fixed is unlawful.” The applicable minimum wages fixed by the commission 
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for work during the relevant period is found in the Wage Orders. Defendants had a 

common policy and/or practice of failing to pay Aggrieved Employees minimum wages 

for all hours worked. Aggrieved Employees were required to work off the clock without 

pay, and were subject to unlawful rounding of hours and failure to compensate Aggrieved 

Employees for all off the clock work they were required to complete, which compelled 

Aggrieved Employees to work hours without wages. Moreover, Defendants failed to pay 

Aggrieved Employees the minimum wage for all hours worked. Defendants have the 

ability to pay minimum wages for all time worked and have willfully refused to pay such 

wages with the intent to secure for Defendants a discount upon this indebtedness with the 

intent to annoy, harass, oppress, hinder, delay, or defraud Aggrieved Employees.  

 

In light of the forgoing, the Aggrieved Employees seek to recover wages and penalties. 

Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees are entitled to recover the unpaid minimum wages 

(including double minimum wages), liquidated damages in an amount equal to the 

minimum wages unlawfully unpaid, interest thereon and reasonable attorney’s fees and 

costs of suit pursuant to California Labor Code § 1194(a). Plaintiff and the other 

Aggrieved employees further request recovery of all unpaid wages, according to proof, 

interest, statutory costs, as well as the assessment of any statutory penalties against 

Defendants, in a sum as provided by the California Labor Code and/or other applicable 

statutes, including pursuant to Labor Code § 558, and Wage Order provisions. 

 

Failure to Pay Wages and Overtime in Violation of Labor Code § 510 

Defendants violated the law by failing to pay Aggrieved Employees earned wages and 

overtime. Specifically, Aggrieved Employees consistently worked in excess of eight (8) 

hours a day, and/or forty (40) hours a week including “pre-shift” and post-shift” hours, as 

addressed in detail above. However, Aggrieved Employees were not paid overtime wages 

for hours worked in excess of 8 hours a day. Additionally, Defendants failed to pay 

Aggrieved Employees for all hours worked and failed to pay overtime compensation at 

premium overtime rates, and Defendants failed to include all shift differentials in the 

regular rate used to calculate and pay overtime and double time wages to Plaintiff and the 

other similarly situated Aggrieved Employees. Moreover, the uncompensated time, 

discussed above, was worked by Aggrieved Employees in excess of 8 hours a day and/or 

40 hours a week, further entitling Aggrieved Employees overtime wages which they were 

consistently denied, all in violation of Labor Code § 510 and applicable Wage Order 

provisions.  

 

In light of the forgoing, Aggrieved Employees seek to recover wages and penalties 

pursuant to the California Labor Code, including Labor Code §§ 204, 510, 558, and 1194 

(and the relevant orders of the Industrial Welfare Commission). Defendants are liable to 

Employees for the full amount of all their unpaid wages and overtime compensation, with 

interest, plus their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, as well as the assessment of any 

statutory penalties against Defendants, and each of them, and any additional sums as 

provided by the Labor Code and/or other statutes and Wage Order provisions. 

 

Meal-Period Liability Under Labor Code § 226.7 

Defendants have regularly required Aggrieved Employees to work shifts in excess of five 

(5) hours without providing them with uninterrupted meal periods of not less than thirty 

(30) minutes as required under Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, and applicable Wage Orders. 

Specifically, any meal periods Aggrieved Employees did take were consistently less than 

30 minutes or were taken after their fifth consecutive hour of work due to off the clock 
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work, or were interrupted by job requirements, all in violation of the Labor Code and 

applicable Wage Orders. On shifts over ten hours, second meal periods were not 

provided. Defendants also failed to pay Aggrieved Employees “premium pay,” i.e. one 

hour of wages at each Aggrieved Employee’s effective regular rate of pay, for each meal 

period that Defendants failed to provide or deficiently provided. Therefore, pursuant to 

Labor Code § 226.7, Aggrieved Employees are entitled to damages in an amount equal to 

one (1) hour of wages at their effective hourly rates of pay for each meal period not 

provided or deficiently provided, as well as the assessment of any statutory penalties 

against the Defendants, and each of them, in a sum as provided by the Labor Code, 

including Labor Code § 558 and other applicable statutes and Wage Order provisions.  

Rest-Break Liability Under Labor Code § 226.7 

Defendants have consistently failed to provide Aggrieved Employees with paid rest 

breaks of not less than ten (10) minutes for every work period of four (4) or more 

consecutive hours, as required under Labor Code § 226.7. Specifically, Aggrieved 

Employees were required to remain under Defendants’ control during rest periods, and 

breaks were provided untimely due to off the clock work or were interrupted by work 

requirements. Defendants also failed to pay Aggrieved Employees premium pay for each 

day on which requisite rest breaks were not provided or were deficiently provided. 

Therefore, pursuant to Labor Code § 226.7, the Aggrieved Employees are entitled to 

damages in an amount equal to one (1) hour of wages at their effective hourly rates of 

pay for each meal period not provided or deficiently provided, as well as the assessment 

of any statutory penalties against the Defendants, and each of them, in a sum as provided 

by the Labor Code, including Labor Code § 558 and other applicable statutes and Wage 

Order provisions. 

 

Failure to Reimburse Necessary Business Expenses Under Labor Code § 2802 

Labor Code § 2802 requires that: “An employer shall indemnify his or her employee for 

all necessary expenditures or losses incurred by the employee in direct consequence of 

the discharge of his or her duties, …”  Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were often 

required to incur expenses, including for tool purchase and maintenance, in performing 

their daily job duties, and such expenses were necessary for performing those duties. 

However, Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees were not reimbursed by Defendants for 

those lawful and necessary work-related expenses or losses incurred in direct discharge of 

their job duties during employment with Defendants and at the direction of the 

Defendants. Plaintiffs and the Aggrieved Employees therefore seek to recover wages and 

penalties pursuant to Labor Code § 2802 and the applicable subsections therein.  

 

Unlawfully Collecting or Receiving Wages in Violation of Labor Code § 221 

Labor Code § 221 provides, “It shall be unlawful for any employer to collect or receive 

from an employee any part of wages theretofore paid by said employer to said 

employee.” As discussed above, Defendants have consistently violated Labor Code § 221 

by unlawfully collecting or deducting the Employees’ earned wages, including by the 

above described off the clock work and rounding. By not compensating Employees for all 

hours worked, Defendant unlawfully deducted wages earned by and owed to Plaintiff and 

the Aggrieved Employees, in violation of Labor Code § 221. In light of the forgoing, 

Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees seek to recover wages and penalties pursuant to 

Labor Code § 558. 

 

/// 

Exhibit A

Exhibit A

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-1   Filed 03/08/19   Page 62 of 65   Page ID #:75



 

Cardiel v MillerCoors LLC 

November 20, 2018 

Page 8 of 9 

 

Failure to Issue Accurate Wage Statements in Violation of Labor Code § 226 

California Labor Code § 226(a) requires an employer to furnish each of his or her 

employees with an accurate, itemized wage statements in writing. These statements must 

be appended to the detachable part of the check, draft, voucher, or whatever else serves to 

pay the employee’s wages; or, if wages are paid by cash or personal check, these 

statements may be given to the employee separately from the payment of wages; in either 

case the employer must give the employee these statements twice a month or each time 

wages are paid. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ violation of Labor Code 

§ 226(a), Aggrieved Employees suffered injuries, including among other things confusion 

over whether they received all wages owed them, the difficulty and expense involved in 

reconstructing pay records, and forcing them to make mathematical computations to 

analyze whether the wages paid in fact compensated them correctly for all hours worked. 

 

Defendants failed to provide Aggrieved Employees with accurate itemized wage 

statements in writing, as required by the Labor Code. Specifically, the wage statements 

given to Aggrieved Employees failed to accurately account for unpaid wages, overtime, 

premium pay for deficiently provided meal periods and rest breaks, and unlawfully 

received or collected wages, as discussed above.  

 

In addition, the wage statements are inaccurate and in violation of Labor Code § 226(a) 

because they do not reflect the proper overtime rate for overtime hours worked which 

should have been based on the Aggrieved Employees’ regular rate of pay. This regular 

rate of pay should have factored in the shift differentials earned by Aggrieved Employees 

depending on the shift they worked. It did not. Moreover, the total hours worked listed on 

the wage statement, which is required on the wage statement by Labor Code § 226(a)(2), 

is incorrect. It seems to factor in the shift differential hours into the total hours which 

overstates the total hours worked making the wage statement inaccurate and impossible 

to understand. 

 

In light of these violations, and pursuant to Labor Code §§ 226(a) and 226(e), Aggrieved 

Employees are entitled to recover the greater of all actual damages or fifty dollars ($50) 

for the initial pay period in which a violation occurs and one hundred dollars ($100) for 

each violation in a subsequent pay period, not exceeding an aggregate penalty of four 

thousand dollars ($4,000). They are also entitled to an award of costs and reasonable 

attorneys’ fees. 

 

Failure to Issue Semimonthly Payments in Violation of Labor Code § 204 

In failing to pay Aggrieved Employees wages, overtime, premium pay, etc., Defendants 

failed to timely pay Aggrieved Employees wages on a semimonthly basis as required 

under Labor Code § 204. Defendants failed to maintain records showing accurate hours 

worked daily and the wages paid to Aggrieved Employees, as well as the meal and rest 

periods taken by Aggrieved Employees, as required by Labor Code § 1174 and the 

applicable IWC wage orders. In light of the forgoing, Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees 

seek to recover wages and penalties, interest, fees and costs pursuant to Labor Code §§ 

210, 218.5, 558, and 1194. 

 

Failure to Keep Records In Accordance With Labor Code § 1174 

Labor Code § 1174 requires employers to keep records showing payroll data and the 

hours worked daily by and the wages paid to employees. By failing to pay Aggrieved 

Employees proper wages, overtime, premium pay, etc., and by failing to maintain records 
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of timekeeping entries for meal periods, all discussed herein, Defendants failed to 

maintain proper employment records in accordance with Section 1174. In light of the 

forgoing, Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees seek to recover penalties pursuant to Labor 

Code §§ 1174.5 and 2699, et seq. 

Waiting Time Penalties Pursuant to Labor Code § 203 

Some Aggrieved Employees like Plaintiff no longer work for Defendants; they either 

resigned or were terminated from Defendants’ employ. Based on the forgoing, 

Defendants have had a consistent policy of failing to pay all wages due and owed to 

Aggrieved Employees at the time of their termination of within seventy-two (72) hours of 

their resignation, as required by California under Labor Code § 203. In light of the 

forgoing, Plaintiff and Aggrieved Employees seek to recover wages and penalties 

pursuant to Labor Code § 558 and further specifically seek penalties and wages under 

Labor Code § 203, which provides that an employee’s wages shall continue until paid for 

up to thirty (30) days from the date they were due. 

Unfair Competition Under Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 

Consequently, Defendants’ conduct has been and continues to be unfair, unlawful, and 

harmful to Aggrieved Employees and the general public in violation of Business & 

Professions Code § 17200 et seq. 

We have been constrained to initially move forward with the filing of this Complaint, 

alleging the causes of action discussed herein, without the PAGA claim. Thus, any action 

by the LWDA would not resolve the entirety of the case, and the interest of judicial 

economy will be served by allowing the case to proceed as a cohesive whole. 

This letter and the attached Complaint therefore provide the requisite notice under the 

Act to the LWDA and Defendants by setting forth the specific provisions of the Labor 

Code and related provisions Plaintiff alleges have been violated, including the facts and 

relevant theories alleged against MillerCoors LLC. To prevent the violations described in 

the Complaint and herein from occurring, and to remedy past violations, Plaintiff 

respectfully requests that the LWDA conduct an investigation into Defendants’ 

employment practices in accordance with the Act. 

Wherefore we request that you advise us, by certified mail within thirty (60) days of the 

postmark on this letter, whether you intend to proceed with these claims or whether 

Plaintiff and the Aggrieved Employees should include them as a Labor Code § 2698 

claim under the Act in an amended Complaint. 

Regards, 

DAVID YEREMIAN & ASSOCIATES, INC. 

David Yeremian 

Cc: Defendant MillerCoors LLC by Certified Mail 

Exhibit A

Exhibit A

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-1   Filed 03/08/19   Page 64 of 65   Page ID #:77



• Complete items 1, 2, and 3. 
• Print your name and address on the reverse 

so that we can retum the card to you. 
• Attach this card to the back of the mailpiece, 

or on the front If 

MillerCoors LLC 
Incorporating Services, LTD 
Agent for Service of Process 
7801 Folsonf'Boulevard, Suite 202 
Sacramento:-1;A 95826-2620 

1111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111 
9590 9402 2394 6249 1950 86 

3. Servfce Type 
d Adult Signature 
o Adult Signature flestrlqted D~very 
I8"Certified Mail® 
o eertmed Mall Restricted Oellvery 
o Collect on Delivery 

--:-2..-A""rt""'i"""~"'-:N""I-,m""h"" .. r""'m==~",~,,""''''''''''·fno,'''''''''''''~''''''''''''''';~''''''''''·lo'''''''~,;/1".....---1 0 Collect nn Delivery Restricted Delivery 
n "I 

5 3 5 4 n:1 Restricted Delivery 
<".CI...,oO) 

7017 0660 0001 0786 

o Pr10rlty Mall Express® 
o Registered MaUTM 
o OReQistered ~aII. ~estrIeted 

elivery 
~etum Receipt for 

Merchandise 
o Signature Confinnation™ 
o Signature Confirmation 

Restricted Delivery 

, PS Form 3811, July 2015 PSN 7530-02-000-9053 Domestic Return Rer 

Exhibit A

Exhibit A

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-1   Filed 03/08/19   Page 65 of 65   Page ID #:78



Exhibit B

Exhibit B

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-2   Filed 03/08/19   Page 1 of 1   Page ID #:79



Exhibit C

Exhibit C

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-3   Filed 03/08/19   Page 1 of 1   Page ID #:80



Exhibit D

Exhibit D

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-4   Filed 03/08/19   Page 1 of 4   Page ID #:81



Exhibit D

Exhibit D

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-4   Filed 03/08/19   Page 2 of 4   Page ID #:82



Exhibit D

Exhibit D

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-4   Filed 03/08/19   Page 3 of 4   Page ID #:83



Exhibit D

Exhibit D

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-4   Filed 03/08/19   Page 4 of 4   Page ID #:84



SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA 
 COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

Reserved for Clerk’s File Stamp 

COURTHOUSE ADDRESS:  

NOTICE OF CASE ASSIGNMENT 

UNLIMITED CIVIL CASE 

Your case is assigned for all purposes to the judicial officer indicated below. 
CASE NUMBER: 

THIS FORM IS TO BE SERVED WITH THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT 

ASSIGNED JUDGE DEPT ROOM ASSIGNED JUDGE DEPT ROOM 

Given to the Plaintiff/Cross-Complainant/Attorney of Record 

on _____________________________ By __________________________________, Deputy Clerk 
  (Date) 

Sherri R. Carter, Executive Officer / Clerk of Court

02/01/2019 Ricardo Perez

Stanley Mosk Courthouse
111 North Hill Street, Los Angeles, CA 90012

19STCV02979

✔ Elizabeth R. Feffer 39     
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR HANDLING UNLIMITED CIVIL CASES 

The following critical provisions of the California Rules of Court, Title 3, Division 7, as applicable in the Superior Court, are summarized 
for your assistance.   

APPLICATION
The Division 7 Rules were effective January 1, 2007.  They apply to all general civil cases. 

PRIORITY OVER OTHER RULES 
The Division 7 Rules shall have priority over all other Local Rules to the extent the others are inconsistent. 

CHALLENGE TO ASSIGNED JUDGE 
A challenge under Code of Civil Procedure Section 170.6 must be made within 15 days after notice of assignment for all purposes 
to a judge, or if a party has not yet appeared, within 15 days of the first appearance.  

TIME STANDARDS  
Cases assigned to the Independent Calendaring Courts will be subject to processing under the following time standards: 

COMPLAINTS
All complaints shall be served within 60 days of filing and proof of service shall be filed within 90 days. 

CROSS-COMPLAINTS
Without leave of court first being obtained, no cross-complaint may be filed by any party after their answer is filed.  Cross-
complaints shall be served within 30 days of the filing date and a proof of service filed within 60 days of the filing date.  

STATUS CONFERENCE  
A status conference will be scheduled by the assigned Independent Calendar Judge no later than 270 days after the filing of the 
complaint.  Counsel must be fully prepared to discuss the following issues: alternative dispute resolution, bifurcation, settlement, 
trial date, and expert witnesses.  

FINAL STATUS CONFERENCE 
The Court will require the parties to attend a final status conference not more than 10 days before the scheduled trial date.  All 
parties shall have motions in limine, bifurcation motions, statements of major evidentiary issues, dispositive motions, requested 
form jury instructions, special jury instructions, and special jury verdicts timely filed and served prior to the conference.  These 
matters may be heard and resolved at this conference.  At least five days before this conference, counsel must also have exchanged 
lists of exhibits and witnesses, and have submitted to the court a brief statement of the case to be read to the jury panel as required 
by Chapter Three of the Los Angeles Superior Court Rules.  

SANCTIONS 
The court will impose appropriate sanctions for the failure or refusal to comply with Chapter Three Rules, orders made by the 
Court, and time standards or deadlines established by the Court or by the Chapter Three Rules.  Such sanctions may be on a party, 
or if appropriate, on counsel for a party.  

This is not a complete delineation of the Division 7 or Chapter Three Rules, and adherence only to the above provisions is 
therefore not a guarantee against the imposition of sanctions under Trial Court Delay Reduction.  Careful reading and 
compliance with the actual Chapter Rules is imperative.  

Class Actions 
Pursuant to Local Rule 2.3, all class actions shall be filed at the Stanley Mosk Courthouse and are randomly assigned to a complex 
judge at the designated complex courthouse.  If the case is found not to be a class action it will be returned to an Independent 
Calendar Courtroom for all purposes.   

*Provisionally Complex Cases
Cases filed as provisionally complex are initially assigned to the Supervising Judge of complex litigation for determination of 
complex status.  If the case is deemed to be complex within the meaning of California Rules of Court 3.400 et seq., it will be 
randomly assigned to a complex judge at the designated complex courthouse.  If the case is found not to be complex, it will be 
returned to an Independent Calendar Courtroom for all purposes.      
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NOTICE OF LACIV 132 (Rev. 07/13) 
LASC Approved 10-03 
For Optional Use CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE

Cal. Rules of Court, rules 3.720-3.730 
LASC Local Rules, Chapter Three

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

COURTHOUSE ADDRESS: 

PLAINTIFF: 

DEFENDANT: 

Reserved for Clerk’s File Stamp 

NOTICE OF CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
CASE NUMBER: 

TO THE PLAINTIFF(S)/ATTORNEY(S) FOR PLAINTIFF(S) OF RECORD: 

You are ordered to serve this notice of hearing on all parties/attorneys of record forthwith, and meet and confer with all  
parties/attorneys of record about the matters to be discussed no later than 30 days before the Case Management Conference.  

Your Case Management Conference has been scheduled at the courthouse address shown above on:  

Date:      Time:      Dept.: 

NOTICE TO DEFENDANT:  THE SETTING OF THE CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE DOES NOT EXEMPT THE 
DEFENDANT  FROM FILING A RESPONSIVE PLEADING AS REQUIRED BY LAW. 

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rules 3.720-3.730, a completed Case Management Statement (Judicial Council form # 
CM-110) must be filed at least 15 calendar days prior to the Case Management Conference. The Case Management Statement 
may be filed jointly by all parties/attorneys of record or individually by each party/attorney of record. You must be familiar with the 
case and be fully prepared to participate effectively in the Case Management Conference. 

At the Case Management Conference, the Court may make pretrial orders including the following, but not limited to, an order 
establishing a discovery schedule; an order referring the case to Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR); an order reclassifying the 
case; an order setting subsequent conference and the trial date; or other orders to achieve the goals of the Trial Court Delay 
Reduction Act (Gov. Code, § 68600 et seq.) 

Notice is hereby given that if you do not file the Case Management Statement or appear and effectively participate at the Case 
Management Conference, the Court may impose sanctions, pursuant to LASC Local Rule 3.37, Code of Civil Procedure 
sections 177.5, 575.2, 583.150, 583.360 and 583.410, Government Code section 68608, subdivision (b), and California Rules of 
Court, rule 2.2 et seq. 

Dated: ________________________ ________________________________       
Judicial Officer                                

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, the below named Executive Officer/Clerk of the above-entitled court, do hereby certify that I am not a party to the cause 
herein, and that on this date I served the Notice of Case Management Conference upon each party or counsel named below: 

  by depositing in the United States mail at the courthouse in _______________________, California, one copy of the original 
filed herein in a separate sealed envelope to each address as shown below with the postage thereon fully prepaid. 

  by personally giving the party notice upon filing of the complaint. 

Dated: __________________ By ________________________ 
Deputy Clerk 

Stanley Mosk Courthouse
111 North Hill Street, Los Angeles, CA 90012

Henry Cardiel, an individual, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated

Millercoors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

19STCV02979

04/26/2019 8:45 AM 39

02/04/2019  

✔ Los Angeles

Alvin B. Lindsay
535 N Brand Blvd Ste 705
Glendale, CA 91203

Sherri R. Carter, Executive Officer / Clerk of Court

02/04/2019 Loida Bituin
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

R  e  s e  r  v e d  f  o r  C  l e r  k  ’  s  F  i  l e  S  t a m  p  

COURTHOUSE ADDRESS: 

PLAINTIFF(S): 

DEFENDANT(S): 

ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE HEARING 
CASE NUMBER: 

ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE HEARING 
LACIV 166 (Rev. 09/08) Cal. Rules of Court, rule 2.30 
LASC Approved 06-04 LASC Local Rules, Chapter 7 

To the party / attorney of record: 

You are ordered to appear for an Order to Show Cause Hearing on __________ at  ________ in 
department____of this court, ____________________________________________________________, 
and show cause why sanctions should not be imposed for: 

[   ]  Failure to file proof of service. 

Failure to comply or appear may result in sanctions pursuant to one or more of the following:  California 
Rules of Court, rule 2.30 and rule 3.1340; Code of Civil Procedure sections 177.5, 575.2, 583.150, 
583.310, 583.360, 583.410, 583.420, 583.430; and Government Code section 68608. 

[   ]  To avoid a mandatory appearance all required documents must be filed at least 5 days prior to the
date of the hearing. 

Dated:  _______________ ____________________________________________ 
Judicial Officer 

111 North Hill Street, Los Angeles, CA 90012

Henry Cardiel, an individual, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated

Millercoors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

19STCV02979

02/04/2019

✔

✔

04/26/2019 8:45 AM
39 Stanley Mosk Courthouse

Stanley Mosk Courthouse
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

COURTHOUSE ADDRESS: 
Stanley Mosk Courthouse 
111 North Hill Street, Los Angeles, CA 90012
PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER:

Henry Cardiel, an individual, on behalf of himself and others similarly 
situated
DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT:

Millercoors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Reserved for Clerk’s File Stamp

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING
CASE NUMBER:

19STCV02979

Sherri R. Carter, Executive Officer / Clerk of Court

Dated: 02/4/2019 By: Loida Bituin
Deputy Clerk

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

I, the below-named Executive Officer/Clerk of the above-entitled court, do hereby certify that I am not a 
party to the cause herein, and that on this date I served the Order to Show Cause Failure to File Proof of 
Service upon each party or counsel named below by placing the document for collection and mailing so as 
to cause it to be deposited in the United States mail at the courthouse in Los Angeles, California, one copy 
of the original filed/entered herein in a separate sealed envelope to each address as shown below with the 
postage thereon fully prepaid, in accordance with standard court practices.

Alvin B. Lindsay
David Yeremian & Associates, Inc.
535 N Brand Blvd Ste 705
Glendale, CA  91203
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POS-010
ATTORNEY OR PARTY WITHOUT ATTORNEY (Name, State Bar number, and address):

David Yeremian & Associates, Inc.
535 N Brand Blvd Ste 705 
Glendale, CA 91203
TELEPHONE NO.: (818) 230-8380 FAX NO. (Optional):

E-MAIL ADDRESS (Optional):
ATTORNEY FOR (Name): Plaintiff

FOR COURT USE ONLY

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, - STANLEY MOSK
(EFILING)

STREET ADDRESS: 111 N Hill S
MAILING ADDRESS: 111 N Hill S

CITY AND ZIP CODE: Los Angeles, CA 90012
BRANCH NAME: SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, -

STANLEY MOSK (EFILING)

PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER: Henry Cardiel, an individual, on behalf of himself and others
similarly situated

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT:  Millercoors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and DOES
1 through 50, inclusive

CASE NUMBER:
19STCV02979

PROOF OF SERVICE SUMMONS
Ref. No. or File No.:
Cardiel v. Millercoors LLC

Page 1 of 3

POS-010 [Rev. January 1, 2007] PROOF OF SERVICE OF SUMMONS
Invoice # 2422545-02

(Separate proof of service is required for each party served.) 

1. At the time of service I was at least 18 years of age and not a party to this action.                                                           BY FAX

2. I served copies of: Summons, Complaint, Civil Case Cover Sheet, Notice of Case Assignment; 

3. a. Party served (specify name of party as shown on documents served): Millercoors LLC, aDelware limited liability company

b. Person (other than the party in item 3a) served on behalf of an entity or as an authorized agent (and not a person under
item 5b on whom substituted service was made) (specify name and relationship to the party named in item 3a):
By Serving Incorporating Services, LTD., Agent for Service

4. Address where the party was served: 7801 Folsom Blvd Ste 202 Sacramento, CA 95826

5. I served the party (check proper box)
a. by personal service. I personally delivered the documents listed in item 2 to the party or person authorized to receive

service of process for the party (1) on: (2) at:
b. by substituted service. On: 2/7/2019 at: 12:49 PM I left the documents listed in item 2 with or in the presence of

(name and title or relationship to person indicated in item 3): 
Tressa White
Client Representative

(1) (business) a person at least 18 years of age apparently in charge at the office or usual place of business of
the person to be served. I informed him or her of the general nature of the papers.

(2) (home) a competent member of the household (at least 18 years of age) at the dweling house or usual
place of abode of the party. I informed him or her of the general nature of the papers.

(3) (physical address unknown) a person of at least 18 years of  age apparently in charge at the usual
mailing address of the person to be served, other than a United States Postal Service post office box. I
informed him or her of the general nature of the papers.

(4) I thereafter mailed (by first-class, postage prepaid) copies of the documents to the person to be served at
the place where the copies were left (Code Civ. Proc., § 415.20). I mailed the documents:
on: from: or            a declaration of mailing is attached.               

Electronically FILED by Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles on 02/13/2019 10:51 AM Sherri R. Carter, Executive Officer/Clerk of Court, by A. Martinez,Deputy Clerk
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PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER: Henry Cardiel, an individual, on behalf of himself and others
similarly situated

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT:  Millercoors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and
DOES 1 through 50, inclusive

CASE NUMBER:
19STCV02979

POS-010 [Rev. January 1, 2007] PROOF OF SERVICE OF SUMMONS Page 2 of 3

Invoice#: 2422545-02

(5) I attach a declaration of diligence stating actions taken first to attempt personal service.

5. c. by mail and acknowledgment of receipt of service. I mailed the documents listed in item 2 to the party, to the
address shown in item 4, by first-class mail, postage prepaid,

(1) on: (2) from: 
(3) with two copies of the Notice and Acknowledgment of Receipt and a postage-paid return envelope

addressed to me. (Attach completed Notice and Acknowledgment of Receipt.) (Code Civ. Proc., § 415.30.)

(4) to an address outside California with return receipt requested. (Code Civ. Proc., § 415.40.)

d. by other means (specify means of service and authorizing code section): 

Additional page describing service is attached.

6. The "Notice to the Person Served" (on the summons) was completed as follows:
a. as an individual defendant.

b. as the person sued under the fictitious name of (specify): 

c. as occupant.

d. On behalf of (specify): Millercoors LLC, aDelware limited liability company
under the following Code of Civil Procedure section:

416.10 (corporation) 415.95 (business organization, form unknown)

416.20 (defunct corporation) 416.60 (minor)

416.30 (joint stock company/association) 416.70 (ward or conservatee)

416.40 (association or partnership) 416.90 (authorized person)

416.50 (public entity) 415.46 (occupant)

other: 
7. Person who served papers

a. Name: Jason Marshall
b. Address: 15345 Fairfield Ranch Rd  Suite 200, Chino Hills, CA 91709
c. Telephone number: 909-664-9577
d. The fee for service was: $75.00
e. I am:

(1) not a registered California process server.

(2) exempt from registration under Business and Professions Code section 22350(b).

(3) a registered California process server:

(i) owner employee independent contractor.

(ii) Registration No.: 1998-61
(iii) County: Sacramento
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PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER: Henry Cardiel, an individual, on behalf of himself and others
similarly situated

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT:  Millercoors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and
DOES 1 through 50, inclusive

CASE NUMBER:
19STCV02979

POS-010 [Rev. January 1, 2007] PROOF OF SERVICE OF SUMMONS Page 3 of 3

Invoice#: 2422545-02

8. I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct.

Jason Marshall                                Date: 02/11/2019
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ATTORNEY OR PARTY WITHOUT ATTORNEY (Name and Address) TELEPHONE NUMBER
(818) 230-8380

David Yeremian & Associates, Inc.
535 N Brand Blvd Ste 705 
Glendale, CA 91203
ATTORNEY FOR Plaintiff

FOR COURT USE ONLY

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, - STANLEY MOSK
(EFILING)
111 N Hill S
Los Angeles, CA 90012

SHORT TITLE OF CASE:
HENRY CARDIEL, AN INDIVIDUAL, ON BEHALF OF HIMSELF AND OTHERS SIMILARLY
SITUATED vs MILLERCOORS LLC, A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AND DOES
1 THROUGH 50, INCLUSIVE

DATE: TIME: DEP./DIV. CASE NUMBER:
19STCV02979

Proof of Service by Mail Ref. No. or File No:
Cardiel v. Millercoors LLC

Proof of Service by Mail Invoice #: 2422545-02

BY FAX
I am over 18 years of age and not a party to this action. I am a resident of or employed in the county where the mailing took place.

On 02/08/2019 after substituted service under section C.C.P. 415.20(a), 415.20(b), or 415.95(a) was made, I served the within:

Summons, Complaint, Civil Case Cover Sheet, Notice of Case Assignment; 

On the defendant, in said action by placing a true copy thereof enclosed in a sealed envelope with postage thereon pre-paid for first class in
the United States mail At: Chino Hills, California, addressed as follows:
Millercoors LLC, aDelware limited liability company
7801 Folsom Blvd Ste 202 Sacramento, CA 95826

Person attempting service:

a. Name: Kimberly Lastimosa
b. Address: 15345 Fairfield Ranch Rd  Suite 200, Chino Hills, CA 91709
c. Telephone number: 909-664-9577
d. The fee for this service was: 75.00
e. I am:
(3) [X] a registered California process server:

(i) [X] Employee
(ii) Registration No.: 1086
(iii) County: San Bernardino

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct.

Kimberly Lastimosa                                             Date: 02/08/2019
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NOTICE OF CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

DAVID YEREMIAN & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
David Yeremian (SBN 226337) 
david@yeremianlaw.com 
Alvin B. Lindsay (SBN 220236) 
alvin@yeremianlaw.com 
535 N. Brand Blvd., Suite 705 
Glendale, California 91203 
Telephone: (818) 230-8380 
Facsimile: (818) 230-0308 

LAW OFFICES OF SAHAG MAJARIAN II 
Sahag Majarian, II (SBN 146621) 
sahagii@aol.com 
18250 Ventura Blvd.  
Tarzana, CA 91356 
Telephone: (818) 609-0807 
Facsimile: (818) 609-0892 

Attorneys for Plaintiff HENRY CARDIEL, 
on behalf of himself and other similarly aggrieved employees 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

HENRY CARDIEL, an individual, on behalf 
of himself and others similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

MILLERCOORS LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company; and DOES 1 through 50, 
inclusive, 

Defendants. 

Case No.: 19STCV02979 

Assigned for All Purposes To: 
Hon. Elizabeth R. Feffer 
Dept.: 39  

NOTICE OF CASE MANAGEMENT 
CONFERENCE  

Date :  April 26, 2019 
Time:  8:45 a.m. 
Dept.:  39 

Electronically FILED by Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles on 02/27/2019 01:43 PM Sherri R. Carter, Executive Officer/Clerk of Court, by A. Brown,Deputy Clerk
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NOTICE OF CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 

1 

2 

3 

4 
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8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

TO ALL PARTIES AND THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, pursuant to the Court’s Order attached as Exhibit A, 

a Case Management Conference has been set for April 26, 2019, at 8:45 a.m., in 

Department 39. Plaintiff ordered to give notice. 

DATED:  February 27, 2019 DAVID YEREMIAN & ASSOCIATES, INC. 

By _____________________________ 

 David Yeremian 
     Alvin B. Lindsay 
     Attorneys for Plaintiff HENRY CARDIEL 
     and all similarly aggrieved employees 
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SUPERIOR COl. r OF CALIFORNIA 
Reserved for Clerk's File Stamp 

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES FILED 
S~iof C'oort of Caiforri8 

COURTHOUSE ADDRESS: U'lty of los: Angela$ 
Stanley Mosk Courthouse 
111 North Hill Street, Los Angeles, CA 90012 02/0412019 . 
PLAINTIFF: ShemR. Carw,£.-rutNeOfi!lOetl OIIt*.ofColl! 
Henry Cardiel, an individual, on behalf of himself and others similal 8 loida !Biklin 

y. --------- Oepou1y DEFENDANT: 

Millercoors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
CASE NUMBER: 

NOTICE OF CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 19STCV02979 
--

TO THE PLAINTIFF(S)/ATTORNEY(S) FOR PLAINTIFF(S) OF RECORD: 

You are ordered to serve this notice of hearing on all parties/attorneys of record forthwith, and meet and confer with all 
parties/attorneys of record about the matters to be discussed no later than 30 days before the Case Management Conference. 

Your Case Management Conference has been scheduled at the courthouse address shown above on: 

I Date: 04/2612019 Time: 8:45 AM Dept.: 39 

NOTICE TO DEFENDANT: THE SETTING OF THE CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE DOES NOT EXEMPT THE 
DEFENDANT FROM FILING A RESPONSIVE PLEADING AS REQUIRED BY LAW. 

Pursuant to Califomia Rules of Court, rules 3.720-3.730, a completed Case Management Statement (Judicial Council form # 
CM-110) must be filed at least 15 calendar days prior to the Case Management Conference. The Case Management Statement 
may be filed jointly by all parties/attomeys of record or individually by each party/attorney of record. You must be familiar with the 
case and be fully prepared to participate effectively in the Case Management Conference. 

At the Case Management Conference, the Court may make pretrial orders including the following, but not limited to, an order 
establishing a discovery schedule; an order referring the case to Altemative Dispute Resolution (ADR); an order reclassifying the 
case; an order setting subsequent conference and the trial date; or other orders to achieve the goals of the Trial Court Delay 
Reduction Act (Gov. Code, § 68600 et seq.) 

Notice is hereby given that if you do not file the Case Management Statement 
Management Conference, the Court may impose sanctions, pursuant 
sections 177.5,575.2,583.150,583.360 and 583.410, Govemment 
Court, rule 2.2 et seq. 

Dated: 02/04/2019 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

appear and effectively participate at the Case 
Rule 3.37, Code of Civil Procedure 

, s'id6Wih'l£ ~i- Rules of 

Eljzabe th R Feffer I Judge 
Judicial Officer 

I, the below named Executive Officer/Clerk of the above-entitled court, do hereby certify that I am not a party to the cause 
herein, and that on this date I served the Notice of Case Management Conference upon each party or counsel named below: 

~ by depositing in the United States mail at the courthouse in Los Angeles , California, one copy of the original 
filed herein in a separate sealed envelope to each address as shown below with the postage thereon fully prepaid. 

o by personally giving the party notice upon filing of the complaint. 

Alvin B. Lindsay 
535 N Brand Blvd Ste 705 
Glendale, CA 91203 

Sherri R. Carter, Executive Officer / Clerk of Court 

Dated: 02/04/2019 

LACIV 132 (Rev. 07/13) 

LASC Approved 10-03 

For Optional Use 

NOTICE OF 
CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 

By _ Loida Bituin 

Deputy Clerk 

Cal. Rules of Court, rules 3.720-3.730 

LASC Local Rules, Chapter Three 
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SUPERIOR COuRT OF CALIFORNIA Reserved for Clerk's File Stamp 

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
COURTHOUSE ADDRESS: FILED 
Stanley Mosk Courthouse S= Coott of Celifaria 

ty of l.b$ Ang&les 
111 North Hill Street, Los Angeles, CA 90012 02/04flO19 
PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER: SI'IemR ~.e-"IWe01!ket1 Oedt ()I Co ..... 

Henry Cardiel, an individual, on behalf of himself and others similarly By. lOida a\lin Deputy 
situated 

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT: 

Millercoors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

CASE NUMBER: 
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 19STCV02979 

I, the below-named Executive Officer/Clerk of the above-entitled court, do hereby certify that I am not a 
party to the cause herein, and that on this date I served the Order to Show Cause Failure to File Proof of 
Service upon each partx or counsel named below by placing the document for collection and mailing so as 
to cause it to be deposited in the United States mail at the courthouse in Los Angeles, California, one copy 
of the original flied/entered herein in a separate sealed envelope to each address as shown below with the 
postage thereon fully prepaid, in accordance with standard court practices. 

Alvin B, lindsay 
David Yeremian & Associates, Inc. 
535 N Brand Blvd Ste 705 
Glendale, CA 91203 

Dated: 02/4/2019 

Sherri R. Carter, Executive Officer / Clerk of Court 

By: Loida Bitu;n 
Deputy Clerk 

~~n ...... r"~ A ..... ~ "r' aJi A" .Il.'" 

Exhibit I

Exhibit I

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-9   Filed 03/08/19   Page 5 of 6   Page ID #:99



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 
  

 

 
  

 
PROOF OF SERVICE 

 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES: 

 
 I am employed in the aforesaid county, State of California; I am over the age of 18 years 
and not a party to the within action; my business address is 535 N. Brand, Blvd. Suite 705, 
Glendale CA 91203. 
 
 On February 27, 2019, I served the foregoing: NOTICE OF CASE MANAGEMENT 
CONFERENCE on Interested Parties in this action by placing a true copy thereof, enclosed in a 
sealed envelope, addressed as follows: 
 
Millercoors LLC 
Incorporating Services, LTD, Agent for Service 
7801 Folsom Blvd., Ste. 202 
Sacramento, CA 95826 
 
[X] (BY MAIL) I placed such envelope with postage thereon fully paid in the United States 
mail at Glendale, California.  I am “readily familiar” with this firm’s practice of collecting and 
processing correspondence for mailing.  It is deposited with U.S. Postal Service on that same day 
in the ordinary course of business.  I am aware that on motion of party served, service is 
presumed invalid if postal cancellation date or postage meter date is more than 1 day after date of 
deposit for mailing in affidavit. 
 
[  ]      (COURTESY COPY BY ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION) by use of email by 
scanning the documents and any and all documents and emailing them to email addresses above. 
 
[   ] (BY FACSIMILE) On _____________ before 5:00 p.m., I transmitted such documents 
from our facsimile machine number (818) 230-0308 to the person(s) at the facsimile numbers 
listed on the attached service list.  Said transmission was reported as complete and without error.  
A copy of the transmission report which was properly issued by the transmitting facsimile 
machine is attached hereto. 
 
[   ] (BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY) I enclosed the documents in an envelope or package 
provided by an overnight delivery carrier and addressed to the persons at the address above. I 
placed the envelope or package for collection and overnight delivery at an office or a regularly 
utilized drop box of the overnight delivery carrier. 
 
[X] (STATE) I certify (or declare) under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of 
California that the foregoing is true and correct. 
 
 Executed on February 27, 2019, at Glendale, California. 
   
 

Natalia Bermudes 
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1 McGUIREW00DS LLP Michael D. Mandel, Esq. (SBN 216934) 2 Email: mmandel@m�uirewoods.com Am_y E. Beverlin El. (SBN 284745) 3 Email: abeveriin mc�'direwoods.com 1800 Century Park as1, 8' Floor 4 Los Angeles
,. 

CA 90061-1501 Tel: (310) j 15-8200 5 Fax: (310) 315-8210 
6 Attorneys for Defendant MILLERCOORS LLC 7 
8 
9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 
11 HENRY CARDIEL, an individual, on 
12 behalf of himself and all others similarlysituated, 
13 
14 vs. 

Plaintiff, 

15 MILLERCOORS LLC, a Delaware 
16 limited liability company; and DOES 1through 50, inclusive, 
17 Defendants. 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 

CASE NO. 2:19-cv-1727
[Los Angeles County Superior Court 
Case No. l 9STCV02979] 
DECLARATION OF JAMES GRAHAM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT MILLERCOORS LLC'S NOTICE OF REMOVAL OF CIVIL ACTION FROM STATE COURT 

Complaint Filed: January 29, 2019 Complaint Served: February 7, 2019 

OECLARA I ION OF JAMES GRAHAM 
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AGREEMENT 

between 

MILLERCOORS LLC 

IRWINDALE CALIFORNIA 

AND 

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF TEAMSTERS 

Local Union 896 - Production 

Term of Agreement: 

June 11, 2018 – June 12, 2021 
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AGREEMENT 

 

 The term of this Agreement shall be from June 11, 2018 to June 

12, 2021, and shall continue in effect thereafter from year to year 

unless either party hereto serves written notice on the other of 

its intention to change or terminate the Agreement at least sixty 

(60) days prior to June 12, 2021, or prior to June 12 of any 

subsequent anniversary date. Notice shall be given in case of 

employees by the Local Union to MillerCoors llc or in the case of 

MillerCoors llc to the Local Union. 

 WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to continue their 

collective bargaining relationship, already in existence. 

 BE IT RESOLVED, that the Company will recognize the Union as 

the sole collective bargaining representative of all bottlers, 

brewers, and checkers employed at the 15801 East First Street, 

Irwindale, California facility. 

 FURTHER, the Company agrees that the provisions of the current 

or successor agreements, including but not limited to seniority, 

shall be applicable at the Irwindale facility, 15801 East First 

Street, Irwindale, California. 

SECTION 2.  EMPLOYEE DEFINED AND JOB DESCRIPTION 

(a)  The word "employee" as used herein means those employees of 

the Company covered hereby who perform their services principally 
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in the State of California and within the Counties hereinabove 

listed and who are: 

(a)(1)  Brewers 

  Employed as brewers in the brewing department including all 

cellars, platforms and warehouses used in connection with the 

operation of the brewing department whose work shall consist of the 

following: 

  Unload all freight cars of all ingredients and materials 

(excluding those used in repair or maintenance by other departments 

or handled by checkers or bottlers and stored in a central 

storeroom or warehouse) used in the beer and malt beverage brewing, 

aging and finishing process and all kegs, store the same and all 

such ingredients and materials after having been unloaded from a 

truck or trailer and operate all equipment used for such purposes. 

 Unload all freight cars of all cleaning materials and 

equipment, supplies, implements and machines (not received, 

warehoused or issued by checkers or bottlers) used in cleaning the 

equipment on or with which brewers work, or the area in which 

brewers work or which brewers use, and operate all equipment used 

for such purposes. 

 Grease, with other than petroleum-based grease, beer docks and 

the mechanism inside lauter tubs; operate, use and clean all 

equipment and areas used in the beer and malt beverage brewing, 

aging and finishing process and in the storage and transferring of 
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the finished product before packaging and in the transferring of 

the finished product for packaging. 

 Operate, use and clean all equipment and areas used in the 

packaging of the product in kegs and use, clean and condition all 

kegs (excluding all welding, dedenting, replating, resurfacing and 

repairs requiring return to the manufacturer). 

 Store all full or empty, conditioned or unconditioned kegs on 

brewery premises, clean all areas on brewery premises in which kegs 

are stored (except seasonal storage areas) provided that when taken 

out of seasonal storage the kegs shall be handled by brewers. 

 Operate, use and clean all equipment and areas used in 

disposing of beer and malt beverage waste resulting from the 

brewing, aging and finishing process and from packaging in kegs 

(except dry waste storage area away from and not connected with the 

brewhouse and where such work is performed by other employees 

covered by the Agreement) and all equipment and areas used in the 

processing and storage of by-products of the brewing, aging and 

finishing process. 

 In breweries handle all full and empty kegs and beer and malt 

beverage, brewing, aging and finishing process waste to the tail 

gate (or its equivalent) of all trucks and trailers for loading, 

and load all freight cars and operate all equipment used for such 

purposes. 
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 Draw all beer and malt beverage brewing, aging and finishing 

process and by-product samples (excluding bacteriological, and with 

the assistance of a brewer, such samples taken under specially 

controlled conditions, and verification and recheck samples) and 

deliver the same to the laboratory or laboratories or technicians 

designated by the Company, unless such work is performed by 

employees of the Company under agreement with the Union. 

 Remove and replace all cooker, mash tub, lauter tub, mash 

filter, kettle, hot water, beer cooler, filter and beer flow 

charts, tapes or other devices on which are recorded automatically 

information with respect to such parts of the beer and malt 

beverage, brewing, aging and finishing process listed above; remove 

and replace defective automatic devices which plug or screw in, the 

replacement of which requires no special skill or equipment, and 

deliver the same to the place designated by the Company to obtain a 

replacement or for repair; remove and replace gaskets on tank doors 

(manholes) and mash filters. 

 Prepare tanks for coating and coat tanks when done by the 

Company; maintenance painting; clean all surfaces in the area in 

which brewers work for painting. 

 Perform all minor, routine repairs and adjustments, i.e., 

those which do not require the knowledge or skill of a journeyman 

mechanic. 

(a)(2)  Bottlers 
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 Employed as bottlers in bottling department, including all 

basements, platforms, storage and yards used in connection with 

bottling operations where bottlers are now employed or in those 

branches or distributors' operations where the Company may require 

the employment of a steady crew to perform bottlers' work, whose 

work shall consist of the following: 

 Unload cased bottles and cans, full or empty, from trucks or 

trailers when done by forklift; unload cased or uncased bottles and 

cans, full or empty, and bottle house supplies from all freight 

cars at or within two (2) blocks of the Company's premises; crate 

loose bottles in carload lots if the freight car is spotted at or 

within two (2) blocks of the Company premises, and operate all 

equipment used for such purposes; handle cased bottles or cans, 

full or empty, and bottle house supplies (excluding those used in 

repair or maintenance, or by other departments) after having been 

unloaded from a truck or trailer, and handle and store and 

warehouse all full and empty bottles, cans or other beer and malt 

beverage containers  cased or not, empty cases or case making 

material, and bottle house supplies (excluding those used in the 

repair or maintenance, or by other departments) and operate all 

equipment used for such purposes; handle and store cleaning 

material, supplies, implements and machines used in cleaning the 

equipment on or with which bottlers work or the area in which 
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bottlers work or use, and operate all equipment used for such 

purposes. 

  Store and warehouse all packaged beer and malt beverages on 

premises under the control of the Company and operate all equipment 

used for such purposes. 

  Operate and use all equipment used in the packaging of beer 

and malt beverages for sale or distribution to consumers directly 

or indirectly and in the storage and warehousing of beer and malt 

beverages; grease, oil and clean all such equipment (except 

forklifts) and the areas in which bottlers work and operate any and 

all equipment used for such purposes; in the case of forklifts and 

electric dollies, gas, oil, grease, water, charge and change 

batteries (except when gassed otherwise on the premises). 

  Operate, use and clean (except forklifts) all equipment and 

clean all areas used in disposing of packaging process waste. 

 Handle all packaged beer and malt beverages and empties and 

all packaging process waste to the tailgate (or its equivalent) of 

all trucks and trailers and operate all equipment used for such 

purposes; load trucks and trailers with cased bottles or cans, full 

or empty when handled by forklift; load all freight cars with 

packaged beer and malt beverages or empties and packaging process 

waste and operate all equipment used for such purposes. 

 Take all samples of beer and malt beverages and caustic 

(excluding bacteriological, and with assistance of a bottler, such 
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samples taken under specially controlled conditions, and 

verification and recheck samples) taken by the Company in the 

packaging process and deliver the same to the laboratory or 

laboratories or technicians designated by the Company, unless such 

work is performed by employees of the Company under agreement with 

the Union. 

 Perform all running repairs, i.e., minor routine repairs and 

all routine adjustments (those which do not require the knowledge 

and skill of a journeyman mechanic) on equipment operated by 

bottlers, unless employees now performing such work are covered by 

or observe the terms of a current, written, signed collective 

bargaining agreement with another labor organization; repair 

pallets if repaired by the Company on the Company's premises; make 

up and repair cartons when made up or repaired by the Company, 

remove and replace all pasteurizer charts, tapes or other devices 

on which temperatures are automatically recorded, with another 

labor organization; remove and replace defective automatic devices 

which plug or screw in, the replacement of which requires no 

special skill or equipment, and deliver the same to the place 

designated by the Company to obtain a replacement or for repair 

(a)(3)  Performance of Bargaining Unit Work 

 No person excluded from this Agreement under Section 2(a) 

(1-2) hereof shall perform any work coming within the scope of this 

Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed so as to 
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interfere with the right of the supervisors to look after the 

machinery or assist at short intervals; whenever an employee is 

lacking providing in such case an employee is promptly hired 

pursuant to Section 5 hereof; or to interfere with the right of the 

supervisors to instruct employees when such employees are observing 

the instructions being given. If a supervisor performs work in 

violation of this section, the Company shall pay into a fund 

$100.00. Monies paid into such fund shall be distributed 

periodically as agreed by the Company and the Local Union.  In 

instances where a supervisor will instruct an employee for a period 

greater than two (2) hours, the Union Steward will be given notice 

in advance. 

(a)(4)  Scope of Section 2(a) through 2(a) (2) 

 The provisions of Section 2(a) through 2(a) (2) relate solely 

to the assignment of work to employees covered by this Agreement 

and do not relate to the manner in which any specific operation 

shall be performed or the equipment used in the performance of such 

operation but solely to classification of employees who shall 

perform the operation or operate the equipment. Such provisions 

shall not prevent the use by the Company of new or improved 

processes, equipment or plant facilities or from time to time 

changing processes, equipment or plant facilities or terminating 

such processes or terminating the use of such equipment or plant 

facilities. 

 

(b)  Provision Concerning Work Covered by the Agreement 
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 No work covered by this Agreement will be subcontracted, 

transferred, leased, assigned or conveyed in whole or in part by 

the Company to any plant of another employer or any other employer 

or self-employed person not covered by this Agreement except upon 

written agreement with the Union, provided however, the foregoing 

shall not apply with respect to gassing, changing tires, greasing 

and oiling, washing and polishing of trucks, trailers and tractors 

when performed on or off the premises of the Company by contract or 

otherwise by employees of an employer not covered by this Agreement 

so long as there is not, when performed on the premises of the 

Company, full time employment (i.e., a straight-time workweek) for 

one or more employees, nor shall the foregoing apply to between a 

brewery and a distributor, i.e., wholesale licensee or branch, nor 

shall the foregoing apply with respect to long line operations 

except those operations in which the equipment was operated by 

employees covered by this Agreement in March 1960. Members of 

Machinists and Electricians bargaining units may operate equipment 

normally operated by members of the Production employees bargaining 

unit during start-ups, following maintenance activities, 

changeovers, line dryouts, if the equipment is not operating 

properly, to cover for breaks, lunches, quality checks and for 

training purposes. The Company may assign to employees covered by 

this Agreement work that is ordinarily performed by members of 

other bargaining units. 
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  Nothing contained herein shall prevent the use by the Company 

of new or improved processes, equipment or plant facilities, or 

prevent changing processes, equipment or plant facilities, or 

terminating processes or terminating the use of equipment or plant 

facilities, or affect transportation. 

 (c)  Work Jurisdiction Disputes with Other Unions 

 The Union shall use its best efforts to resolve any dispute 

over work jurisdiction with any other labor organization. 

SECTION 3.  UNION SECURITY 

(a)  Membership 

 All employees while they are actively employed by the Company 

shall be required, as a condition of employment, to apply for and 

become members of, and to maintain membership in the Local Union 

with jurisdiction within thirty-one (31) days following the 

beginning of their employment or the date of this Agreement, 

whichever is the later. This clause shall be enforceable to the 

extent permitted by law. 

 An employee who fails to tender the periodic dues and 

initiation fees uniformly required as a condition of acquiring and 

retaining membership shall be discharged seven (7) days after 

receipt of notification in writing, registered mail, return receipt 

requested, to the Company by the secretary or business agent of the 

Local Union with jurisdiction, provided, however, that if payment 

of the arrearage is made within such seven (7) day period, then 
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such employee shall not be discharged.  Provided, further, that if 

the Company shall have cause to believe that the discharge is for 

reason other than nonpayment of initiation fees or dues the Company 

shall notify the Local Union involved in writing registered mail, 

return receipt requested, within four (4) days after receipt of 

notice from the Local Union and such discharge shall be postponed 

pending arbitration of the issue. 

 The Local Union having jurisdiction will indemnify and save 

harmless the Company against any and all claims, demands, or suits 

that may arise out of the discharge of any employee under this 

section. 

(b)  Dues Deduction 

 The Company agrees to deduct from the pay of all employees 

covered by this Agreement the regular dues and initiation fees, and 

agrees to remit to the appropriate Local Union all such deductions, 

provided that the Union delivers to the Company a written 

authorization, signed by the employees, irrevocable for one year or 

expiration of this Agreement, whichever shall occur sooner.  The 

Union shall certify to the Company in writing a list of its members 

working for the Company who have furnished to the Company such 

authorization, together with an itemized statement of regular dues 

and initiation fees to be deducted from the pay of such members.  

The Company shall deduct and remit to the appropriate Local Union 

in one lump sum the amount so certified with respect to each member 
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from the first pay check for the month, if any, of such member 

following the receipt of such certification of statement and remit 

the same to the Union within 14 days following such deduction. 

(c)  D.R.I.V.E. Check off 

 The Company agrees to deduct D.R.I.V.E. contributions from the 

pay of each employee who signs a written authorization therefor if 

in compliance with the state and federal law.  Such deductions 

shall be made on a weekly basis from the pay of the employee.  The 

Union shall deliver such written authorizations to the Company.  

The Union shall provide the Company at least thirty (30) days 

advance notice of the payroll period in which such deductions shall 

commence, together with a list of employees who have signed 

authorizations therefor, and the amount to be deducted from the 

weekly pay of each such employee.  Written authorizations shall 

remain in effect until revoked by the employee in writing.  Such 

notice of revocation shall become effective within thirty (30) days 

after such written notice was received by the Company.  The Company 

shall deduct and remit to the D.R.I.V.E. National Headquarters in 

one payment the total amount deducted on a monthly basis.  The 

Company shall not be responsible for errors made by the Union.  In 

case any error or improper deduction is made by the Company, a 

proper adjustment will be made by the Union with the employee 

affected. 

(d)  Bulletin Boards 
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 The Company will furnish Union bulletin boards at appropriate 

locations for the posting of notices of Union meetings and other 

official Union business. These bulletin boards shall be designated 

as Union Bulletin Boards. There will be a Union bulletin board in 

each department.  

SECTION 4.  SENIORITY 

(a)  Seniority, Classes of 

 With respect to brewers, bottlers, and checkers for the 

purposes of seniority only, there shall be two classes of 

employees, as follows: 

  Permanent employees 

  Temporary employees 

(b) Permanent Employees Defined 

 A permanent employee is any employee other than a temporary 

employee who has successfully completed a probationary period of 

180 calendar days.  

 (c) Temporary Employee Defined 

Temporary employees may be employed under the following conditions: 

1. The Company may employ temporary employees at any time during 

the calendar year; however, temporary employees will not be 

utilized for more than 26 weeks in any calendar year, with the 

exception that newly hired temporary employees may be 

scheduled for 2 weeks of training without counting against the 
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26 week limit. A week is defined as any Monday through Sunday 

during which a temporary employee is utilized. 

2. Temporary employees will not accrue seniority under the Labor 

Agreement. 

3. Temporary employees as a classification will not be eligible 

for group insurance, health benefits, vacations, holidays, 

leaves of absence, or any other fringe benefits, except 

pension contributions required by this agreement and 

bereavement leave for death of spouse, child or parent during 

a week that the person is scheduled to work. 

4. Effective June 11, 2018 temporary employees will be paid at a 

rate of $16.00 per hour.  Effective June 10, 2019 temporary 

employees will be paid at a rate of $17.00 per hour. Effective 

June 8, 2020 temporary employees will be paid at a rate of 

18.00 per hour. Daily overtime over 8 hours and weekend 

overtime in excess of 40 hours in a work week will be paid in 

the same manner as for regular employees. Temporary employees 

are not subject to any guaranteed length of workweek. 

5. Temporary employees are subject to retention or dismissal at 

the sole discretion of the Company. 

6. Temporary employees in Brewing will be assigned to second and 

third shift however temporary employees may be assigned to the 

first shift for the purpose of training. Temporary employees 

on the keg line may be assigned on any shift. Packaging and 
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Customer Service may have a maximum of one third (1/3) of the 

total temporary employees assigned in each department to the 

first shift, however, the company will work with the union to 

schedule permanent employees on day shift where operational 

conditions permit. 

7. Temporary employees may be assigned on a daily basis to any 

shift on a call in basis. 

8. Temporary employees will be permitted to work overtime 

provided they are capable and qualified to perform available 

work. Temporary employees shall not work overtime until all 

employees in the department who are capable and qualified on 

the shift have been offered the overtime assignment and shall 

be forced to work overtime prior to regular employees in the 

department on the shift. 

9. Temporary employees will be terminated by the Company before 

regular employees are laid off. The Company shall not schedule 

temporary employees for work while regular employees with 

recall rights are on layoff and are immediately available to 

perform such work. 

10. Temporary employees shall be subject to the provisions of 

Section 3(a), (b), and (c) of the Labor Agreement. 

Temporary employees would be required to maintain membership 

in the local union following the completion of 31 days worked. 
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11. Temporary employee candidates will be sourced in accordance 

with the provisions of Section 5(a) of this labor agreement. 

 (d)  Employer's Right to Control Number of Employees 

 The Company has the right to increase or reduce the number of 

employees at any time subject to the provisions of this Agreement. 

However, the use of temporary employees is not to be construed as a 

replacement of permanent employees. 

SECTION 5.  HIRING 

(a)  Securing of Employees 

 In the event the hiring of employees is required, the Company 

will contact the Union for referrals.   The Company may also 

solicit candidates from any source, and retains the final decision 

making in hiring. Temporary employees who have worked for the 

company will be given first consideration, but the Company retains 

the right to hire from anywhere, and first consideration does not 

guarantee that any or all open positions will be filled by a 

temporary employee. Union Stewards or their designee will be made 

whole as a result of participating in the sourcing process with the 

Company. Union Stewards or their designee will also be a part of 

the interview process and will provide input regarding the 

candidates.  

 (b)  Hiring for Part Time Work 

 (1)  If the Company requests employees (except bottlers for 

work for less than thirty-seven and one-half [37-1/2] straight-time 
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hours) the Local Union shall dispatch those employees readily 

available for dispatch and the Company may hire for such work any 

unemployed, permanent, temporary employee, new employee or 

applicant for employment, without regard to seniority and such 

employee shall establish no seniority rights by reason of such 

employment for such work. 

 (2)  If the Company requests bottlers for work for less than 

thirty (30) straight-time hours in a calendar week, the Local Union 

shall dispatch bottlers who are registered for employment in the 

order of their experience in the industry and when the list of such 

persons is exhausted, in the order of their registration. 

 (c)  Notice of Layoff, Referrals and Hiring 

 This subsection shall apply only to a Company when it has five 

(5) or more persons performing work covered by this Agreement.  The 

Company will notify the employment office of the Local Union with 

jurisdiction by 12:00 noon Thursday of each week of the names of 

brewers and bottlers to be laid off at the end of the workweek, and 

the number of such employees to be hired at the start of the 

workweek next following.   

SECTION 6. TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS/COURT APPEARANCE 

(a)  To be Nondiscriminatory:  Time Off for Union Matters 

 No employee shall be discriminated against for activity in or 

on behalf of the Union, but shall not be exempted from discipline 

that is not discriminatory. 
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(b)  Compensation for Time Required to Testify in Court Proceeding 

 An employee who is called to testify in a court proceeding 

during his regular working hours on behalf of or in the interest of 

the Company for whom he is working at the time he is called shall 

suffer no loss in straight-time pay for the time he is required to 

be absent from work.  Employees required to be absent from work to 

testify shall be compensated at the straight-time day shift rate, 

not to exceed seven and one-half (7-1/2) hours straight-time pay 

for the time they are required to be and are present at such court 

proceeding. 

SECTION 7.  EXCUSED ABSENCES 

(a)  Sickness 

 Sickness shall be no cause for discharge and any employee who 

shall cease work because of sickness, provided that such sickness 

does not last longer than twelve (12) months and further provided 

that said employee is capable of performing his usual duties, shall 

upon recovery be entitled to and receive his former position. 

(b)  Job Accident Injuries 

 Injuries received through accident in performance of duties 

shall be no cause for discharge and any employee injured through 

accident shall be entitled to receive his former position upon 

recovery from said accident, irrespective of the period of time 

which may elapse between injury and recovery, provided that said 

employee is capable of performing his usual duties. 
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 Whenever an employee is unable to complete his day's work 

because of injury or sickness arising out of his employment, he is 

to receive full scheduled pay for that day.  Whenever an employee 

has to have medical attention during his regular working hours 

because of an injury arising out of his employment, the employee 

shall not suffer any loss of pay for the regular day's work. 

 Should an employee receive an injury arising out of his/her 

employment and a doctor or a nurse indicates that the employee 

cannot return to work that day, the Company shall provide 

transportation for the employee to his/her residence, if the 

employee so desires. 

(c)  Military Leave 

 Any permanent employee, other than a temporary employee, new 

or extra employee leaving his position as an inductee of the Armed 

Land and Naval Forces of the United States under the provisions of 

the Selective Training Service Act of 1940, upon completion of his 

period of training under Section 3(b) of that Act, or that period 

of enlistment, be restored to his former position, according to 

seniority held at the time of induction, provided, that he is 

capable of performing the duties of such position and has reported 

for work within 90 days following his discharge from such service.  

Upon the reinstatement of any such person to his position, the 

Company shall be permitted to lay off such employee as such 

returned serviceman shall displace.  An employee who has completed 
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his probationary period and who is given a leave of absence for 

reserve duty or training shall be reimbursed an amount equal to the 

difference between his military pay and his straight-time wages 

including shift differential, if any, for the period of such 

absence, not to exceed four (4) calendar weeks in a calendar year 

and provided he would otherwise have been working.  The Company 

shall pay the Health and Welfare and Pension Fund contributions on 

employees on leave of absence for training in the military reserves 

or National Guard, but not to exceed four (4) calendar weeks in a 

calendar year if such absence affects his credits or coverage for 

Health and Welfare and/or Pension and he would otherwise have been 

working. 

 In the event other or different legislation on this subject is 

adopted, the parties will meet and discuss the same. 

 A permanent employee returning to work after military service 

in accordance with the above paragraphs for the same Company for 

whom he worked prior to his entering military service shall have 

the time in military service counted for the purpose of determining 

the length of vacation, and the time he earned toward a vacation 

prior to his entering military service shall be counted for the 

purpose of determining eligibility for the vacation which the 

employee will be entitled to receive from the Company and Industry 

when he otherwise becomes eligible to receive his next vacation, 
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provided, however, that the time to be counted for the purpose of 

determining the length of vacation shall not exceed two (2) years.  

 Employees serving in the Armed Forces of the United States of 

America shall also be afforded such rights as are provided under 

the Uniform Services Employment and Reemployment Rights (USERRA). 

(d)  Leaves of Absence 

 A leave of absence may be granted for personal reasons not to 

exceed ninety (90) days to employees having one (1) year or more of 

service with the Company, upon application and approval by the 

Company and the Local Union.  Seniority shall not be broken because 

of, but shall not accumulate during, such period of leave.  Any 

employee who works for another employer or engages in business for 

himself, other than personal business during such leave, 

automatically vacates such leave of absence and will be adjudged to 

have terminated his employment. 

(e)  Leave for Union Work 

 An employee shall be permitted to take such time as may be 

necessary to engage in work for the Local Union; provided, however, 

that such employees shall be paid no compensation whatsoever by the 

Company for the time devoted to the performance of said duties or 

any of them. 

 A full-time officer or employee of the Joint Board or any 

constituent Local Union shall maintain his position on the 

seniority list of the Company and his status in the Industry and 
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upon ceasing such full-time employment may exercise such rights 

provided he acts within ninety (90) days of the termination of such 

full-time office or employment. 

 An employee who is absent for Union business and who returns 

to employment under this Agreement shall have his Health and 

Welfare eligibility reinstated as of the day he returns to work. 

(f)  Leaves for Maternity 

 Maternity leave shall be governed by applicable law. 

(g)  Worker's Compensation Benefits 

 An employee who is receiving Worker's Compensation Benefits 

because of an illness or injury incurred in the employ of the 

Company, shall receive each week the difference between what he 

receives as Worker's Compensation Benefits and $200.00, if any.  

The Company may require an employee to present his Worker's 

Compensation checks to the Company to verify the amount received. 

(h)  Funeral Leave 

 In the event of a death in a regular employee's immediate 

family (mother, father, spouse, children, brother, sister, 

mother-in-law, father-in-law, stepfather, stepmother, half-brother, 

half-sister, stepbrother, stepsister, brother-in-law, 

sister-in-law, grandchildren, grandparents and spouse's 

grandparents) the employee shall be given three (3) days of leave, 

and he shall be paid his regular straight time rate for such leave 

provided that the employee attends the funeral. 
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 This provision shall be applicable only to an employee who is 

scheduled to work at the time of and immediately following the 

death; provided however, that Saturdays, Sundays and holidays, 

shall not be included as part of the leave.  Such leave if taken, 

must be taken at the time of death.  Notice of intended leave must 

be given to the Company as much in advance of the commencement of 

the leave as is possible. 

(i)  Jury Duty 

 Whenever an employee is required to serve on a jury for a 

federal, state, county, or city court on a day the employee would 

otherwise have been working, the employee shall be paid the 

difference between the straight-time day shift rate and jury duty 

pay for each day of such service up to a maximum of fifteen (15) 

days in a calendar year.  This provision shall apply for one jury 

duty assignment per calendar year. 

 (j)  Sick Leave Pay 

 Employees other than temporary employees who has completed his 

probationary period shall be entitled to paid sick leave as 

follows: 

 For each calendar year:  Five (5) days. 

 Notwithstanding the above, employees shall not be entitled to 

paid sick leave unless the employee has worked at least 450 hours 

in the prior calendar year. 
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 The Employer may require a doctor's certificate or other 

evidence acceptable to the Employer.  In the event an employee does 

not use the specified days for each year or any portion thereof, 

the employee will be paid for the days not taken at the end of the 

year, or upon his retirement or death. 

 Employees with an approved intermittent FMLA will have days 

utilized as FMLA charged as sick days, until the 5 sick days have 

been utilized. Temporary employees will be granted paid sick leave 

in accordance with company policy and state law. 

SECTION 8 - HEALTH AND WELFARE AND PENSIONS 

A. HEALTH & WELFARE CONRIBUTIONS 

Upon Ratification, the Company shall make contributions on 

behalf of an eligible employee hereunder to the Teamsters' 

Health and Welfare Plans (Plan E) and Joint Council of 

Teamsters #42 (the Fund). The monthly amount contributed will 

be $1855.70.  

1. Effective October 1, 2018 the Company will contribute 85% 

of the cost of plan E, but no more than $2001.50 per 

month (85% of $2354.71) and effective October 1, 2019  

the Company will contribute 85% of the cost of plan E, 

but no more than $2081.56 per month (85% of $2448.89) and 

effective October 1, 2020 the company will contribute 85% 

of the cost of plan E, but no more than $2164.82 per 

month (85% of $2546.85). Employees will be responsible 

Exhibit 5

Exhibit 5

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-10   Filed 03/08/19   Page 163 of 321   Page ID #:263



  
 

25 

for paying, on a weekly basis, any amount charged above 

these levels.  

2. A contribution shall be made on behalf of an employee who 

had 75 hours worked or paid for in the industry in the 

month proceeding the month in which the contribution is 

made. The Company will maintain the necessary records to 

determine such eligibility. 

3. The Union will make all efforts to encourage use of 

preferred providers and HMO's to contain health care 

costs. 

B. HEALTH AND WELFARE CONTRIBUTIONS DURING ABSENCE BECAUSE OF 

ILLNESS 

 

1. In the event an employee who would otherwise be working 

is unable to do so because of illness, and as a result 

does not qualify to have a contribution to the above 

plans made on their behalf, the Company shall make a 

contribution on the employee’s behalf for that month and 

provided that only one such payment shall be made for 

this reason during a calendar year. The Company may 

require a doctor's certificate. If an employee is 

receiving Worker's Compensation benefits for an injury 

incurred in the employ of the Company, the Company shall 

make health and welfare contributions on behalf of the 

employee during the period of absence for a period not to 
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exceed twelve (12) months, provided that the employee has 

completed their probationary period.  

2. Employees eligible for coverage who are not receiving a 

paycheck are responsible for any required employee 

contributions that cannot be collected through payroll 

deduction. These contributions will either be accumulated 

and deducted from the employee’s pay when resumed, or the 

employee can remit their monthly contribution to the 

Company.  

C. HEALTH & WELFARE ADMINISTRATION 

The Plant Agreement and related Company Union jointly 

administered Health and Welfare Trust will be modified and/or 

administered so as to permit the Company without reduction of 

benefits to:  

1. at its discretion, determine the source of coverage; 

2. at its discretion, impose cost containment measures which 

do not lessen the actual benefits available; and  

3. at its discretion, offer alternative forms of health care 

coverage (e.g., health maintenance organizations, 

preferred provider organizations).  

D. WESTERN CONFERENCE OF TEAMSTERS PENSION TRUST 

Effective June 11, 2018 the Company shall pay four dollars and 

sixty cents ($4.60) for each hour worked or paid for into the 

Western Conference of Teamsters Pension Trust Fund. Effective 

June 10, 2019 such contribution shall be four dollars and 
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sixty-five cents ($4.65).  Effective June 8, 2020 such 

contribution shall be four dollars and seventy cents ($4.70). 

 

The above pension contributions include PEER contributions in 

accordance with the Memorandum of Agreement dated February, 

1996. Also, PEER contributions are not taken into 

consideration for benefit accrual purposes under the plan. 

 

The contributions per hour to the WCPTF shall be increased by 

16.5% of the basic contribution rate to provide for the 

Program for Enhanced Early Retirement (‘PEER”), rounded to the 

nearest penny. Thus, effective June 11, 2018, the Company’s 

PEER contribution shall be seventy-six cents ($4.60 x 16.5% = 

$0.76) per hour, bringing the total contribution to $5.36. 

Effective June 10, 2019, the Company’s PEER contribution shall 

be seventy-seven cents ($4.65 x 16.5% = $0.77) per hour, 

bringing the total contribution to $5.42. Effective June 8, 

2020 the Company’s PEER contribution shall be seventy-eight 

cents ($4.70 x 16.5% = $0.78) per hour, bringing the total 

contribution to $5.48. 

 

Contributions for PEER will be incorporated as part of the 

pension benefits in all future agreements in which the Company 

is obligated to make basic contributions to the WCPTF.  
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The additional hourly contribution rate for PEER must at all 

times be 16.5%, rounded to the nearest penny, of the basic 

contribution rate and cannot be decreased or discontinued at 

any time. Similarly, absent the Company’s express, written 

consent, the Company shall not be required to increase its 

PEER hourly contribution above 16.5% of the basic contribution 

rate; except that the hourly PEER contribution may be 

increased above 16.5% to provide an improved PEER. 

In the event the Trustees determine that the contribution rate 

to provide PEER (or an improved PEER) must be increased, the 

hourly rate set forth in Schedule A shall be reduced by the 

amount of the increase in PEER contributions above those 

stated above. 

The parties hereto and the Company and each employee covered 

hereby shall be bound by the terms and conditions of the Trust 

Agreement with any amendments thereto creating the Western 

Conference of Teamsters Pension Trust Fund, which said Trust 

Agreement is by this reference incorporated herein. In the 

case of conflict between any provision of this Agreement and 

said Trust Agreement incorporated by reference the provisions 

of said incorporated Agreement shall be controlling; Provided, 

however, that in the event said incorporated Agreement is 

amended or interpreted to require contributions at a rate 

which exceeds the contribution rates set forth herein, the 
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hourly wage rate set forth in Schedule A shall be reduced by 

the amount of such increased contributions. The provision with 

respect to physical examinations as contained in the Pension 

agreements of the California Brewers Brewery Workers 

I.B.T.C.W. and H. of A. Pension Plan will remain in full force 

and effect. 

 

E. PENSION TRUST CONTRIBUTIONS DURING ILLNESS OR DISABILITY 

The Company shall make the Pension Trust contributions on 

behalf of an employee who is receiving State Disability 

Insurance or who is absent three (3) consecutive days for 

sickness and who would otherwise be working for a period not 

to exceed four (4) weeks in a calendar year. The Company may 

require a doctor’s certificate. If an employee is receiving 

Workers’ Compensation Benefits for an injury incurred in the 

employ of the Company, the Company shall make Pension Trust 

Contributions on behalf of the employee during the period of 

their absence and when they would otherwise be working for a 

period not to exceed twelve (12) months. 

 

F. PENSION PLAN – PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES 

For probationary employees hired on or after June 15, 2015 the 

Company shall pay an hourly contribution rate of ten cents 

($0.10) (including PEER/80) during the probationary period as 

defined in Section 8 F, but in no case for a period longer 
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than the first ninety (90) calendar days from the initial date 

of hire. Contributions shall be made on the basis set forth in 

Section 8 D of this Agreement. After expiration of the 

probationary period as defined in Section 8 F, but in no event 

longer than the first 90 calendar days from the initial date 

of hire, the contribution shall be increased to the full 

contractual rate.  

 

G. CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT AND THRIFT SAVINGS PLAN    

 Employees covered by this Agreement shall be eligible to 

participate in the MillerCoors llc Consolidated Retirement and 

Thrift Savings Plan (the “CRTSP” or “Plan”) on the first day 

of the month coincident with or following completion of 90 

days of continuous full-time employment.  

Each employee may voluntarily contribute a percentage of 

pay to the CRTSP. Effective January 1, 2015 the CRTSP allowed 

Roth 401(k) (“Roth”) contributions. Each employee may 

voluntarily elect to contribute on i) a traditional before-tax 

basis up to 75% of pay; ii) a Roth 401(k) after-tax basis up 

to 55% of pay; or iii) on a combination of before-tax and Roth 

401(k) after-tax basis up to 55% of pay. The total amount 

elected may not exceed any amounts set by law, or necessary to 

meet any mandatory deductions. Employees will be able to make 

catch-up contributions as allowed for by the Economic Growth 

and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001.  

Exhibit 5

Exhibit 5

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-10   Filed 03/08/19   Page 169 of 321   Page ID #:269



  
 

31 

Effective January 1, 2016, each newly hired employee is 

automatically enrolled in the CRTSP at a pre-tax contribution 

rate of 4% with contributions invested in the Plan’s default 

investment option; each newly hired employee will have the 

ability to change their contribution rate to 0% or any other 

percentage as outlined above and/or change their investment 

option(s) before the automatic enrollment takes effect. 

Loans will be made available through the CRTSP.  Participants 

may have one General Purpose and one Home Purchase loan 

outstanding at any given time.  Plan participants will be 

responsible for any loan set up and administration fees. 

Charges rendered by the Plan’s record keeper resulting from 

the implementation of a Qualified Domestic Relations Order 

(QDRO) are the responsibility of the participant and/or the 

participant’s Alternate Payee. 

The CRTSP Plan document shall be the controlling document 

and shall set forth the Plan terms relative to eligibility, 

participation, benefits, financing, and administration as 

required by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act 

(ERISA) and shall be subject to the requirements of the 

Internal Revenue Code for tax qualified retirement plans, 

including particularly Internal Revenue Code Section 401(K). 

SECTION 9. HEALTH AND SAFETY 

(a)  Company Pledged to Health and Safety 
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 The Company is pledged to quality and production with safety, 

and it will take precautions to secure the health and safety of all 

employees and abide by the state and federal safety and health 

standards, acts and laws. 

(b)  Protective Clothing 

 While employees are engaged in the type of work listed below, 

protective clothing shall be furnished as stated or its equivalent. 

 Brewers engaged in coating tanks: suitable clothing and gloves 

for such work. 

 Brewers engaged in cleaning walls and hot wort tanks: rubber 

suits. 

 Brewers engaged in cellar tank cleaning: rubber suits and 

protective shoes. 

 Employees handling caustic, acid, and brine: rubber gloves and 

boots. 

 Employees engaged in cleaning, oiling and greasing equipment:  

protective clothing. 

 In the case of forklifts: protective clothing against acid 

available if needed. 

 Employees engaged in the handling of wooden pallets and kegs:  

protective footwear. 

 Such clothing shall be issued to employees daily as their 

assignments require and otherwise remain in custody of the Company. 

(c)  Boots for Brewers 
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 Brewers shall be provided with boots in accordance with the 

Company's practice. 

(d)  Change from Hot to Cold or Vice Versa 

 When an employee is going from a hot temperature job to a cold 

temperature job, they shall be allowed fifteen (15) minutes 

(outside of their rest time or lunch period) in order to adjust to 

the environmental temperature change. This does not apply to times 

when the routine performance of a job requires short term entries 

into a hot or cold temperature.  

(e) First Aid Cabinets 

 The Company shall provide first-aid cabinets at various 

locations throughout the facility. The Company shall also provide a 

first aid room in the facility. 

 (f)  Minimization of Fumes 

 The Company agrees to make every effort to minimize a 

concentration of gasoline, oil, or any fumes. 

(g)  Safety Education 

 The Company agrees to maintain a continuing program of safety 

education to develop a safety awareness among its employees. 

(h)  Safety Committee 

 The Union may appoint three (3) employees to serve as a Safety 

Committee.  Their names shall be certified to the Manager of 

Industrial Relations or other person in such position in writing.  

This Committee shall meet with a management representative each 
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month for the purpose of discussing safety problems in the 

Company's plant. An employee shall be compensated for time lost 

from his regular shift to attend the scheduled monthly meetings of 

the Committee. The Committee shall have the power to make 

recommendations to the Company, and the Company shall consider and 

respond to the recommendations. An employee shall have the right 

and it shall be his responsibility to report to his foreman any 

unsafe conditions, practices or violations of the Company's safety 

regulations. 

(i)  Lunchrooms and Dressing Facilities 

 The Company shall furnish and maintain lunchrooms, adequate 

and clean dressing rooms with lockers, washstands, toilets, and 

showers. Employees recognize their responsibility to assist in 

maintaining these facilities. 

(j)  Unsafe Working Conditions/Situations 

 Should an employee on work assignment, identify, while on that 

work assignment, a condition or situation which the employee 

believes to be unsafe, the employee shall have the right to have a 

steward and a Company representative investigate and, if possible, 

correct the condition or situation. If the steward and the Company 

representative are unable to agree that the condition or situation 

is unsafe, then the employee shall be required to continue the work 

assignment but the matter will be referred to the joint 

Company/Union Safety Committee for resolution. Failing resolution 
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through the Safety Committee, the employee shall have the right to 

have the matter determined through the grievance/arbitration 

procedure. 

(k) Follow-up Medical Visits 

  An employee who is injured on the job shall not normally be 

released during work hours to follow-up or continue medical 

treatments subsequent to the day of the injury. 

SECTION 10.  FREE BEER 

(a)  Possession or Consumption of Alcoholic Beverages 

 The possession (except as required in the performance of job 

duties) or consumption of alcoholic beverages on the Company's 

premises is prohibited, except as specifically authorized by the 

Resident Manager. The disciplinary measure which will be utilized 

for any infraction of this subsection shall be immediate 

termination of employment. 

(b)  Gratis Beer 

The Company agrees that each employee will be entitled to receive 

three (3) free cases of beer per month for home consumption.  

In addition, employees will be given the right to purchase beer for 

private consumption in accordance with the regulations established 

by the Company for the control of such beer sales for private 

consumption. 
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It is understood that employee beer privileges may be suspended for 

a reasonable period if an employee violates the Irwindale Brewery 

Drug and Alcohol Policy. 

(c)  Tax or Deposit on Beer 

 Should any statute, regulation, ordinance or other binding 

directive from a governmental agency hereafter impose or require 

any charge, deposit, tax, or other payment of money on beer 

purchased or received by an employee pursuant to this Article, the 

payment of such money shall be the responsibility of the employee 

receiving the gratis or purchased beer and shall be a condition to 

the receipt of such beer by the employee. 

SECTION 11.  OVERTIME PAY  

(a)Daily Overtime 

 All work done in addition to the regular workday of eight 

hours consecutive elapsed hours, during which employees shall have 

a meal period of one-half hour on the Employer's time which shall 

be considered and paid for as overtime. Overtime must be paid for 

and shall not be taken out or balanced by lay-off.  The overtime 

rate shall be equal to one and one-half (1-1/2) times the regular 

hourly rate, which shall be the weekly rate divided by thirty-seven 

and one-half (37-1/2). 

   

The overtime units established for the purpose of dividing overtime 

shall be as follows: 
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Department        Business Unit      

Packaging           Cans: C1, C2, C15/B5 

                    Bottles: B4/B6, B7/Keg 

Customer Service    Materials, Distribution, Stores, Palletizers 

 

Overtime will be assigned as follows: 

 Packaging: 

1) Volunteers within Business Unit  

2) Qualified volunteers within department 

3) Qualified volunteers from Customer Service Department 

4) Force within business Unit  

 Customer Service: 

1) Volunteers within the Business Unit 

2) Qualified Volunteers from Packaging 

3) Force within the Business Unit  

 Volunteers must be qualified to be selected for overtime work. 

 Employees will not be charged for the first five (5) hours of 

daily overtime. 

 The Company shall retain the right to modify, define or 

restructure the business units based on changing business needs 

within the terms of the contract.  
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 The Company shall have the right to determine the number of 

employees to work overtime and overtime shall be divided among the 

employees as equally as possible within Business Units. 

 Overtime assignments which are not filled pursuant to #1 above, 

will be offered to permanent and then probationary and then 

temporary employees of MillerCoors who are not on the work schedule 

in the week in which the overtime is solicited, who have indicated 

their interest in working such overtime by 11:00 a.m. on Wednesday.  

  Weekend and holiday overtime work will first be offered on a 

low hours to work, seniority for shift basis to permanent, 

probationary and then temporary employees who are on the schedule 

when the overtime is solicited.  The cut off hours will determine 

who works (lowest hours), but (seniority) will determine which 

shift each employee is assigned to. Having lowest hours does not 

guarantee overtime work if an employee has limited his availability 

by selecting a preferred shift. 

 Nothing in the sections above will preclude the Company from 

assigning overtime to employees from other Business Units in order 

to meet staffing requirements. 

 An employee will not be required to work overtime on a weekend 

or holiday preceding a vacation period. 

 Brewers’ overtime practices, including the required overtime 

practices, which are not inconsistent with the above, shall 

continue to be followed.  
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 Employees may be required to work overtime of one (1) hour or 

less for communication purposes as scheduled by the Company, 

regardless of their position on the overtime roster.  Attendance at 

communication meetings may be excused provided the employee submits 

an excuse acceptable to the Company.   

  (b)  Overtime Definition 

 The parties hereto intend and declare that the straight time 

rates (including the shift differential specifically designated as 

such herein) be the regular rates of pay of the employees working 

hereunder.  All work on Saturdays, Sundays and holidays in excess 

of forty (40) hours per workweek and all work in excess of seven 

and one-half (7-1/2) straight time hours in any day is overtime. 

 (c)  Saturday Overtime and Call In 

 All overtime and Saturday work in excess of forty (40) hours 

per workweek shall be paid for at a rate of time and one-half, it 

being understood that a workday or shift starting on a straight pay 

basis shall be completed as such.  No employee covered hereby may 

be called in for less than seven and one-half (7-1/2) hours on 

Saturday, except employees called in for attemperation work. 

 (d)  Sunday Overtime and Call In 

 All work performed on Sundays in excess of forty (40) hours 

per workweek shall be paid for at the rate of double time.  No 

employee covered hereby may be called in for less than seven and 
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one-half (7-1/2) hours on such days, except employees called in for 

attemperation work. 

(e)  No Pyramiding 

 There shall be no pyramiding of wage rates or overtime; thus, 

all overtime compensation required by law and paid shall be 

credited against overtime compensation provided for hereunder and 

only the excess, if any, shall be an obligation created by this 

contract.  Holiday overtime pay shall not be pyramided on regular 

pay; where several wage rates are applicable, the highest rate, and 

it alone, shall be paid. 

(f)  Overtime Prior to Regular Starting Time 

 An employee who works overtime prior to his regular starting 

time shall not as a result thereof be laid off for part of the 

following seven and one-half (7-1/2) hour shift.  An employee who 

works overtime prior to his regular starting time will be paid at 

one and one-half times the regular rate, except pre-shift work on 

Sunday which will be paid at the double time rate, for the time 

worked prior to his regular starting time.  An employee who is 

scheduled to work on a holiday will be paid triple time for 

overtime worked prior to his regular starting time. 

(g) Notice of Overtime 

 Except where overtime work results from breakdown or similar 

emergency, an employee will not be required to work overtime beyond 

their shift unless notice is given on or before the meal period of 
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the shift.  After completing their scheduled shift, an employee 

shall not be required to work more than four and one-half (4.5) 

hours of overtime (excluding pre-shift meeting), provided that a 

qualified employee is immediately available to perform the required 

work. After shift overtime will be first offered to the employees 

per section 11 (a) of the contract per business unit. If there are 

an insufficient number of qualified volunteers for after shift 

overtime, and no qualified employees or laid –off employees are 

available, a qualified employee with lowest seniority in the 

business unit shall be required to work. No employee shall be 

forced to work more than one (1) after shift opportunity per week. 

Once an employee has been forced to work one (1) after shift in one 

week, the next lowest senior and qualified employee in the unit 

will be required to work. 

 In situations where overtime work results from absenteeism and 

no qualified volunteers or qualified laid-off employees are 

available, a qualified employee with lowest seniority in the 

business unit shall be required to work. Should an employee be 

called in, it will be necessary for a qualified employee on shift 

to cover the job until relieved. 

 (h)  Time Off During Overtime 

 When two hours or more of overtime is scheduled, an employee 

who has been working during the immediately preceding straight time 

hours shall be allowed a meal period of twenty minutes on the 
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Company's time at the overtime rate.  The time for taking the meal 

period shall be scheduled by the Company at or about the end of the 

first hour of overtime. 

(i)  No Pay for Days Not Worked 

 The minimum weekly wages specified hereinafter are for a full 

week's work as herein provided and it is definitely understood that 

on days on which no work is performed for any reason, otherwise 

than on holidays herein specified, an employee shall receive no 

compensation. 

(j)  Time Clocks 

 The Company shall have a mechanical time recording device, 

which need not be a time clock, for recording time worked by 

employees. 

(k)  Commencement of Shift on Call In 

 Any employee who is called in as a replacement for a sick, 

injured or absent employee, shall have a seven and one-half (7-1/2) 

hour shift commencing when the employee clocks in on the shift on 

which he was requested to report. 

(l)  Break Between Shifts 

 The Company at their option may schedule not more than a 

half-hour break between the end of his first shift and the 

beginning of the second shift and between the second shift and the 

beginning of the third shift and a break of not more than one and 

one-half (1-1/2) hours between the end of the third shift and the 
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beginning of the first shift.  Any change shall be announced to the 

employees before their meal period on Friday of the week preceding 

the change. 

(m)  Overtime Equalization 

 Overtime work shall be divided equally within each applicable 

Business Unit. 

 If an employee refuses overtime work, they shall be charged 

with such overtime as though they had worked it; provided however, 

that when overtime beyond the end of the regular shift is required, 

the employee shall be notified not later than the beginning of 

their lunch period.  If the employee is not so notified they may 

refuse to work the overtime without being charged.  If the overtime 

work is required because of a breakdown the notice of required 

overtime need not be given by the beginning of the lunch period as 

hereinabove provided, but shall be given as soon as the Company has 

knowledge that the overtime will be required.  Employees refusing 

such overtime will be charged on the overtime list as though they 

had worked. 

 The Company shall maintain an up-to-date overtime record for 

each Business Unit which shall be posted on the respective 

departmental bulletin boards.  By Wednesday, the amount of overtime 

worked, plus the overtime charged in the prior week but not worked 

by each employee, shall be entered after their name on that record.  
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Overtime shall be equalized on a quarterly (three-month) basis 

within each Business Unit and will be zeroed out accordingly.  

(n)  Overtime Payments 

 Overtime shall be paid in increments of six minutes and 

employees shall work as instructed. 

(o)  Posting of Overtime Work for Weekend 

 The Company agrees to post overtime work to be worked over the 

weekend by no later than 12:00 noon on Thursday, except in case of 

emergency. 

 The Company shall be obligated to pay the posted overtime to 

an employee if the Company does not notify the employee by his 

lunch period on Friday that the overtime work has been cancelled. 

 In cases of emergency, the Company may schedule overtime work 

up to 12:00 noon on Friday.  Failure by the Company to post 

emergency overtime work by 12:00 noon on Friday shall not obligate 

an employee to perform the posted overtime. 

 An emergency shall be defined as a breakdown, power failure, 

or an act of God.  Any dispute concerning the application of 

emergency may be submitted to the grievance procedure. 

SECTION 12.  HOLIDAYS 

(a) Holidays observed - The following shall be considered legal 

holidays: 

2018 

6. INDEPENDENCE DAY WED, JULY 4, 2018  

7. LABOR DAY MON, SEPT. 3, 2018  

8. COLUMBUS DAY MON, OCT. 8, 2018  
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9. VETERAN’S DAY MON, NOV. 12, 2018  

10. THANKSGIVING DAY THUR, NOV. 22, 2018  

11. DAY AFTER THANKSGIVING FRI, NOV. 23, 2018  

12. CHRISTMAS EVE MON, DEC. 24, 2018  

13. CHRISTMAS DAY TUE, DEC. 25, 2018  

14. NEW YEAR’S EVE MON, DEC. 31, 2018  

 

2019 

1. NEW YEAR’S DAY TUE, JAN, 1, 2019  

2. MARTIN LUTHER KING MON, JAN, 21, 2019  

3. PRESIDENTS’ DAY MON, FEB. 18, 2019  

4. GOOD FRIDAY FRI, APR 19, 2019  

5. MEMORIAL DAY MON, MAY 27, 2019  

6. INDEPENDENCE DAY THU, JULY 4, 2019  

7. LABOR DAY MON, SEPT. 2, 2019  

8. COLUMBUS DAY MON, OCT. 14, 2019  

9. VETERAN’S DAY MON, NOV. 11, 2019  

10. THANKSGIVING DAY THUR, NOV. 28, 2019 

11. DAY AFTER THANKSGIVING FRI, NOV. 29, 2019 

12. CHRISTMAS EVE TUE, DEC. 24, 2019 

13. CHRISTMAS DAY WED, DEC. 25, 2019 

14. NEW YEAR’S EVE TUE, DEC. 31, 2019 

 

2020 

1. NEW YEAR’S DAY WED, JAN, 1, 2020  

2. MARTIN LUTHER KING MON, JAN, 20, 2020  

3. PRESIDENTS’ DAY MON, FEB. 17, 2020  

4. GOOD FRIDAY FRI, APR. 10, 2020  

5. MEMORIAL DAY MON, MAY 25, 2020  

6. INDEPENDENCE DAY FRI, JULY 3, 2020  

7. LABOR DAY MON, SEPT. 7, 2020  

8. COLUMBUS DAY MON, OCT. 12, 2020  

9. VETERAN’S DAY MON, NOV. 9, 2020  

10. THANKSGIVING DAY THUR, NOV. 26, 2020  

11. DAY AFTER THANKSGIVING FRI, NOV. 27, 2020  

12. CHRISTMAS EVE THUR, DEC. 24, 2020  

13. CHRISTMAS DAY FRI, DEC. 25, 2020  

14. NEW YEAR’S EVE THUR, DEC. 31, 2020  

 

2021 

1. NEW YEAR’S DAY FRI, JAN, 1, 2021  

2. MARTIN LUTHER KING MON, JAN, 18, 2021  

3. PRESIDENTS’ DAY MON, FEB. 15, 2021  

4. GOOD FRIDAY FRI, APR. 2, 2021  

5. MEMORIAL DAY MON, MAY 31, 2021 

  

Contract ends prior to Independence Day 2021  

 

 

 (b)  Compensation for Holidays 
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 An employee qualifying for holiday pay shall suffer no 

deduction of pay as a result of not working on these holidays and 

if any holiday mentioned above should fall on a Saturday, shall 

receive holiday pay therefore equal to seven and one-half (7-1/2) 

straight time hours.  If any employee is required to work on any of 

the above holidays, the employee shall be compensated at the rate 

of triple time (which includes holiday pay) for the hours worked on 

such holiday and for consecutive hours worked on the day following 

the holiday if held over provided the employee has worked 32 hours 

in weeks with one holiday and 24 hours in weeks with two holidays.  

No employee covered hereby may be called in for less than seven and 

one-half (7-1/2) hours on a holiday except employees called in for 

attemperation. 

(c) Work Qualification for Holiday Pay 

 To be eligible for holiday pay, an employee must work his full 

scheduled shift on the day before the holiday and his full 

scheduled shift on the day after the holiday.  Approved absence on 

either of these days shall not disqualify an employee for holiday 

pay.   

 Employees who are no more than one (1) hour late on either the 

day before, the day of, or the day after the holiday shall 

nonetheless be eligible for holiday pay if the missed work time is 

due to an unforeseen but verifiable reason and approved by the 

human resource department and the employee offers to make up any 

missed work at the end of his scheduled shift. 
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 A permanent employee who is laid off within fifteen (15) days 

prior to a holiday, or who is on disability no more than fifteen 

(15) days prior to a holiday, or who is recalled or returns from 

disability within fifteen (15) days after a holiday shall receive 

seven and one-half (7-1/2) hours holiday pay for that holiday. 

(d)  Holidays During Vacation 

 If any holiday enumerated in the first paragraph of this 

section should fall within an employee's vacation period, said 

employee shall receive an extra day's vacation or an extra day's 

pay in lieu thereof at the discretion of the Company. 

SECTION 13.  VACATIONS 

(a)  One Week's Vacation Qualification 

 All employees, upon the completion of forty-five (45) weeks of 

employment for the same Company within a twelve (12) month 

consecutive period, shall be entitled to one (1) weeks’ vacation 

with full pay. Any employee who has not qualified for a vacation 

period within a period of twelve (12) consecutive months may 

qualify within a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive months.  

When earning a first vacation, after the completion of forty-five 

(45) weeks of work within fifty-two (52) or more weeks within two 

successive calendar years, an employee will receive on the 

following January 1:  (a) one week's vacation; and (b) pro rata of 

the number of weeks worked after such fifty-two (52) or more weeks 
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and before the following January 1st (but not to exceed 45) divided 

by 45 times one week's vacation. 

(b)  Two Weeks' Vacation Qualification 

 When an employee has become entitled to his second vacation 

with the Company while continuing to have unbroken seniority with 

the Company subject to subsection (k) hereof, he shall thereupon 

and thereafter be entitled while such seniority continues unbroken, 

to a two (2) weeks' vacation with pay at the end of each forty-five 

(45) weeks' work within any consecutive twenty-four (24) months. 

(c)  Three Weeks' Vacation Qualification 

 When an employee has become entitled to his third (3rd) 

vacation with the Company while continuing to have unbroken 

seniority with the Company subject to subsection (k) hereof, he 

shall thereupon and thereafter while such seniority continues 

unbroken be entitled to a three (3) weeks' vacation with pay at the 

end of each forty-five (45) weeks' work within any consecutive 

twenty-four (24) months. 

(d)  Four Weeks' Vacation Qualification 

 The following vacation qualification provision applies to 

employees hired prior to January 1, 2010: 

When an employee has become entitled to their fifth (5th) vacation 

with the Company while continuing to have unbroken seniority with 

the Company subject to subsection (k) hereof, he shall thereupon 

and thereafter be entitled while such seniority continues unbroken, 

to a four (4) weeks' vacation with pay at the end of each 
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forty-five (45) weeks' work within any consecutive twenty-four (24) 

months. 

 The following vacation qualification provision applies to 

employees hired after January 1, 2010:  

 When an employee has become entitled to their ninth (9th) 

vacation with the Company while continuing to have unbroken 

seniority with the Company subject to subsection (k) hereof, he 

shall thereupon and thereafter be entitled while such seniority 

continues unbroken, to a four (4) weeks' vacation with pay at the 

end of each forty-five (45) weeks' work within any consecutive 

twenty-four (24) months. 

(e) Five Weeks' Vacation Qualification 

The following vacation qualification provision applies to employees 

hired prior to January 1, 2010: 

 When an employee has become entitled to their eighth (8th) 

vacation with the Company while continuing to have unbroken 

seniority with the Company subject to subsection (k) hereof, he 

shall thereupon and thereafter be entitled while such seniority 

continues unbroken, to a five (5) weeks' vacation with pay at the 

end of each forty-five (45) weeks' work within any consecutive 

twenty-four (24) months. 

The following vacation qualification provision applies to employees 

hired after January 1, 2010: 

When an employee has become entitled to their fifteenth (15
th
) 

vacation with the Company while continuing to have unbroken 
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seniority with the Company subject to subsection (k) hereof, the 

employee shall thereupon and thereafter be entitled while such 

seniority continues unbroken, to a five (5) weeks’ vacation with 

pay at the end of each forty-five (45) weeks’ work within any 

consecutive twenty-four (24) months. 

(f) Six  Weeks' Vacation Qualification 

 The following vacation qualification provision applies to 

employees hired prior to January 1, 2010: 

 When an employee has become entitled to their tenth (10th) 

vacation with the Company while continuing to have unbroken 

seniority with the Company subject to subsection (k) hereof, he 

shall thereupon and thereafter be entitled while such seniority 

continues unbroken, to a six (6) weeks' vacation with pay at the 

end of each forty-five (45) weeks' work within any consecutive 

twenty-four (24) months. 

All employees hired after January 1, 2004 shall receive a maximum 

of six (6) weeks of vacation in accordance with the schedule set 

forth in this agreement. 

The following vacation qualification provision applies to employees 

hired after January 1, 2010: 

 When an employee has become entitled to their twenty-fourth 

(24th) vacation with the Company while continuing to have unbroken 

seniority with the Company subject to subsection (k) hereof, he 

shall thereupon and thereafter be entitled while such seniority 

continues unbroken, to a six (6) weeks' vacation with pay at the 
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end of each forty-five (45) weeks' work within any consecutive 

twenty-four (24) months. 

(g) Seven Weeks' Vacation Qualification 

 The following vacation qualification provision applies to 

employees hired prior to January 1, 2004: 

 When an employee has become entitled to his fifteenth (15th) 

vacation with the Company while continuing to have unbroken 

seniority with the Company subject to subsection (k) hereof, he 

shall thereupon and thereafter be entitled while such seniority 

continues unbroken, to a seven (7) weeks' vacation with pay at the 

end of each forty-five (45) weeks' work within any consecutive 

twenty-four (24) months. 

All employees hired after January 1, 2004 shall receive a maximum 

of six (6) weeks of vacation in accordance with the schedule set 

forth in this agreement. 

(h) Eight Weeks' Vacation Qualification 

 The following vacation qualification provision applies to 

employees hired prior to January 1, 2004: 

 When an employee has become entitled to his twentieth (20th) 

vacation with the Company while continuing to have unbroken 

seniority with the Company subject to subsection (k) hereof, he 

shall thereupon and thereafter be entitled while such seniority 

continues unbroken, to an eight (8) weeks' vacation with pay at the 

end of each forty-five (45) weeks' work within any consecutive 

twenty-four (24) months.  
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 All employees hired after January 1, 2004 shall receive a 

maximum of six (6) weeks of vacation in accordance with the 

schedule set forth in this agreement. 

 (i)  Maximum Vacations During Summer Period 

 The summer vacation period for Brewers shall be June 15 to 

September 15.  A Brewer who is eligible for a sixth vacation week 

may schedule up to three weeks’ vacation during the summer period. 

A Brewer eligible for three or more weeks of vacation may schedule 

two weeks’ vacation during the summer period. A Brewer eligible for 

one or two weeks of vacation may schedule one week of vacation 

during the summer period. 

 The summer vacation period for Bottlers shall be June 1 to 

September 15.  A Bottler may schedule up to three weeks of vacation 

during the summer period. 

 No Bottler or Brewer may schedule vacation which would cause 

the Company's weekly vacation quota to be exceeded. 

(j)  Fifty-Two Weeks' Requirement 

 No employee shall become entitled to vacation under this 

Section 13, subsections (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), or (f) in a period 

short of fifty-two (52) weeks.  No time worked in excess of 

forty-five (45) weeks in a consecutive fifty-two (52) weeks of 

employment can be carried over as a credit to the next vacation. 

(k)  Scheduling of Vacations 

 Each employee eligible to request vacation in accordance with 

Section 13(a),(b),(c),(d),(e),(f),(g)and(h)will be required to 
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indicate their vacation on a form provided by the Company.  Such 

vacation selection must be made no later than December 1 of each 

year.  For vacation purposes only, the Company will notify 

employees of the shift on which they will select their vacation no 

later than the 46
th
 week of the calendar year.  

 Employees shall have the choice of vacation periods in 

accordance with their seniority and shift assignment, subject, 

however, to the Company's right to limit the number of employees 

who may take vacations in any given week and on any given shift.   

 Employees shall request vacation by indicating their 

preference by seniority on the shift and business unit on which 

they are a member at the time vacation selection begins.  Employees 

on special assignments shall select vacation with the unit in which 

they are included for overtime purposes.  The Company has the right 

to limit the number of employees who may take vacations in any 

given week on any given shift.  If the employee does not have 

sufficient seniority to hold the week(s)requested, the Company will 

contact the employee for selection of vacation from the remaining 

available weeks.  

 The groups for vacation selection shall be as follows: 

Department         Business Unit        

Packaging          Cans: C1, C2, C15/B5 

                   Bottles: B4/B6, B7/Keg 

Customer Service    Materials, Distribution, Stores, Palletizers 
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If the employee is not available to make a vacation selection, 

it will be the employee’s responsibility to contact the Company, 

and the employee will be entitled to select a vacation from the 

remaining available weeks.  The Company will schedule vacations for 

those employees who fail to select their vacations by December 1. 

All vacation assignments shall be finalized and posted by December 

15. 

   The current practice of scheduling vacations for the Brewers 

classification will continue.  

(l)  Vacation Pay 

Compensation for said vacation, when taken, shall be paid at 

the rate provided for on the shift on which an employee worked.  In 

the event an employee is laid off prior to the commencement of his 

scheduled vacation and has qualified for a vacation, if such 

employee requests that he be paid his vacation pay while on 

lay-off, such vacation pay shall be paid to him.  Such vacation pay 

shall be thirty-seven and one-half (37-1/2) times the first shift 

hourly rate of his classification and such vacation pay shall be in 

lieu of a vacation period.  Vacation shall not be pre-paid. 

(m)  Disputes Concerning Vacations 

 Disputes arising through claims for vacations not otherwise 

specified herein shall be adjusted by mutual agreement between the 

Company and the Local Union. 

(n)  Seniority Rights with an Individual Employer 
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 Employee's seniority rights with the Company remain unbroken 

so long as he has not lost status in the industry or right to 

re-employment or seniority rights with the Company under Sections 

3, 4(a)(4), 4(a)(5), 4(a)(6), 4(d), 4(i), 5(c)(5), 7(d) or 31(a).  

A bottler, brewer or checker shall not select vacation weeks in 

which a total of more than four (4) holidays fall. 

(o)  Absence for Illness or Accident:  Time of Vacation 

 Employees shall be allowed a maximum of sixty (60) calendar 

days on account of illness or accident and all time actually taken 

as a vacation period during said twelve (12) month period and the 

same shall constitute time worked for the purpose of computing 

eligibility for vacation under the provisions of this section. 

(p)  Common Anniversary Date 

 There shall be a common anniversary date period, which shall 

be from January 1 to January 1 of each year. 

 (q)  Pro Rata Vacation Pay 

 Upon termination of employment other than lay-off with the 

Company a permanent employee who has earned his first vacation will 

be paid pro rata vacation by such employer on the ratio of weeks 

worked since the last January 1 to 45 weeks, not to exceed a full 

vacation.  In addition, upon termination of employment, employees 

will be paid all unused and pro rata vacation in a lump sum.  Such 

vacation pay shall not be used to extend employment.  This 

provision in no way affects the content of Section 13(o). 
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 Payment for pro rata vacation pay shall be the responsibility 

of the Company for whom the employee was last working.  The Company 

may enter a claim against the Vacation Pay Trust for full recovery 

of pro rata vacation pay made including all payroll costs.  The 

trust shall reimburse the Company provided that the employee did 

not earn his last full vacation from the Company, in the calendar 

year immediately preceding the termination.  If, however, the 

employee did earn his last full vacation from the Company, then 

there shall be no recovery by the Company from the fund. 

(r)  Retention of Vacation Eligibility 

 Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, a permanent 

employee who is not employed under the Agreement for a period of 

less than one (1) year shall not lose any vacation eligibility to 

which he would otherwise be entitled. 

(s)  Vacation Eligibility for Employee on a Leave for Union 

Business 

 The vacation eligibility of an employee absent on a leave of 

absence for full-time Union business shall, upon his return to 

work, be based upon the eligibility he had at the time of leaving 

and he shall be credited with time spent on such Union business. 

(t)  Vacation Eligibility for Employee Receiving Workers' 

Compensation Benefits 

 An employee who is receiving Workers' Compensation Benefits 

because of an injury or illness incurred as an employee of the 
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Company shall have time lost counted in determining his vacation 

eligibility if he would have otherwise been working. 

(u): Single Day Vacation 

 Beginning with 2016 vacation selection period, employees with 

three (3) weeks or more of vacation shall be allowed one (1) week 

of vacation to be taken in a single day increments. Such vacation 

selection must be made no later than December 1 of each year. 

Changes to single days must be scheduled three (3) days in advance 

and are subject to management approval. In the event an employee 

does not use the five (5) days or any portion thereof, the employee 

will be paid for the days not taken within the month following the 

end of the vacation year.  

(v): FMLA Charging 

Effective January 1, 2019 employees with an approved intermittent 

FMLA will have days utilized as FMLA charged as vacation, in 8-hour 

blocks, up to a maximum of one week each year, after utilization of 

sick leave pursuant to Section 7(j). This is not to be applied to 

employees out on maternity leave. 

Employees will continue to have the option to receive vacation pay 

in conjunction with FMLA absences for leaves that are in weekly 

increments. 

SECTION 14. COMPANY'S RIGHT OF SELECTION AND ASSIGNMENT 

 The Company shall at all times have the entire right of 

selection and placing of employees or for rearrangement of 
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employees for any shifts, employees with oldest seniority with the 

Company shall whenever practicable be given preference. 

 Employees whose work requires them to meet the public or whose 

work is viewed by the public shall report to work clean and 

presentably groomed and dressed. 

SECTION 15.  REFUSAL TO PASS DULY SANCTIONED PICKET LINE AND 

CONTINUING TO DO BUSINESS 

 It shall not be cause for discharge and no employee shall be 

discriminated against for refusing to enter upon any property 

involved in a lawful primary labor dispute or refusing to go 

through or work behind any lawful primary picket line, including 

the picket line of the Joint Board or any of its constituent Local 

Unions and including picket lines at the Company's place or places 

of business.  (This section shall not apply to jurisdictional 

disputes.) 

SECTION 16. DISTRIBUTION OF LITERATURE BY EMPLOYEES 

 Any literature distributed by an employee without the consent 

of the Company will give the Company the right to discharge 

immediately any such employee, providing that such literature is 

distributed during working hours. 

SECTION 17. SEPARABILITY 

 It is not the intent of either party hereto to violate any 

applicable federal, state or local law, ruling or regulation or 

public policy and the parties hereto agree that in the event any 

provision or part thereof of this Agreement is finally held by any 
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court or any administrative body, as the case may be, to be void or 

in contravention of any law, ruling or regulation or public policy 

rendered either prior to or after the execution of this Agreement, 

such provision shall be unenforceable but the remainder of the 

Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, unless the void 

parts are wholly inseparable from the remaining portion of this 

Agreement.  In that event the parties will meet to negotiate a 

lawful provision if possible. 

SECTION 18.  CONTRACT CHANGE BY WRITTEN AGREEMENT ONLY 

 This contract may be altered, changed or deviated from only by 

the written agreement of the Teamster Brewery & Soft Drink Workers 

Union and the Company and the Teamster Brewery & Soft Drink Workers 

Union alone for the Local Union and employees may enforce this 

Agreement. 

SECTION 19.  ACT OF GOD, EFFECT ON AGREEMENT 

 Should any establishment of the Company or unit or operation 

thereof become inoperative because of utility failure and equipment 

breakdown beyond the control of the Company, fire, earthquake, or 

other act of God, all provisions contained herein shall apply only 

to persons employed in actual capacities governed by this contract. 

SECTION 20.  NO STRIKES 

(a)  No Strikes During Period of Agreement 

 It is mutually agreed and understood that during the period 

this Agreement is in force, the Union will not authorize or ratify 

a strike, slowdown or stoppage of work or withdrawal of employees 
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subject to the Agreement except such refusals as are privileged 

under Section 17, provided, however, that in the event the Company 

should violate Section 5 of this Agreement the Union is 

authorized--as to such Company and with respect to such violation, 

for the period thereof--to withdraw such employees of said Company 

as are subject to this Agreement, and said employees so withdrawn 

shall not lose their status as employees. 

(b)  No Lockouts 

 The Company agrees that it shall carry on no lockout during 

the period that the Agreement is in force; provided, however, that 

in the event the Union should violate Section 20(a) of this 

Agreement, the Company is authorized to lock out the employees. 

SECTION 21.  NONLIABILITY FOR UNAUTHORIZED ACTS 

 It is agreed to by the respective parties hereto that neither 

the Company nor the Local Union shall be liable for damages caused 

by the acts or conduct of any individual or group of individuals 

acting or conducting themselves in violation of the terms of this 

Agreement without the authority of the respective parties, and it 

is further agreed that neither the Company nor the Local Union 

directly or through its agents shall foster, initiate, foment, 

encourage, sanction, approve or condone any violation of this 

Agreement.  Individuals or groups of individuals acting or 

conducting themselves in violation of the terms of this Agreement 

shall be disciplined. 

SECTION 22.  UNION AND COMPANY AGENTS 
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(a)  Official Union Agents 

 The Secretaries of the Teamster Brewery & Soft Drink Workers 

Union shall be the general agent of the Union for the 

administration of this Agreement.  The Union may appoint other 

agents to act with respect to this Agreement, but shall first 

notify the Company in writing, of such appointment and the scope of 

authority of such agent.  No one else shall be deemed the agent of 

the Union. 

(b)  Official Company Agents 

 The Company shall designate one or more management 

representatives to be the general agent or agents for the 

administration of this Agreement and shall notify the Union 

thereof.  The Company may appoint other agents to act with respect 

to this Agreement, but shall first notify the Union in writing of 

such appointment and the scope of authority of such agent.  No one 

else shall be deemed the agent of the Company. 

(c)  Chief Steward 

 The Chief Steward will be paid for all time spent discussing 

grievances with a management representative in the plant, while not 

on regular duty, at the applicable hourly rate up to a maximum of 

five (5) hours per week and provided that the Chief Steward is 

working on the afternoon or night shifts. 

(d) Off-Shift Bottler Stewards 

 Bottler off-shift stewards may be assigned any work within the 

bottler classification. 
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 Such assignments will not interfere with traditional stewards’ 

role in representing members of the Local 896 production bargaining 

unit. 

SECTION 23.  SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

 This Agreement shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, 

administrators, successors, purchasers, transferees and assignees 

of the Company.  The Company shall give notice of the existence of 

this Agreement to any successor, purchaser, transferee or assignee. 

SECTION 24.  RESTRICTIONS ON INDIVIDUAL EMPLOYER LIABILITY 

 No Company whether an individual signatory to this Agreement 

or otherwise bound by it shall be liable for acts of any other 

Company or any other signator, under or in violation of this 

Agreement. 

SECTION 25. ADJUSTMENTS OF DISPUTES 

(a)  Grievance and Arbitration Procedure 

 Any dispute or grievance arising at or involving an 

establishment subject to this Agreement shall be disposed of as 

follows: 

 (1)  Such dispute or grievance shall be presented orally or in 

writing at the First Step between the employee's steward and the 

employee's supervisor within four (4) days of its occurrence.  The 

grievance will be answered within four (4) days of its being 

presented.  If the answer is unsatisfactory, the grievance may be 

reduced to writing and appealed to the Second Step within four (4) 

days of the answer at Step 1.  The grievance will be answered 
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within four (4) days of its being considered at Step 2.  If the 

answer is unsatisfactory, the grievance may be appealed to Step 3 

within four (4) days of the answer at Step 2.  The grievance will 

be answered within ten (10) days of its being considered at Step 3.  

If a dispute does not arise at the job level, it may be stated in 

writing and delivered to the Company or to the Local Union by the 

Company at Step 3 within four (4) days of its occurrence. 

 (2) Should Company and Union representatives fail to agree on 

settlement at Step 3, either party may ask that the dispute be 

submitted to arbitration within 30 days after the Step 3 answer. 

 (3) Should the Company and the Union be unable to agree upon 

an impartial arbitrator within ten (10) working days after delivery 

of the request for arbitration, the arbitrator shall be selected 

from a list submitted by the FMCS upon written request of either 

party.  The parties shall alternately strike names from the list.  

Either party shall have the right to reject up to two (2) lists 

before going through the striking procedure. 

 The decision of the arbitrator within his powers on a dispute 

properly before him shall be final and binding on the parties to 

the proceeding.  The arbitrator shall not have the power to add to, 

modify or change any provisions of this Agreement.  All expenses 

and charges of the arbitrator and the cost of the hearing room and 

reporter, if any, shall be shared by the Local Union and the 

Company. 
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 (4) Failure to answer a grievance within the time limits 

specified above shall result in the grievance being automatically 

appealed to the next step.  A grievance which is not appealed to 

the next step within the time limits specified above shall be 

considered resolved based on the last answer given.  Any of the 

above time limits may be extended upon mutual agreement by the 

parties in writing. 

(b)  No Stoppage of Work 

 (1) Pending settlement of any dispute between the parties in 

accordance with this Section, there shall be no stoppage of work 

either on the part of the Company, the employees, or the Union, 

providing that said work shall continue in the manner in which it 

had previous to the arising of the dispute and prompt submission of 

it to the procedures of this paragraph, and that such work shall be 

performed, or such payments made, as had been done or paid previous 

to the arising of the dispute and the prompt submission of it for 

decision under this paragraph.  It is the considered and deliberate 

intention of the Union and the Company to avoid insofar as possible 

the stoppage of work. 

 (2) Prior to exercising the rights under Section 25(b) (1), it 

shall be mandatory for the Secretary-Treasurer of the Local Union 

and the Labor Relations Manager of the Company, or their designees, 

to meet in person in an effort to resolve the pending dispute. This 

meeting shall be held within seven (7) working days of the filing 

under this section. 
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 (3) The rights under Section 25(b) (1) shall not be exercised 

by the Union in any situation in which an improvement in 

productivity, change in work methods, or technological improvement 

initiated by the Company is at issue. The Union may, however, if it 

deems it appropriate, utilize the grievance and arbitration 

procedure described under this Section to address any violations of 

the Agreement related to the Company's actions. 

(c)  Written Reprimand 

 In the event an employee is given a written reprimand which 

becomes a part of his employment record, a copy of such reprimand 

shall be promptly sent to the Union. 

(d)  Settlement Checks 

 In settlement of grievances, checks will be made within 

fourteen (14) days of settlement of the grievance. 

(e)  Nonprecedence of Cases 

 Any settlement of a question by the Shop Steward and the 

immediate supervisor of any employee involved in a dispute shall 

not establish a precedent or conflict in any manner with the 

provisions of this Agreement. 

(f)  Multiplicity of Cases, Hearing 

 Disputes which arise under Section 2(a)(5) will be handled in 

accordance with the grievance procedure provided that, at the 

arbitration step, an odd number of cases may be heard before the 

same arbitrator but not to exceed five (5) cases and provided 

further that in the event the Company loses the arbitration it 
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shall pay the cost of the arbitrator's fee and in the event the 

Union loses, the arbitrator's fee shall be borne equally by the 

Company and the Union.  The loser shall be determined by which 

party loses the most cases at each hearing. 

SECTION 26.  USE OF EMPLOYEES OUT OF CLASSIFICATION 

 In emergencies or where there is not sufficient work or full 

time employment in any classification, the Company may use 

employees in other classifications after first clearing same with 

the Secretary-Treasurer of the Local Union.  Such clearance shall 

not unreasonably be withheld, it being the intent to achieve full 

utilization of employees.  An affected employee shall be 

immediately notified by the Union that such clearance has been 

issued.  No employee may be discharged for refusing to perform work 

out of classification prior to such notification.  Wages shall be 

increased but not decreased under this paragraph. 

Section 27. Disciplinary Layoff 

 (a)  Discharge for Just Cause 

 The Company shall be the sole judge of the qualification of 

all his employees.  This right shall not be exercised arbitrarily.  

No employee shall be discharged without just cause.  In the event 

of discharge without just cause, the employee may be reinstated 

with payment for time off.  In the event of a dispute the existence 

of just cause shall be determined under the grievance procedure of 

Section 25. 

(b)  Probationary Period 
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 All new, temporary and extra employees shall be on probation 

for one hundred eighty (180) calendar days for the Company and may 

be discharged by the Company during such probationary period with 

or without cause, and shall have no recourse to the grievance 

procedure. 

(c) Discipline – Use of Prior Offenses 

 No discipline, written notice of which has not been given to 

the Union and the employee, nor any discipline which has been given 

more than twelve (12) months prior to the current act or twelve 

(12) months prior to the current act for absenteeism, shall be 

considered by the Company in any subsequent discharge, suspension, 

or other disciplinary action. If an employee is suspended or 

discharged, he shall be allowed to complete his regular shift or be 

paid for the balance of such shift. 

 (d)  Transfers - Not to be Used as Discipline 

 The Company shall not use transfers as a disciplinary measure. 

SECTION 28. BREWERS 

(a)  Regular Workday and Workweek 

 The basic normal or regular workday shall consist of seven and 

one-half (7-1/2)consecutive elapsed hours with one-half hour meal 

period on Company time and five (5) consecutive days (respectively 

37-1/2) shall constitute the basic, normal or regular workweek.  

The regular workweek shall commence at 10:30 p.m. on Sunday. All 

work performed from Friday 10:30 p.m. to Saturday 10:30 p.m. shall 

be overtime and paid for as such regardless of shift. An employee 
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cannot be required to take a meal period at any time other than at 

or about the middle of the shift. 

 There shall be two fifteen (15) minute breaks on Company time.  

The first break shall be taken about the middle of the first half 

of the shift; and the second break shall be taken about the middle 

of the second half of the shift. 

(b)  Shift Hours and Overtime 

The majority of straight time hours worked in any shift shall 

determine the shift worked. The regular first shift working day 

shall not commence before 6:00 a.m. and shall not continue after 

4:30 p.m. All work on this shift in excess of seven and one-half 

(7-1/2) elapsed hours or done before 6:00 a.m. and after 4:30 p.m. 

shall be considered overtime. The second shift working day shall 

not commence before 2:00 p.m. Employees are governed by the 

contract relating to working time and pay. 

 Employees may be required to work overtime of one (1) hour or 

less for communication purposes as scheduled by the Company, 

regardless of their position on the overtime roster. Attendance at 

communication meetings may be excused provided the employee submits 

an excuse acceptable to the Company.   

 

(c) Restriction of Layoff and Return 

Subject to Section 4(b), employees may be laid off at the end 

of any regular workweek. The Company may utilize employees on crews 

on the Tap-O-Matic line on Wednesday, Thursday or Friday provided 

these employees work the rest of that week. The Company shall not 
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be required to schedule employees for the remainder of the workweek 

or following week if employees who are called in are replacing 

employees who were scheduled. If the Company adds additional 

staffing mid-week, the employee shall work the rest of that 

workweek and the following workweek. Extra employees may be hired 

or laid off at any time except for a fractional part of a day. 

 (d)  Rotation of Shifts 

There shall be no rotation of shifts for brewers with the exception 

of training.  Plant seniority shall prevail in shift selection 

among permanent brewers subject to all shifts being staffed with  

employees with sufficient experience and skill and provided that 

the employees are qualified to perform available work on the shift 

of their preference.  Brewers' shifts may be temporarily changed 

whenever there are insufficient qualified employees as a result of 

emergencies, illness, absenteeism, vacations or training 

requirements.  No later than October 1 of each year, all Brewers 

that have completed their probationary period will be required to 

indicate their shift of preference, on a form provided by the 

Company. Shift assignments will be made on the basis of seniority 

and staffing needs.  The Company shall post shift assignments by 

the last week of October. Such shift assignments shall be effective 

the first full week of January.  An employee who has not completed 

a probationary period may be assigned to any shift.  Upon 

completion of the probationary period, the employee will be 

Exhibit 5

Exhibit 5

Case 2:19-cv-01727   Document 1-10   Filed 03/08/19   Page 208 of 321   Page ID #:308



  
 

70 

assigned to the shift which their seniority allows them to hold 

until the next shift preference selection period.   

 Emergency shift changes will be granted on a temporary case-

by-case basis provided the employee has the seniority to work on 

the shift requested and provided the reason for the shift change is 

acceptable to the Company. 

 (e)  Attemperation Work 

 Employees who are scheduled for attemperation work on a 

Saturday or holiday may be assigned additional special assignments 

and will be guaranteed at least five (5) hours work.  Employees who 

are scheduled for attemperation work on a Sunday may be assigned 

additional special assignments and will be guaranteed at least 

three and three-quarters (3-3/4) hours work.  Employees who are 

scheduled for attemperation will not be given special assignments 

which are normally assigned to other Brewers on a Saturday, Sunday 

or holiday. 

SECTION 29. TIME OF SHIFTS 

 There shall be no change in starting times or shifts for 

brewers during the regular workweek except in the event of a 

breakdown of equipment, illness or absenteeism.  All work performed 

before or after an employee's regular starting time or shift shall 

be paid for at the rate of time and one-half with the above 

mentioned exclusions, provided, however, that under any 

circumstances no employee shall be required to change shifts 

without a twelve (12) hour interval between the last shift worked 
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and the starting of a new shift except when a plant wide meeting is 

occurring which requires all to participate on a specific shift. 

Plant wide meetings shall be limited to twice per calendar year.  

Starting times and shifts may be advanced on Friday cleanup days or 

cleanup days prior to a holiday.  It shall be permissible to change 

the starting time and shift at the end of each workweek. 

SECTION 30.  WORK WITH FLAMMABLE MATERIALS 

 When employees are varnishing tanks or engaging in work with 

explosives or flammable materials within closed tanks, the 

employees doing this work must have an attendant on the outside of 

the tanks at all times and safety apparatus shall be inspected and 

placed in perfect condition before the employees go into the tank 

to perform the above work. 

SECTION 31.  VAT COATING WORK 

 Preparing for coating and coating of vats is to be considered 

brewers work when done by the breweries. 

SECTION 32.  PILING FULL HALF BARRELS 

 No employee shall pile full half-barrels two high unassisted. 

SECTION 33.  BOTTLERS 

(a)  Regular Workday and Workweek 

 The basic, normal or regular workday shall consist of seven 

and one-half (7-1/2) consecutive elapsed hours with a one-half hour 

meal period on employer's time, and five (5) consecutive days 

(respectively 37-1/2 hours) shall constitute the basic, normal or 

regular workweek.  The regular working day for the day crew shall 
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not commence before 7:00 a.m. and shall not continue after 4:30 

p.m.  There shall be two twenty (20) minute breaks on Company time.  

The first break shall be taken about the middle of the first half 

of the shift; and the second break shall be taken about the middle 

of the second half of the shift. 

 Bottlers may be scheduled to work an eight (8) hour shift, of 

which one-half hour will be paid at a rate of time-and-one-half, 

providing the employer posts this overtime for the entire week on 

the previous Thursday, noon. 

 If two crews are employed on one unit of machinery, the 

regular working day of the night crew shall be seven and one-half 

(7-1/2) hours, and, subject to provisions of Section 11(k), shall 

commence at the conclusion of the working day of the day crew 

providing that no overtime is worked.  It shall be optional, 

however, to arrange the hours of the night crew to the mutual 

satisfaction of the Company and the Local Union.  The regular 

workweek shall commence on Monday and shall end on Friday at the 

conclusion of the days' seven and one-half (7-1/2) hours.  All 

plants shall be permitted to work overtime whether operating steady 

or not.  Proprietors or supervisors shall have the right of 

determining the number of employees required to work such overtime, 

and all overtime shall be equally divided among employee bottlers.  

An employee cannot be required to take his meal period at any time 

other than at or about the middle of his shift. 

(b)  Pre-Shift Overtime 
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 It shall be permissible to schedule bottlers to work overtime 

prior to the start of their regular shift.  Bottlers who are 

scheduled for pre-shift overtime will be paid in accordance with 

Section 11(f).  Overtime prior to a shift will not be scheduled so 

as to establish a two-shift work schedule for bottlers. 

(c)  Bottlers Shift Selection 

 No later than October 1 of each year, all Bottlers that have 

completed their probationary period will be required to indicate 

their shift of preference, as well as their alternative shifts of 

preference, on a form provided by the Company.  Shift assignments 

will be by Business Unit and made on the basis of seniority and 

staffing needs.  The Company shall post shift assignments no later 

than the last week of October. Such shift assignments will commence 

no later than the first full week of January. 

 An employee who has not completed a probationary period may be 

assigned to any shift.  Upon completion of the probationary period, 

the employee will be assigned to the shift which their seniority 

allows them to hold until the next shift preference selection 

period. 

 Reassignments to other shifts based on staffing changes will 

be made on the basis of shift preference and seniority. 

 Emergency shift changes will be granted on a temporary case-

by-case basis, provided the employee has the seniority to work on 

the shift requested and provided the reason for the shift change is 

acceptable to the Company. 
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 Employees may be assigned to any shift for training purposes 

regardless of seniority. Such training lasting more than 10 weeks 

will be reviewed with the union. Eight of the ten weeks of training 

will be on the day shift. An employee will not be displaced from 

their shift as the result of another employees’ training 

assignment. 

(d)  Restriction on Layoff 

 Subject to Section 4(b) employees may be laid off at the end 

of any regular workweek.  The Company may utilize employees on 

crews on one production line on Wednesday, Thursday or Friday 

provided the employees on these crews work the rest of that week.  

All other employees called in on Wednesday, Thursday or Friday 

shall work the rest of that workweek and the following workweek.  

Extra employees may be hired or laid off at any time except for a 

fractional part of a day. 

SECTION 34.  USE OF BOTTLING MACHINERY DURING THE DAY SHIFT 

 (a)  The firms will operate all available lines of bottling 

machinery during the day shift before the establishment of night 

shifts, providing that where certain lines are incapable of filling 

particular types of bottles or containers or where because of 

superannuated equipment a material divergence of production would 

result, this provision shall not apply. 

 (b)  A departure from 34(a) can occur only when the Company 

schedules releases in excess of 59,000 barrels per week. 
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SECTION 35.  WEEKLY WAGE RATES  

1. The following wage rates shall be paid to Production employees 

hired prior to July 23, 2006: 

 Effective 

6/11/2018 

Effective 

6/10/2019 

Effective 

6/8/2020 

Permanent 

Brewers 

$31.70 $32.00 

($750 lump sum) 

$32.55 

Permanent 

Bottlers 

$31.58 $31.88 

($750 lump sum) 

$32.43 

Permanent 

Checkers 

$31.58 $31.88 

($750 lump sum) 

$32.43 

  

The following wage rates shall be paid to Production employees 

hired after July 23, 2006: 

Packaging Effective 

6/11/2018 

Effective 

6/10/2019 

Effective 

6/8/2020 

Operator 1 $26.06 $26.06 $26.31 

Operator 2 $31.58 $31.88 

($750 lump sum) 

$32.43 

 

Brewing Effective 

6/11/2018 

Effective 

6/10/2019 

Effective 

6/8/2020 

Operator 1 $26.18 $26.18 $26.43 

Operator 2 $31.70 $32 

($750 lump sum) 

$32.55 

 

Supply 

Chain/Stores 

Effective 

6/11/2018 

Effective 

6/10/2019 

Effective 

6/8/2020 

Operator 1 $26.06 $26.06 $26.31 

Operator 2 $31.58 $31.88 

($750 lump sum) 

$32.43 

 
 

 Employees assigned to a second shift operation shall receive 

twenty-five cents ($.25) an hour above their base hourly rate for 

time so worked.  Employees assigned to a third shift operation shall 

receive thirty-two cents ($.32) an hour above their base hourly rate 

for time so worked. 

 When a Production employee in Brewing and Packaging 

successfully completes probation, the employee will be considered 
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an Operator 1. When an Operator 1 employee successfully 

demonstrates the ability to perform levels of maintenance work 1-8, 

such employee will be considered an Operator 2.  

 When a Supply Chain employee successfully completes probation, 

the employee will be considered an Operator 1. When an Operator 1 

employee successfully demonstrates the ability perform 3 jobs, such 

employee will be considered an Operator 2. 

All training will be completed within a continuous 12 month 

period after the completion of the employee’s probationary period. 

If an employee at OP 1 who has completed probation and has sought 

out training (e.g. emails to L&D, to other responsible non-

bargaining unit employee, etc.) and not received the training 

within 12 months, they will be paid at an OP 2 rate after such 12 

month period. If an employee has not completed training due to 

their own issues (absences, leave of absence, failure to do 

necessary job assignments, requirements, etc.) this language shall 

not apply. 

2. All Operator 1 employees may request testing, and be tested at 

least once every six (6) months. 

 Probationary employees shall be paid four dollars and fifty 

cents ($4.50) less than regular rate for their position during the 

first ninety (90) calendar days of employment. For the remainder of 

their probationary period they will receive three dollars ($3.00) 

less than the regular rate for their position. 
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SECTION 36.  LAYOFFS AND BREAKDOWNS 

 Should dullness of trade necessitate a lay-off, the employees 

shall be laid off according to seniority, not less than one day at 

a time nor more than one day per week, except in case of breakdown.  

If a breakdown occurs in the forenoon, the employees shall work the 

morning out.  If a breakdown occurs in the afternoon, the employees 

shall work the day out.  All employees shall receive equal chances 

at any spare work performed on days that the shop is not bottling.  

However, it is permissible to rotate the employees irregularly in 

cases where special work is done for which certain employees are 

more adaptable. 

SECTION 37.  BOTTLERS' WORK 

 The loading and unloading of cars of beer and bottle house 

supplies on and adjacent to premises, and all work performed on 

same shall be considered bottlers' work.  Loose bottles in carload 

lots shall be crated and handled by bottlers, provided that such 

are spotted within two blocks of the bottle house. 

SECTION 38.  CHANGE OF SHIFTS 

 No employee shall be required to change shifts during the 

calendar workweek, unless such employee shall have had a period of 

at least twelve (12) hours between the conclusion of the last shift 

worked and the commencing of a new or different shift to which he 

may be assigned. No employee will be required to accept more than 

one change of shift in the same workweek so long as qualified 

employees are available. Provided, that for overtime work, any 
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employee available who has not worked the preceding twelve (12) 

hours may be used. It shall be permissible in any event to change 

the employee or employee shift at the end of each workweek. 

SECTION 39.  CHECKERS 

(a)  Regular Workday and Workweek 

 The basic, normal or regular workday shall consist of seven 

and one-half (7-1/2) consecutive elapsed hours with a one-half 

(1/2) hour meal period on the Company's time and five (5) 

consecutive days shall constitute the basic, normal or regular 

workweek.  Seven and one-half (7-1/2) elapsed consecutive hours, 

including a meal period on the Company's time of one-half (1/2) 

hour, shall constitute a regular day's work, and five (5) 

consecutive days of such seven and one-half (7-1/2) elapsed, 

consecutive hours shall constitute a week's work.  The regular 

workweek shall commence on Monday and shall end on Friday at the 

conclusion of the day's seven and one-half (7-1/2) hours.  An 

employee cannot be required to take his meal period at any time 

other than at or about the middle of his shift. 

 There shall be two fifteen (15) minute breaks on Company time.  

The first break shall be taken about the middle of the first half 

of the shift; and the second break shall be taken about the middle 

of the second half of the shift. 

(b)  Shift Starting Times 

 The regular day shall not commence before 6:00 a.m. and shall 

not continue after 4:30 p.m.  Any work performed before 6:00 a.m. 
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shall be paid for at the overtime rate.  The starting time of the 

first shift may not be later than 9:00 a.m., except where mutually 

satisfactory to the Company and Local Union.  A second shift may be 

started at any time between 3:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m. and work 

performed during such second shift shall be paid for at the second 

shift rate.  A third shift may be started not later than midnight 

and work performed on such third shift shall be paid for at the 

third shift rate.  There shall be no rotation of shifts for 

shipping and receiving clerks or checkers.  Plant seniority shall 

prevail in shift selection among permanent checkers subject to all 

shifts being staffed with employees of sufficient experience and 

skill and provided that the employee is qualified to perform 

available work on the shift of his preference.  Checkers' shifts 

may be temporarily changed whenever there are insufficient 

qualified employees as a result of emergencies, illness, 

absenteeism, vacations, or training requirements. 

(c)  Distribution of Overtime 

 The Company shall have the right to determine the number of 

employees to work overtime and overtime shall be divided among the 

employees as equally as possible.  However, it is permissible to 

rotate the employees irregularly in cases where special work is to 

be done for which certain employees are more adaptable. 

SECTION 40.  LAYOFF 

 (a)  Should a reduction in the working force become necessary, 

the employees shall be laid off impartially according to seniority; 
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it being understood that no employee shall be laid off for a 

fractional part of a week. 

 (b)  Subject to Section 4(b), any checker who was not hired as 

a temporary replacement for another employee may be laid off at the 

end of any regular workweek; provided that any such employee who 

was called in on Wednesday, Thursday or Friday shall work the rest 

of that week and the following workweek. 

SECTION 41. NON-DISCRIMINATION 

 Neither the Company nor the Union shall discriminate against 

any individual because of his race, color, religion, sex, national 

origin, age, handicap or veteran status with respect to opportunity 

for or tenure of employment, or with respect to any term or 

condition of employment or any other right, benefit, duty, or 

obligation created and/or protected by the provisions of this 

Agreement. 

SECTION 42.  TERM OF AGREEMENT 

The term of this Agreement shall be from June 11, 2018 to June 12, 

2021, and shall continue in effect thereafter from year to year 

unless either party hereto serves written notice on the other of 

its intention to change or terminate the Agreement at least sixty 

(60) days prior to June 12, 2021, or prior to June 12 of any 

subsequent anniversary date. Notice shall be given in case of 

employees by the Local Union to MillerCoors llc or in the case of 

MillerCoors llc to the Local Union. 
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24
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27

28

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

I am employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California.  I am over 
the age of eighteen years and not a party to the within action; my business address is 
1800 Century Park East, 8th Floor, Los Angeles, CA 90067. 

On March 8, 2019, I served the following document described as 
DECLARATION OF JAMES GRAHAM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT'S 
NOTICE OF REMOVAL on the interested parties in this action by placing true
copies thereof enclosed in sealed envelopes addressed as follows: 

SEE ATTACHED SERVICE LIST 

 BY MAIL:  I am “readily familiar” with the firm’s practice of collection and
processing correspondence for mailing with the United States Postal Service.
Under that practice, it would be deposited with the United States Postal Service
that same day in the ordinary course of business.  Such envelope(s) were
placed for collection and mailing with postage thereon fully prepaid at Los
Angeles, CA, on that same day following ordinary business practices.  (C.C.P.
§ 1013 (a) and 1013a(3))

 BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY:  I deposited such document(s) in a box or 
other facility regularly maintained by the overnight service carrier, or delivered 
such document(s) to a courier or driver authorized by the overnight service 
carrier to receive documents, in an envelope or package designated by the 
overnight service carrier with delivery fees paid or provided for, addressed to 
the person(s) served hereunder.  (C.C.P. § 1013(d)(e)) 

 BY PERSONAL SERVICE:  I caused such envelope(s) to be delivered the 
addressee(s).  (C.C.P. § 1011) 

I declare that I am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this Court 
at whose direction the service was made. 

Executed on March 8, 2019, at Los Angeles, CA. 

_____________________________________ 
Vaneta D. Birtha 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

1
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18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

SERVICE LIST 

DAVID YEREMIAN & ASSOCIATES, 
INC.  
David Yeremian, Esq. 
Alvin B. Lindsay, Esq. 
535 N. Brand Blvd., Suite 705  
Glendale, California 91203  

Email: david@yeremianlaw.com 
alvin@yeremianlaw.com 

Telephone:  (818) 230-8380  
Facsimile:   (818) 230-0308 

Attorneys for Plaintiff HENRY 
CARDIEL on behalf of himself 
and other similarly aggrieved 
employees 

LAW OFFICES OF SAHAG 
   MAJARIAN II  
Sahag Majarian, II, Esq. 
18250 Ventura Blvd.   
Tarzana, CA 91356  

Email: sahagii@aol.com 
Telephone:   (818) 609-0807 
Facsimile:    (818) 609-0892 

Attorneys for Plaintiff HENRY 
CARDIEL on behalf of himself 
and other similarly aggrieved 
employees 
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